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Introduction and Contents

Autolus Therapeutics plc (the “Company”, or “Parent Company”) is a public limited company incorporated under the
laws of England and Wales and is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“NASDAQ"). The Company is a “quoted
company” for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies Act”).

This document (the “Annual Report and Accounts”) is comprised of the reports and consolidated financial
statements listed below and the Annual Report on Form 20-F (the “Form 20-F”) filed with the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on 3 March 2020. For purposes of this Annual Report and Accounts, the
exhibits to the Form 20-F are not incorporated by reference.

On 25 April 2019, the Company changed its accounting reference date from 30 September to 31 December, thereby
extending the reporting period by three months. Due to this change in financial year end during the period, this
Annual Report and Accounts, which is the first following this change, covers a 15-month period beginning on 1
October 2018 and ending on 31 December 2019.

In this Annual Report and Accounts, unless the context otherwise indicates, references to the “Group”,

“Autolus”, “we”, “us” or “our” include the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
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Strategic Report

Strategic Review Note
The directors (“Directors”) present their strategic report on the affairs of the Group (the “Strategic Report”), together
with the financial statements for the 15-month period ended 31 December 2019.

Principal Activity

We are a biopharmaceutical company developing next generation programmed T cell therapies for the treatment of
cancer. Using our broad suite of proprietary and modular T cell programming technologies, we are engineering
precisely targeted, controlled and highly active T cell therapies that are designed to better recognise cancer cells,
break down their defence mechanisms and eliminate these cells. We believe our programmed T cell therapies have
the potential to be best-in-class and offer cancer patients substantial benefits over the existing standard of care,
including the potential for cure in some patients.

We are registered with the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales under number 11185179, and our
registered office is at Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, White City, London W12 7RZ, United Kingdom.

Development of the Group

Autolus Therapeutics plc is a public limited company under the laws of England and Wales, originally incorporated
under the laws of England and Wales in February 2018 as a private limited company called Autolus Therapeutics
Limited. Autolus Limited was originally incorporated under the laws of England and Wales in July 2014. Pursuant to
the terms of our corporate reorganisation, the shareholders of Autolus Limited exchanged each of the shares held
by them in Autolus Limited for the same number and class of newly issued shares of Autolus Therapeutics Limited
and, as a result, Autolus Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of Autolus Therapeutics Limited. On 18 June
2018, Autolus Therapeutics Limited re-registered as a public limited company and was renamed Autolus
Therapeutics plc. On 22 June 2018, our outstanding preferred and ordinary shares were converted into a single class
of ordinary shares and various classes of deferred shares, and we completed our initial public offering of American
Depositary Shares (“ADS’”), each representing one of our ordinary shares, on NASDAQ.

On 25 April 2019, the Company changed its accounting reference date from 30 September to 31 December, thereby
extending the reporting period by 3 months. Due to this change in financial year end during the period, this Annual
Report, which is the first following this change, covers a 15-month period beginning on 1 October 2018 and ending
on 31 December 2019.

The Company is not and has not been listed or had any securities listed in the U.K. or European Union. To meet US
reporting requirements, the Group, is required to file periodic reports, including an annual report on Form 20-F (“20-
F”) with the SEC. The financial statements included in the 20-F are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“US GAAP”). These US GAAP financial statements have a reporting currency
of U.S. Dollars.

To meet United Kingdom (“UK”) statutory reporting requirements, the Company is required to file this Annual Report
and Accounts with Companies House in the UK. The financial statements, which are included in this Annual Report
and Accounts, are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (“IFRS”) using the functional currency of Pounds Sterling. Due to the fact that much of the
information required for the 20-F, which is filed with the SEC, and Annual Report and Accounts are the same, where
the requirements of the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report in accordance with the Companies Act have been
met in the 20-F, details of this have been provided in tables and referenced to the 20-F accordingly. Additional



requirements which are not met by the 20-F have been disclosed separately in each of the sections of this Annual
Report and Accounts. The 20-F, which includes a full set of financial statements for the transition period of 1 October
2018 to 31 December 2018 and the period of 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, was filed with the SEC on 3
March 2020 and is included in Appendix 1.

The following table provides a guide to the 20-F content used for this report:

Required item in the Strategic
Report

Where the information can be found in the 20-F

A fair review of the Group’s
business, including the use of key
performance indicators (“KPI’s”)

Part I: Item 3A. Key Information
Part I: Item 4. Information on the Company
Part I: Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

The Company has not utilised traditional KPI’s as there were no
sales, out-licensing, or production of products in the 15-month
period ended 31 December 2019. The financial information
reported in our 20-F is prepared in accordance with US GAAP and
is the primary information reported to shareholders. Whilst
different to the audited financial information reported in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
included in this Annual Report and Accounts, we believe the
information to be helpful as the Board use the US GAAP
information when communicating with shareholders, other
stakeholders and the market generally

A description of the principal risks
and uncertainties

Part I: Iltem 3D. Risks, other than the further discussion on the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic included on page 8 below

Description of the Group’s strategy

Part I: Item 4B.Business overview, and in particular:
- Development Strategy for Adult ALL
- Development Strategy for Paediatric ALL
- Development Strategy for Adult DLBCL
- Development Strategy for AUTO4
- Clinical Development Strategy of AUTO6NG

Description of the Group’s business
model

Part I: Iltem 4B. Business Overview
Part I: Item 4C. Organization Structure

Main trends and factors likely to
affect future development,
performance and position of the
Group’s business

Part I: Item 3A. Selected Financial Data

Part I: Iltem 4B.Business Overview

Part I: ltem 5A. Operating Results

Part I: Item 5B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
See also the Financial review section below

Finance Review

See disclosure below

Corporate governance

Part I: Item 6C. Board Composition

Information on environmental,
diversity, equality, and human rights

See disclosures below

Principal risks and mitigations
related to COVID-19

See disclosures below

Financial review
Since our inception in July 2014, we have devoted substantially all our resources to conducting preclinical studies
and clinical trials, organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital and establishing our



intellectual property portfolio. We do not have any products approved for sale and have not generated any revenue
from product sales. We have funded our operations to date primarily with sales of our equity securities. As of 31
December 2019, we had received net proceeds of £338.4 million from sales of our equity securities, including a
follow-on raise on 15 April 2019 in which we closed an underwritten public offering of our ADS’ which resulted in
net proceeds after underwriting discounts of £83.1 million. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, on 27 January
2020, we closed an underwritten public offering of our ADS’ which resulted in net proceeds after underwriting
discounts of approximately £57.5 million. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we
obtain marketing approval for and commercialize one of our product candidates.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. For the 15-month period ended 31 December
2019 and the year ended 30 September 2018, we incurred net losses of £113.4 million, and £31.1 million,
respectively. As of 31 December 2019, we had retained earnings of £50.4 million, which is £171.7 million of
accumulated losses, offset by our capital reduction in June 2018 of £222.1 million.

Research and development expenses were £90.9 million for the 15-month period ended 31 December 2019 as
compared to £24.6 million for the year ended 30 September 2018, an increase of £66.3 million. The increase resulted
primarily from a higher share-based compensation expense of £14.4 million in the period ended 31 December 2019
compared with £2.3 million in the year ended 30 September 2018. The increase in the share-based compensation
was driven by increases in the value of the ADS’ underlying the share-based compensation awards when granted,
the number of awards granted, and the fact that the 2019 period includes fifteen months of expense versus the
twelve months of expense in the 2018 period. In addition, we incurred higher clinical study costs of £19.3 million
due to the number and size of clinical studies being performed in 2019 as compared to 2018. The remainder is due
to a combination of an increase in the number of research and development personnel and three months more
expense in the period ended 2019 versus that of 2018.

Administrative expenses were £41.3 million for the 15-month period ended 31 December 2019 as compared to £16.8
million for the year ended 30 September 2018, an increase of £24.5 million. The increase was largely attributable to
a higher share-based compensation expense in the period ended 31 December 2019 of £11.7 million compared with
£2.7 million in the year ended 30 September 2018. Similar to the increase in share-based compensation mentioned
in research and development expense above, the increase in the share-based compensation was driven by increases
in the value of the ADS’ underlying the share-based compensation awards when granted, the number of awards
granted in the period, and the fact that the 2019 period includes fifteen months of expense versus the twelve months
of expense in the 2018 period. There was also an increase in the number of administrative personnel in the period.

We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates
through preclinical and clinical development, seek regulatory approval and pursue commercialization of any
approved product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we
expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, marketing, sales and
distribution. In addition, we may incur expenses in connection with the in-license or acquisition of additional product
candidates. Furthermore, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur, additional costs associated with
operating as a public company, including significant legal, accounting, investor relations and other expenses that we
did not incur as a private company.

As a result, we will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth
strategy. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from product sales, if ever, we expect to finance
our operations through the sale of equity, debt financings or other capital sources, including potential collaborations
with other companies or other strategic transactions. We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such
other agreements or arrangements when needed on favourable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or enter
into such agreements as, and when, needed, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the



development and commercialization of one or more of our drug candidates or delay our pursuit of potential in-
licenses or acquisitions.

As of 31 December 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of £159.3 million. Subsequent to the balance sheet date,
on January 27, 2020, we also closed an underwritten public offering of our ADS’ which resulted in net proceeds after
underwriting discounts of approximately £57.5 million. Based on our current clinical development plans, we believe
our existing cash and cash equivalents will be able to fund our current and planned operating expenses and capital
expenditure requirements through at least the next 12 months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that
may prove to be wrong, and we could deplete our available capital resources sooner than we expect.

Corporate governance

The Board of Autolus Therapeutics plc is responsible for the Group’s corporate governance policies and recognises
the importance of this in sustaining and growing the business. The board is committed to listening to and
communicating openly with our shareholders to ensure our strategy and performance are clearly understood.
Understanding what investors and analysts think about us and helping them to understand our business is a key part
of driving our business forward.

Environmental matters

The Group leases all its facilities, manufactures its own products for clinical studies, and stores finished goods. The
Group also complies with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We take positive steps to reduce our
carbon footprint, where possible, and make efforts to be a responsible member of the communities in which we
work. For a full report on the carbon emissions for the Company please see Carbon Emissions in the Directors’
Report.

Diversity & Equality

Diversity and Inclusion is integral to our growth strategy and aligns with the Group’s values of integrity and respect.
The Company recognises that by valuing and promoting a culture of diversity and inclusion, as it enables employees
to contribute their unique perspectives and fully leverages their individual talents. This allows employees to fully
engage in their work and helps generate the innovative thinking that is needed for the Company to fulfil its mission.

The Company strives to ensure that we offer a great place to work, grow and succeed. We recognise that to attract
and retain talented colleagues we need to promote equal opportunity and a harmonious working environment.
Everyone working for the Company must observe and promote the group-wide diversity, equality and dignity at
work policy. The Company aims to enhance this culture by training in the principles of diversity and inclusion.

Appointments within the Group are made on merit according to the balance of skills and experience offered by
prospective candidates. Whilst acknowledging the benefits of diversity, individual appointments are made
irrespective of personal characteristics such as race, disability, gender, sexual orientation, religion or age.

A breakdown of the employment statistics as of 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Position Male Female Total

Non-executive Directors of the Company 4 2 6

Senior managers of the Group 21 6 27

All employees of the Group 124 141 265

Total Employees 149 149 298
Anti-bribery

The Company has made a commitment to carry out its business fairly, honestly and openly. Accordingly, our Anti-
Bribery Policy mandates zero tolerance of bribery or corruption by any Company personnel or intermediaries and
requires compliance with our various internal controls. We have established secure, anonymous means for our
employees to report actual or suspected violations of this important policy.
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Principal risks and mitigations related to COVID-19

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus disease 2019 or COVID-19,
surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread across the world to almost every country, including the
United Kingdom, the United States and many other European countries. Our company headquarters is located in
London, our U.S. headquarters is located in the Baltimore—Washington metropolitan area, and our CROs and CMOs
are located in the United States, the United Kingdom, and European Union. In March 2020, the World Health
Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The U.S. government also has imposed travel restrictions
on travel between the United States, United Kingdom and certain other countries.

In response to the spread of COVID-19 as well as public health directives and orders, we have implemented work-
from-home policies to support the community efforts to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 and protect
employees, complying with guidance from government authorities in the countries within which we operate. We
have implemented a number of measures to ensure employee safety and business continuity, including limiting
access to our laboratory and manufacturing facilities to only those individuals required to execute their job
responsibilities and restricted the number of staff working concurrently in any given laboratory.

Business travel has been suspended, and online and teleconference technology is used to meet virtually rather than
in person. We have taken measures to secure our research and development project activities while work in
laboratories continues, and laboratories and facilities have been organized to reduce risk of COVID-19 transmission

The key risks to the business during this pandemic include the following:

e delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in our clinical trials, including travel restrictions on patients and
constraints on the capacity of our clinical trial sites;

e delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in training clinical site investigators and
clinical site staff;

e delays or disruptions in non-clinical experiments and investigational new drug application-enabling good
laboratory practice standard toxicology studies due to unforeseen circumstances in supply chain;

e delays or disruptions in our ability to manufacture programmed T cell therapies due to supply chain
disruptions or lack of manufacturing staff;

e increased rates of patients withdrawing from our clinical trials following enrolment as a result of
contracting COVID-19, being forced to quarantine, or being unable to visit clinical trial locations;

e diversion or prioritization of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials and towards the
COVID-19 pandemic, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites and hospital staff
supporting the conduct of our clinical trials, particularly for clinical trials that require in-patient monitoring
following administration of the product candidate;

e delays or disruptions in the availability of clinical site staff, who, as healthcare providers, may have
heightened exposure to COVID-19, would adversely impact our clinical trial operations;

e interruption of our key clinical trial activities, such as clinical assessments at pre-specified timepoints
during the trial and clinical trial site data monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed or
recommended by governmental entities, employers and others or interruption of clinical trial subject
visits and study procedures (particularly any procedures that may be deemed non-essential), which may
impact the integrity of subject data and clinical study endpoints;

e interruption or delays in the operations of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, European Medicines
Agency and comparable foreign regulatory agencies or their refusal to accept data from clinical trials in
affected geographies, which may impact approval timelines;

e delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies
and contractors due to limitations in employee resources or forced furlough of government employees;

e limitations on employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our preclinical
studies and clinical trials, including because of sickness of employees or their families, the desire of



employees to avoid contact with large groups of people, an increased reliance on working from home or
mass transit disruptions; and

e reduced ability to engage with the medical and investor communities due to the cancellation of
conferences scheduled throughout the year.

We are currently conducting clinical trials in the United States and United Kingdom. Timely enrolment in our clinical
trials is dependent upon capacity at our clinical trial sites, some of which are currently adversely affected by COVID-
19. Due to the uneven geographic impact of the pandemic, these localized disruptions are difficult to predict.
Shutdowns or other restrictions related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases could impact personnel at third-
party manufacturing facilities, which, in turn, could impact the availability or the cost of materials and may disrupt
our supply chain. Additionally, many of our clinical trials involve immunocompromised patients who are at higher
risk for COVID-19 and who are therefore more likely to avoid hospitals or other high-risk areas.

The effects of the governmental restrictions and guidelines, and the measures we have implemented to comply
with them, may negatively impact productivity, disrupt our business and delay our clinical programs and timelines
(for example, our timelines for AUTO1 and AUTO3). The magnitude of these potential disruptions will depend, in
part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on our ability to conduct our business in
the ordinary course.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:

L VAR

-

R84S

Christian Itin — Director

Date: 14 May 2020
Registered Office Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, London W12 7RZ, United Kingdom




Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report for the 15-month period ended 31 December 2019 (the “Directors’ Report”).

Autolus Therapeutics plc is a public limited company under the laws of England and Wales, originally incorporated
under the laws of England and Wales in February 2018 as a private limited company called Autolus Therapeutics
Limited. Autolus Limited was originally incorporated under the laws of England and Wales in July 2014. Pursuant to
the terms of our corporate reorganisation, the shareholders of Autolus Limited exchanged each of the shares held
by them in Autolus Limited for the same number and class of newly issued shares of Autolus Therapeutics Limited
and, as a result, Autolus Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of Autolus Therapeutics Limited. On 18 June
2018, Autolus Therapeutics Limited re-registered as a public limited company and was renamed Autolus
Therapeutics plc. On 22 June 2018, our outstanding preferred and ordinary shares were converted into a single class
of ordinary shares and various classes of deferred shares, and we completed our initial public offering of ADS’, each
representing one of our ordinary shares, on NASDAQ.

On 25 April 2019, the Company changed its accounting reference date from 30 September to 31 December, thereby
extending the reporting period by 3 months. Due to this change in financial year end during the period, this Annual
Report, which is the first following this change, covers a 15-month period beginning on 1 October 2018 and ending
on 31 December 2019.

As noted under “Development of the Group” from within the Strategic Report, where the requirements of the
Directors’ Report in accordance with the Companies Act have been met in the 20-F, details of this have been provided
in tables and referenced to the 20-F accordingly. Additional requirements which are not met by the 20-F have been
disclosed separately in this Directors’ Report. The 20-F, which includes a full set of financial statements for the
transition period of 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018 and the period of 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019,
was filed with the SEC on 3 March 2020 and is included in Appendix 1.

The following table provides a guide to the 20-F content used for this report:

Company response and where the information can be found in the 20-F, as
applicable

Part I: Item 3A. Key Information

Part I: Item 4. Information on the Company

Part I: ltem 4B. Business Overview

Part I: Item 5A. Operating Results

Part I: Item 5B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Part I: Item 8. Dividend Policy

Not applicable — the Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend

Required item in the
Directors’ Report
Describe the principle
activities of the Group
Indication of likely future
developments of the
Group’s business

The amount (if any) of
recommended dividend

Indication of the Group’s
research and development
activities

Part I: Iltem 4B. Business overview

Part I: ltem 5A. Components of Our Results of Operations: Operating
Expenses — Research and Development Expenses

Part I: Item 5C. Research and development, patents and licenses, etc.

Disclosure on purchases of
own shares

Part Il: Item 17. Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity of the Company
Not applicable —there have been no purchases of own shares in the 15-
month period ended 31 December 2019.

Important post balance
sheet events requiring
disclosure

Part Il: Item 17 Note 13 Subsequent Events
See also note 23 to the financial statements
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Required item in the
Directors’ Report

Company response and where the information can be found in the 20-F, as
applicable

Particulars of any political
donations and political
expenditure

Not applicable — no political donations were made, and no political
expenditure was incurred, by the Group in the 15-month period ended 31
December 2019

Statements on any non-EU
political party contribution

Not applicable — no contributions were made to any non-EU political party by
the Group in the 15-month period ended 31 December 2019

The financial risk
management objectives
and policies for the Group,
including the policy for
hedging each major type of
forecasted transaction for
which hedge accounting is
used.

Part I: Item 5B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Part I: Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company does not hedge any type of forecasted transaction and does
not apply hedge accounting

Price risk exposure

Part I: Item 3. Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product
Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters — Our product candidates
are subject to government price controls in certain jurisdictions that may
affect our revenue

Part I: Item 3. Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product
Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters — Risks Related to
Ownership of Our Securities and Our Status as a Public Company

Part lll: Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements: Note 2. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies — Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Credit risk exposure

Part Ill: Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements: Note 2. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies — Concentration of Credit Risk
See also Note 21 to the financial statements

Liquidity risk exposure

Part I: Item 5B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Part Ill: Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements: Note 2. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

Exchange rate and cash
flow risk

Part I: Item 3D. Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Capital:
Exchange rate fluctuations may materially affect our results of operations and
financial condition.

Part I: Iltem 11. Foreign Exchange Currency Risk

Part Ill: Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements: Note 2. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies — Foreign Currency Translation

Branches outside the UK

Part I: Iltem 4C. Organizational Structure
The Company does not have any branches outside the UK.

Names of all directors

Part I: Item 6A. Directors and Senior Management
Also disclosed below

Going Concern

See disclosure below

The quantity of emissions of
carbon dioxide equivalent
from activities for which the
group is responsible

See disclosure below

Information about actions
taken during the year to
keep employees informed,
regularly consulted,
involved in performance

See disclosure below
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Required item in the Company response and where the information can be found in the 20-F, as
Directors’ Report applicable

through share schemes or
other means, and aware of
financial and economic
factors affecting the
company.

State how directors have See disclosure below
engaged with employees,
and the effect of their
regard for employee
interests on principal
decisions taken by the

company

Directors’ indemnities The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the
benefit of its Directors which remain in force at the date of this Directors’
Report.

Annual General Meeting The AGM will be held on 18 June 2020. Further details will be provided in due
course.

Disclosure of information to | See disclosure below
auditors and appointment
of auditors

Directors
The directors who served since incorporation, were as follows:

Christian Martin Itin Appointed 15 June 2018
Joseph Anderson Appointed 15" June 2018
Linda Catharina Bain Appointed 15 June 2018
John Berriman Appointed 15" June 2018
Cynthia Marie Butitta Appointed 15% June 2018
Kapil Dhingra Appointed 15% June 2018
Martin Patrick Murphy Appointed 14 June 2018
Matthias Alder Resigned 15" June 2018

Going Concern

At 31 December 2019 the Company has cash reserves of £159.3 (2018: £189.3m). The directors have prepared
budgets and forecasts assessing the required resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Based on the progress to date of research undertaken, the additional capital raise of net £57.5 million in
January 2020, the funds in hand and the level of expenditure committed to our planned R&D programme, the
Directors continue to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. We have assessed the planned
expenditure and expect our available cash to extend into the beginning of 2022.

Further, the Directors have conducted a full assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on the going concern status of
the Company. As the Company is pre-revenue, the economic impact of the pandemic does not have an effect on the
cash inflow or the cash reserves of the Company. It also does not negatively impact the cash outflows as the majority
of the cost base is fixed cost and the cash burn fairly consistent on a month to month basis.

Further details regarding the risks to the Company can be found in the Strategic Report (including the Finance Review
and Principal risks and mitigations relating to Covid19) and also in Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Carbon Emissions

This annual report for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019 is the first annual report in which the Company is
reporting its carbon emissions footprint. This is due to the fact that, at the time of reporting for the Company’s prior
year annual report for the 12 months ended 30 September 2018, Autolus had only been a public company for a
period of 3 months and was still developing a methodology and base for carbon emissions reporting.

Due to the change in the Company’s financial year end, the current reporting period is 15 months; accordingly, this
same period has been used to calculate the carbon emissions footprint described below. This first report will be the

basis of the Company’s reporting for future periods, as it continues to make steps in reducing its carbon footprint.

The carbon footprint for the Company for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Scope KgC0O2e % Total
Emissions
Scope 1 4,922 0.5%
Scope 2 94,400 9.4%
Scope 3 901,986 90.1%
Total 1,001,308 100%

For clarity, scope 1 emissions are direct emissions produced by the burning of fuels. Scope 2 emissions are indirect
emissions related to the generation of the electricity consumed and purchased by Autolus. Scope 3 emissions are
indirect emissions produced by Autolus activity, but these emissions are not owned or controlled by the Company.
For Autolus, the majority of scope 3 emissions relate to business travel.

The organisational footprint of the Company is calculated in accordance with the Green House Gas protocol for
corporate accounting using an organisational control approach. Scope 2 emissions are calculated using the location-
based methodology. Scope 3 emissions are calculated for Business Travel only, in accordance with the Green House
Gas protocol for corporate accounting using a distance-based method

Employee engagement, culture and values
A strong internal communications programme has been launched and will continue to be developed to support and
enhance employee engagement. This programme includes the following activities:

e Launch of company intranet

e Continued focus on CEO led employee meetings for managers
e Lunchand learns

e All company meetings

In order to support company growth globally, Autolus values and purpose were launched in October 2019. We have
embedded our values into several processes including talent acquisition, performance management and
development activities. We will continue to develop a link from our company values to employee recognition and
maximise employee engagement by setting up focus groups to assist in monitoring how our values are being
exhibited by our employees.
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Focus
Consistently delivering high quality with a sense of urgency

Respect
Treating people as individuals and valuing their contribution

Integrity

Operating by strong and moral ethical principles

Breakthrough

Generating cutting edge therapies that offer patients a longer, better future

The Company has set up various methods to positively engage with staff at all its locations, and employee surveys
have been introduced across some areas of the business to look at ways of working and optimising team building.
Further, the output from executive workshops will allow us to further drive leadership and accountability across our
organisation.

We are continuously promoting an open and transparent culture alongside an environment that is not only
welcoming, but also comprised of diverse teams and reflective of the global community. This year we have launched
our first employee led networking group which is called Diverse Individuals Celebrating Equality (D.I.C.E.).

The Company actively promotes benefits to our staff, including medical insurance and life assurance, and will
continue to develop our offerings to employees around health and wellbeing.

Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the
applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their
employment with the Group continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group that
the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical with that
of other employees.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have been reappointed as auditors for the 2019 financial year.
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Statement of Directors Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and the Group and Parent
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period. Under that law, the
Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
and elected to prepare the Parent company financial statements in accordance with the United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practise, including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland’ (UK Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under Company law the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable IFRS standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;

e for the Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Company financial
statements; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group and the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. The
Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing directors’ responsibilities may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report and Accounts confirms that: so
far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
the Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. This
confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies
Act.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

DocuSigned by:

L /]

-

B9IEIF D843

Christian Itin — Director

Date: 14 May 2020
Registered Office Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, London W12 7RZ, United Kingdom
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Annual Statement from the Chair of the Compensation Committee

Dear Shareholder,

As the Chair of the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”), | am pleased to present, on behalf of the board of
directors (the “Board”) of Autolus Therapeutics plc (the “Company” or “Autolus”), the Directors’ remuneration
report for the period ended 31 December 2019 (the “Directors’ Remuneration Report”). As a result of the change
of the Company’s financial year end from 30 September to 31 December, which occurred in 2019, the Directors’
Remuneration Report covers the 15-month period from 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2019.

The Company’s Annual Report and Accounts, along with the Directors’ Remuneration Report, will be subject to an
advisory vote at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 18 June 2020 (the “AGM”).

Introduction

During the period covered by this Directors’ Remuneration Report, we maintained the remuneration programs and
policies that the Committee established during the financial year 2018 and implemented strategic compensation
initiatives designed to incentivize and retain key employees in the Company.

As we move into 2020 and beyond, the Committee’s role will be to ensure that Directors and senior executives at
Autolus are appropriately compensated and incentivised to deliver growth to shareholders in a long-term and
sustainable manner. The Committee will seek to accomplish this by establishing remuneration programs that are
grounded in market practice, effective at driving proper executive behaviours, clearly link pay and performance and
are cost efficient overall. Key considerations guiding our Remuneration Policy are discussed further on page 19.

Corporate Governance Standards

As a public company, we are subject to corporate governance standards and regulations applicable in the United
States and the United Kingdom; however, the UK Corporate Governance Code does not apply to us because our
securities are listed solely on NASDAQ. For example, in order to conform to director independence standards
applicable in the United States, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) is the only executive director of
the Company, and we currently intend to add only non-executive directors to our Board. As such, the Directors’
Remuneration Report and the Remuneration Policy as they relate to executive directors address only the
compensation of our Chairman and CEO. Further, since the period covered by this Directors’ Remuneration Report
commenced on 1 October 2018, any recent changes to corporate governance and disclosure standards have not
been included in this Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The Global Marketplace for Talent

Autolus is a biopharmaceutical company with operations in Europe and the United States. The Company plans to
expand its operations in both geographic regions in line with the growth of its clinical and manufacturing activities
and its plans to commercialise its products in these geographies. Given that the market for experienced directors
and biopharmaceutical CEO talent, particularly in the United States, is very competitive, the Committee references
the US market as the leading indicator for remuneration levels and practices. This will help attract and retain
directors and motivate the superior CEO talent needed to successfully manage the Company’s complex global
operations. Being consistent in this market view of the United States as the primary benchmark for remuneration
practices for directors and the CEO (as our sole executive director) is key for the Company as it builds its global
operations in a manner designed to deliver sustainable long-term growth and shareholder value.

In light of the extensive benchmarking for director and executive director compensation conducted during the
preceding financial year, which included a review of compensation practices of comparable companies to Autolus in
the US and Europe, the Committee did not undertake an additional benchmarking review during the 2019 financial
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year, and referred to these earlier analyses in calibrating its decisions and recommendations with respect to director
and non-executive director compensation. In taking any actions, the Committee is mindful of the general UK
compensation framework, including investor bodies’ guidance, and the UK Corporate Governance Code, and has
incorporated these into its remuneration programs, policies and decisions where it believes they best serve the long-
term interests of shareholders.

Remuneration Program Highlights

While | recommend that you carefully read the disclosure on our programs and policies that follows this letter to
help with the understanding of our approach to director compensation, | want to highlight the following aspects of
our program below:

e Pay for Performance — We believe that a significant portion of remuneration of our directors and our CEO (as
our sole executive director) should be based on achieving objectives designed to create inherent value in the
Company, and ultimately on achieving value creation for our shareholders. In line with this belief, the
compensation of our CEO includes a significant performance-based cash bonus opportunity and a large equity
incentive component. Specifically, consistent with the benchmarking analysis referred to above, the CEQ’s
target bonus opportunity was increased from 50% to 60% effective as of the 2020 financial year. Further, our
directors receive equity incentives designed to reward long-term value creation for our shareholders.

e Shareholding requirements for Executive Directors — We believe having these requirements encourages
executive directors to build meaningful shareholding positions and furthers alignment of their interests with
those of shareholders. Executive directors are required to build and retain a shareholding equivalent to at least
200% of their salary within a period of five years following appointment.

e Recovery Policy — To further embed the linkage between pay and performance, any annual bonus and Equity
Incentive Plan awards for the CEO as our sole executive director are subject to recovery and withholding
provisions which permit the Board, in its discretion, to reduce the size of any awards in the event of a material
misstatement of financial results, a miscalculation or error in assessing the performance condition applying to
the award, or in the event of serious misconduct committed by the employee.

e 2019 Remuneration Outcome - As outlined above, a core principle in Autolus’ remuneration program is the
linkage between pay and performance. In financial year 2019, the annual bonus of Christian Itin, our CEO and
sole executive director, was based entirely on corporate objectives. At a meeting on 16 December 2019, the
Board determined that the Company achieved 62.5% of its annual corporate objectives, which resulted in a
total bonus pay out to the CEO of 31% of his base salary for financial year 2019. In addition, in December 2019
the Committee awarded Dr Itin a special discretionary bonus equal to 10% of his base salary in recognition of
the successful transition of ownership in a large block of the Company’s ordinary shares represented by ADS'.
These bonuses were paid in January 2020. This outcome was based on achievements versus goals in the
following key areas: Corporate/Financial, Clinical Development, Treatment Delivery, Pipeline and
Investor/Public Awareness. While achievement of some goals was above target, not all goals were achieved
in full, resulting in the overall below target outcome. Please see page 36 for additional details on this bonus
outcome and the pay for performance linkage.
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Conclusion

The Committee believes the proposals put forth in this report will properly motivate our directors and our CEO to
deliver sustainable growth and shareholder value over the long term and do so in a responsible and cost-efficient
manner.

| hope that you find the information in this report helpful, and look forward to the AGM, where we hope to have
your support.

Yours sincerely

DocuSigned by:

TG

1B93B86969B2403...

John Berriman
Chair of the Compensation Committee

14 May 2020
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Remuneration Policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the Remuneration Policy for the Company’s directors and
executive directors and has been prepared in accordance with the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013. The Remuneration Policy was approved by the
Shareholders at the AGM on 28 March 2019 and remains in effect from the date of approval for a period of three
years, or until a revised policy is approved by shareholders.

Key considerations when determining the Remuneration Policy

The Committee designed the Remuneration Policy with a number of specific objectives in mind. The Remuneration
Policy should:

e enable the Company to attract, retain and motivate high calibre directors and the CEO who is currently the
sole executive director, and focus them on the delivery of the Company's strategic and business objectives;

e encourage a corporate culture that promotes the highest level of integrity, teamwork and ethical standards;

e  be competitive against appropriate market benchmarks (being predominantly the US biotech sector) and
have a strong link to performance, providing the ability to earn above-market rewards for strong
performance;

e encourage equity ownership by directors and the CEO to motivate and align them with the overall interests
of shareholders and the Company;

e besimple and understandable, both internally and externally; and

e take due account of good governance and promote the long-term success of the Company.

In seeking to achieve the above objectives, the Committee is mindful of the views of a broad range of stakeholders
in the business and accordingly takes account of a number of factors when setting remuneration including: market
conditions; pay and benefits in relevant comparator organisations; terms and conditions of employment across the
Company; the Company's risk appetite; the expectations of institutional shareholders; and any specific feedback
received from shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Remuneration Policy applicable to executive directors is designed to provide the Committee with the
parameters within which to set the specific individual compensation during the upcoming 3-year period. In making
its decisions, the Committee will seek to apply a compensation philosophy that provides competitive compensation
and employment terms aligned with the 50" percentile of the Company’s peer group of similarly situated companies,
which is selected by the Committee annually based on a proposal from its independent compensation consultant.
The Committee may vary from this general philosophy where special circumstances apply or where recruitment or
retention of a particular executive director is required.
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Executive Director Remuneration Policy Table

The table below sets out, for each element of pay, a summary of how remuneration of executive directors is
structured and how it supports the Company’s strategy.

Executive Directors

Purpose and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance metrics

Base salary

To recruit and retain
executive directors of the
highest calibre who are
capable of delivering on
the Company's strategic
objectives, reflecting the
individual’s experience
and role within the
Company.

Base salary is designed to
provide an appropriate
level of fixed income to
avoid any over-reliance on
variable pay elements that
could encourage excessive
risk taking.

Salaries are normally
reviewed annually, and
changes are generally
effective from the start of
the Company’s financial
year.

The annual salary review
for executive directors
takes a number of factors
into consideration,
including:

business performance;
salary increases awarded
to the overall employee
population;

skills and experience of the
individual over time;
scope of the individual’s
responsibilities;

changes in the size and
complexity of the
Company;

market competitiveness
assessed by periodic
benchmarking; and

the underlying rate of
inflation.

Whilst there is no
prescribed formulaic
maximum, any increases
to base salary will take
into account prevailing
market and economic
conditions and the
approach to employee pay
throughout the
organisation.

Base salary increases are
awarded at the discretion
of the Committee based
on the factors outlined in
this table (see column
“Operation”).

Executive Directors'
performance is a factor
considered when
determining any base
salary increases.

Benefits

Reasonable benefits-in-
kind are provided to
support executive
directors in carrying out
their duties and assist with
retention and recruitment.

The Company aims to offer
benefits that are in line
with market practice.
The benefits currently
available to our executive
director includes death in
service insurance,
permanent health
insurance, an allowance
for health insurance, a
housing allowance and an
allowance for tax advice.

The value of each benefit
is not predetermined and
is typically based upon the
cost to the Company of
providing such benefit.

Not performance related.
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Executive Directors

Purpose and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance metrics

The Committee retains
discretion to offer the
following additional
benefits: life and disability
insurance, private medical
insurance, temporary
living and transportation
expenses, relocation
assistance, and tax
equalisation to allow
flexibility in employing a
foreign national, all with or
without tax gross-up.

Travel and any reasonable
business-related expenses
(including tax thereon)
may be reimbursed on a
gross—of-tax basis.

Executive Directors may
become eligible for other
benefits in the future
where the Committee
deems it appropriate.
Where additional benefits
are introduced for the
wider workforce,
executive directors may
participate on broadly
similar terms.

Pensions

The Company aims to
provide a contribution

towards life in retirement.

Executive Directors are
eligible to receive
employer contributions to
fulfil statutory pension
requirements or a salary
supplement in lieu of
pension benefits, or a
mixture of both.

Up to 10% of base salary.

Not performance related.

Annual bonus

The annual bonus scheme
rewards the achievement
of objectives that support
the Company's corporate
goals and delivery of the
business strategy in the
short term.

Bonuses are determined
based on measures,
targets and stretch targets
that are agreed by the
Committee at the start of
each financial year.
However, the Committee

The target bonus
opportunity for executive
directors ranging from
60% to 120% of salary,
with a maximum bonus
opportunity of up to 200%
of the target bonus based

Performance measures are
determined by the
Committee each year and
may vary to ensure that
they promote the
Company’s business
strategy and shareholder
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Executive Directors

Purpose and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance metrics

retains the discretion to
include achievements that
have not been established
as corporate goals at the
beginning of the year.

on achievement pre-
defined stretch targets.
However, for the 2020
financial year, no stretch
targets have been set.

value. The annual bonus
will be based on corporate
measures, including
financial and/or strategic
measures. Bonus
measures are reviewed
annually, and the
Committee has the
discretion to vary the mix
of measures or to
introduce new measures,
based on the strategic
focus of the Company at
that time. The Committee
may alter the bonus
outcome if it considers
that the level of pay-out is
inconsistent with overall
Company performance,
taking account of any
factors it considers
relevant. This will help
ensure that pay outs
reflect overall Company
performance during the
period. Bonus payments
are subject to recovery
and withholding
provisions.!

Equity Incentive Plan (EIP)

The EIP is designed to
incentivise the successful
execution of business
strategy over the longer
term, to provide long-term
retention, and to increase
alignment of interests with
shareholders.

The EIP facilitates share
ownership to provide
further alignment with
shareholders.

Awards will typically be
granted annually, in the
form of options, share
appreciation rights,
restricted shares/units or
performance shares/units
that normally vest over a
period of up to four years.
At the discretion of the
Committee, participants
may also be entitled to
receive the value of
dividends paid between
grant and vesting on
vested shares. The
payment may be in cash or

There is no maximum
opportunity under the EIP.
However, the Committee
will generally work within
the benchmarking
guidelines provided by our
compensation consultants.
We seek to establish
equity-based
remuneration competitive
to that offered by a set of
comparable companies
with whom we may
compete for executive
talent.

The Committee will select
the most appropriate form
of EIP award each year.
Awards are subject to
recovery and withholding
provisions.!

1 See 'Recovery and withholding' in the 'Notes to the Remuneration Policy Table' below for further detail.
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Executive Directors

Purpose and link to

Operation Maximum opportunit Performance metrics
strategy P PP v

shares and may assume
dividend reinvestment.
EIP awards are not subject
to any holding period.

All-employee share schemes

Encourages employee The Company may, from The schemes are subject Not performance related.
share ownership and time to time, operate tax- | to the limits set by HMRC.

therefore increases approved share plans

alignment of interests with| (such as HM Revenue &

shareholders. Customs (“HMRC”)-

approved Save As You Earn
Option Plan and Share
Incentive Plan) for which
executive directors would
be eligible on the same
basis as all other

employees.
Share ownership guidelines
Encourages executive Shares owned outright by | Executive Directors are Not performance related.
directors to build a the executive director or a | required to build and
meaningful shareholding | connected person are retain a shareholding
so as to further align their | included. Vested share equivalent to at least 200%
interests with those of awards and vested in-the- | of their salary within a
shareholders. money share option period of five years

awards are included ona | following appointment.
net of tax basis.

Notes to the Remuneration Policy Table

Legacy arrangements

For the duration of this Remuneration Policy, the Company will honour any commitments made in respect of current
or former Directors before the date on which either: (i) the Remuneration Policy becomes effective; or (ii) an
individual becomes a Director, even where not consistent with the Remuneration Policy set out in this report or
prevailing at the time such commitment is fulfilled. For the avoidance of doubt, all outstanding historic awards that
were granted in connection with, or prior to, listing remain eligible to vest based on their original or modified terms.

Recovery and withholding

Awards under the annual bonus and the EIP are subject to recovery and withholding provisions which permit the
Committee, in its discretion, to reduce the size (including to zero) of any future bonus or share award granted to the
executive director, to reduce the size (including to zero) of any granted but unvested share award, or to require the
executive director to make a cash payment to the Company. The circumstances in which the Company may apply
the recovery and withholding provisions are the discovery of a material misstatement of financial results, a
miscalculation or error in assessing the performance condition applying to the award, or in the event of serious
misconduct committed by the executive director.

In respect of cash bonus payments, the recovery and withholding provisions apply for one year from the date of

payment of the bonus (or, if later, the date of publication of the Company's financial results for the year following
the relevant year over which the bonus was earned).

23



In respect of share awards under the annual bonus plan and the EIP, recovery and withholding provisions apply up
until the first anniversary of the date on which the relevant award vests, although the Committee may extend this
period for a further two years if there is an ongoing investigation into the circumstances of any event that, if
determined to have occurred, would permit the Committee to operate the recovery and withholding provisions.

Performance conditions

The choice of annual bonus performance metrics reflects the Committee’s belief that any incentive-based
remuneration should be appropriately challenging and tied to the delivery of key financial and strategic targets
intended to ensure that executive directors are incentivised to deliver across a range of objectives for which they
are accountable. The Committee has retained some flexibility on the specific measures which will be used to ensure
that any measures are fully aligned with the strategic imperatives prevailing at the time they are set.

The targets for the bonus scheme for the forthcoming year will be set out in general terms, subject to limitations
with regards to commercial sensitivity. Additional details of the targets will be disclosed when they are no longer
considered to be commercially sensitive, usually following the end of the relevant financial year in the Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Where used, performance conditions applicable to EIP awards will be aligned with the Company’s objective of
delivering meaningful increases in long-term value to shareholders. Prior to each award, the Committee has
flexibility to select measures that are fully aligned with the strategy prevailing at the time awards are granted.

Notwithstanding this, the Committee would, if appropriate, seek to consult with major shareholders in advance of
any material change to the choice or weighting of performance measures.

The Committee will review the calibration of targets applicable to the annual bonus, and the EIP in years where
performance measures apply, annually to ensure they remain appropriate and sufficiently challenging, taking into
account the Company’s strategic objectives and the interests of shareholders.

Differences in remuneration policy between executive directors and other employees

The overall approach to reward for employees across the workforce is a key reference point when setting the
remuneration of the executive directors. When reviewing the salaries of the executive directors, the Committee pays
close attention to pay and employment conditions across the companies in our US and European peer groups.

The key difference between the remuneration of executive directors and that of our other employees is that, overall,
at senior levels, remuneration is increasingly long-term, and ‘at risk’ with an emphasis on performance-related pay
linked to business performance and share-based remuneration. This ensures that remuneration at senior levels will
increase or decrease in line with business performance and provides alignment between the interests of executive
directors, the Company and shareholders.

Commiittee discretion in operation of variable pay schemes

The Committee operates under the powers it has been delegated by the Board. In addition, it complies with rules
that are either subject to shareholder approval or by approval from the Board. These rules provide the Committee
with certain discretions which serve to ensure that the implementation of the Remuneration Policy is fair, both to
the individual director and to the shareholders. The Committee also has discretions to set components of
remuneration within a range, from time to time. The extent of such discretions is set out in the relevant rules,
the maximum opportunity or the performance metrics section of the policy table above. To ensure the efficient
administration of the variable incentive plans outlined above, the Committee will apply certain operational
discretions.

These include the following:

e selecting the participants in the plans;
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e determining the timing of grants of awards and/or payments;

e determining the quantum of awards and/or payments (within the limits set out in the policy table above);

e determining the choice (and adjustment) of performance measures and targets for each incentive plan in
accordance with the policy set out above and the rules of each plan;

e determining the extent of vesting based on the assessment of performance and discretion relating to
measurement of performance in certain events such as a change of control or reconstruction;

e determining whether awards would be granted over and/or satisfied with ordinary shares and/or ADS’
and/or cash;

o whether the “malus and clawback principles” shall be applied to any award in the relevant circumstances
and, if so, the extent to which it shall be applied;

e making the appropriate adjustments required in certain circumstances, for instance for changes in capital
structure;

e determining “good leaver” status for incentive plan purposes and applying the appropriate treatment; and

e undertaking the annual review of weighting of performance measures and setting targets for the annual
bonus plan and other incentive schemes, where applicable, from year to year.

If an event occurs which results in the annual bonus plan or EIP performance conditions and/or targets being deemed
no longer appropriate (e.g., material acquisition or divestment), the Committee will have the ability to make
appropriate adjustments to the measures and/or targets and alter weightings, provided that the revised conditions
are not materially less challenging that the original conditions. Any use of the above discretion would, where
relevant, be explained in the Annual Report on Remuneration and may, as appropriate, be the subject of consultation
with the Company's major shareholders.

Shareholder views

The Board is committed to dialogue with shareholders. The Committee will consider shareholder feedback received
following the AGM, as well as any additional feedback and guidance received from time to time. This feedback will
be considered by the Committee as it develops the Company’s remuneration framework and practices going
forward. Assisted by its independent adviser, the Committee also actively monitors developments in the
expectations of institutional investors and their representative bodies.

Employment conditions

The Committee is regularly updated throughout the year on pay and conditions applying to Company employees.
Where significant changes are proposed to employment conditions elsewhere in the Company, these are highlighted
for the attention of the Committee.

The Remuneration Policy for executive directors supports the business needs of the Company, ensuring it promotes
long-term success whilst enabling it to attract, retain and motivate executive directors of a high calibre. The
Committee consulted with members of senior management regarding the Remuneration Policy but did not seek
input from the larger employee base. The Committee is satisfied that the Remuneration Policy supports the
Company’s strategy of growing long-term shareholder value and appropriately balances fixed and variable
remuneration. With a high proportion of reward delivered in the form of equity, this ensures that executive directors
have a strong alignment with shareholders through the Company’s share price.

Other remuneration policies

Remuneration for new appointments

Where it is necessary to appoint or replace an executive director, the Committee’s approach when considering the
overall remuneration arrangements in the recruitment of a new executive director is to take account of the calibre,
expertise and responsibilities of the individual, his or her remuneration package in their prior role and the prevailing
market rate for similar roles. Remuneration will be in line with our policy and the Committee will not pay more than
is necessary for a successful recruitment.
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The remuneration package for a new executive director will be set in accordance with the terms of the Company’s
approved Remuneration Policy in force at the time of appointment. Further details are provided below:

Salary The Committee will set a base salary appropriate to the calibre, experience and
responsibilities of the new appointee. In arriving at a salary, the Committee may take into
account, amongst other things, the market rate for the role and internal relativities.

The Committee has the flexibility to set the salary of a new executive director at a lower
level initially, with a series of planned increases implemented over the following few years
to bring the salary to the desired positioning, subject to individual performance.

Benefits Benefits will be consistent with the principles of the Remuneration Policy. The Company
may award certain additional benefits and other allowances including, but not limited to,
those to assist with relocation support, temporary living and transportation expenses,
educational costs for children and tax equalisation to allow flexibility in employing a
foreign national.

Pension A maximum pension contribution of 10% consistent with the Remuneration Policy. For an

benefits internal appointment, his or her existing pension arrangements may continue to operate.
Any new executive director based outside the UK will be eligible to participate in pension
or pension allowance, insurance and other benefit programs in line with local practice.

Annual bonus The maximum bonus opportunity for new appointments is 200% of salary consistent with
the Remuneration Policy.

Equity Incentive No maximum opportunity for new executive director appointments.
Plan

Buy-out In addition to the above, the Committee may offer additional cash and/or share-based

awards elements in order to 'buy out' remuneration relinquished on leaving a former employer.

In the event that such a buy-out is necessary to secure the services of an executive director
then the structure of any award or payment will mirror, as far as is possible, the
arrangements in place at the incoming executive director’s previous employer, including
the vehicle, structure, vesting periods, expected value and performance conditions.

Any share awards made in this regard may have no performance conditions, or different
performance conditions, or a shorter vesting period compared to the Company’s existing
plans, as appropriate.

Shareholders will be informed of any buy-out arrangements at the time of the executive
director’s appointment.

Depending on the timing and responsibilities of the appointment, it may be necessary to set different annual
bonus/EIP performance measures and targets as applicable to other executive directors.

Service contracts and termination policy

The Company's policy on remuneration for executive directors who leave the Company is set out below. As a matter
of policy, Executive Directors should have contracts with an indefinite term providing for a maximum of up to 3
months’ notice. The Committee will exercise its discretion when determining amounts that should be paid to leavers,
taking into account the facts and circumstances of each case. Generally, in the event of termination, the executive
directors’ service contracts may provide for payment of basic salary and benefits over the notice period. The
Company may elect to make a payment in lieu of notice equivalent in value to basic salary for any unexpired portion
of the notice period.
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The service contracts of executive directors may include additional payments within the parameters outlined below.
In setting the specific terms for an executive director, the Committee will seek to apply a compensation philosophy
that provides competitive compensation and employment terms aligned with the 50th percentile of the Company’s
peer group of similarly situated companies, which is selected by the Committee annually based on a proposal from
its independent compensation consultant. The Committee may vary from this general philosophy where special

circumstances apply or where recruitment or retention of a particular executive director is required.

Termination without cause or for
cause by participant?!

Termination for cause!

Termination in connection with
change of control

Salary

A payment up to 18 months’
salary payable as a lump sum or
on a monthly basis.

No payment.

A payment up to 24 months’
salary payable as a lump sum or
on a monthly basis.

Annual bonus

A bonus up to one year’s target
bonus, or a higher bonus at the
discretion of the Committee,
payable as a lump sum oron a
monthly basis.

No bonus payable.

A bonus up to 24 months’ target
bonus, or a higher bonus at the
discretion of the Committee,
payable as a lump sum oron a
monthly basis.

Equity Incentive
Awards

Acceleration of vesting of up to
12 months is permissible;
however, awards may vest at the
normal time or be accelerated at
the Committee’s discretion, or to
the extent that any performance
conditions have been achieved.
The Committee has discretion to
determine that awards will vest
early, on the date of cessation.
Awards which are granted as
market value options or share
appreciation rights, and which
have vested may remain
exercisable for up to twelve

All outstanding awards, including
those which have vested but are
unexercised, will lapse
immediately upon cessation of
employment, unless the
Committee determines
otherwise.

Full vesting on termination
within 6 months prior to or 24
months after the date of Change
of Control.

Exceptionally, the Committee
may provide that, on the
occurrence of a Change of
Control, awards will: lapse in
full; vest in full (in cash, shares
or other property); be replaced
with other rights or property; or
be adjusted as to the number or
type of shares over which they
are granted.

months at the discretion of the
Committee or as prescribed in
the equity incentive plan or
employment agreement.

ICircumstances in which the executive director may be terminated for cause include failure to carry out employment duties or
lawful directions, criminal conviction, fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation, misconduct or breach of fiduciary duties or such
other circumstances as further described in the employment agreement. Circumstances in which the executive director may
terminate for cause include a unilateral reduction by the Company of the executive director’s salary or responsibilities, failure to
pay an earned bonus, and a material breach of the service agreement by the Company or such other circumstances as further
described in the employment agreement.

The Company is unequivocally against rewards for failure; the circumstances of any departure, including the
individual’s performance, would be taken into account in every case. Statutory redundancy payments may be made,
as appropriate. Service agreements may be terminated summarily without notice (or on shorter notice periods) and
without payment in lieu of notice in certain circumstances, such as gross misconduct or any other material breach
of the obligations under their employment agreement, or such other circumstances as further described in the
employment agreement. The Company may require the individual to work during their notice period or may place
them on garden leave during which they would be entitled to base salary and benefits.

Except in the case of gross misconduct or resignation, the Company may, at its absolute discretion, reimburse any
reasonable professional fees relating to the termination of employment and, where an executive director has been
required to relocate, pay reasonable repatriation costs, including possible tax exposure costs. This includes any
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statutory entitlements or sums to settle or compromise claims in connection with a termination (including, at the
discretion of the Committee, reimbursement for legal advice and provision of outplacement services).

Policy on external appointments

The Board believes that it may be beneficial to the Company for executive directors to hold non-executive
directorships outside the Company. Any such appointments are subject to approval by the Board and the executive
director may retain any fees received at the discretion of the Board. The Company’s sole executive director currently
serves as a non-executive director of Kymab Ltd., a privately held biopharmaceutical company.

Employment Terms and Remuneration Scenarios for Executive Directors

The Company’s CEO and currently its sole executive director has a rolling service agreement which may be
terminated in accordance with the terms set forth therein. The service agreement is available for inspection at the
Company’s registered office during normal business hours. The termination notice period is listed in the table below:

Name Date of Notice period
service
contract
Christian Itin, Ph.D. 2 June 2019 Three months either party

Upon termination by the Company without cause or by the executive director for cause, the executive director is
entitled to receive 12 months’ cash severance and a bonus pro-rated for the time served during the applicable
financial year. If such termination occurs during a period starting 3 months prior to a change of control of the
Company to 12 months after such change of control, the executive director is entitled to receive an additional 6
months’ cash severance.

The charts below show an estimate of the 2020 remuneration package for the Company’s CEO and sole executive
director, under three assumed performance scenarios, based upon the Remuneration Policy set out above.

The scenarios are defined as follows:

Below Target (comprising fixed pay only):

=  Base salary as at 1 January 2020: £401,700
= Benefits: estimated value of the various benefits

Target:
=  Fixed pay as set out above
= Assumes bonus pay-out for 2020 bonus for on-target performance (60% of salary)
Maximum:

=  Fixed pay as set out above
= Assumes maximum bonus pay-out for 2020 bonus, i.e. bonus of 60% of base salary payable for target
achievement
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The bar chart below does not include any value for equity-based award remuneration. We do not believe it is possible
to reasonably quantify the value that might result from outstanding options and other equity-based awards.

All amounts listed in GBP (£).

£700,000
£600,000
£500,000
£400,000
£300,000
£200,000
£100,000

£-

Below Target

Chief Executive Officer
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Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy Table

The table below sets out, for each element of pay, a summary of how remuneration

structured and how it supports the Company’s strategy.

Maximum

M Variable Remuneration

M Fixed Remuneration

of non-executive directors is

Non-Executive Directors

Purpose and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance metrics

Fees

To attract Non-Executive
Directors who have a
broad range of experience
and skills to provide
independent judgement
on issues of strategy,
performance, resources
and standards of conduct.

Non-Executive Directors
receive an annual retainer
paid in cash, comprising a
base fee plus additional
fees for additional
responsibilities, such as a
Committee Chairmanship
or membership and the
role of Lead Independent
Director or Chairperson.
These fees are determined
by the full Board of
Directors, upon
recommendation of the
Compensation Committee.
When reviewing fee levels,
account is taken of market
movements in fee levels,
Board committee

Actual fee levels are
disclosed in the annual
Directors’ Remuneration
Report for the relevant
financial year.

Not performance related.
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Non-Executive Directors

Purpose and link to
strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance metrics

responsibilities, ongoing
time commitments and
the general economic
environment.

In exceptional
circumstances, if there is a
temporary yet material
increase in the time
commitments for Non-
Executive Directors, the
Board may pay additional
fees to recognise that
additional workload.
Non-executive directors
ordinarily do not
participate in any pension,
bonus or performance-
based share incentive
plans. Travel,
accommodation and other
business-related expenses
incurred in carrying out
the role will be paid or
reimbursed by the
Company including, if
relevant, any gross-up for
tax.

Equity Incentive Awards

To facilitate share
ownership and provide
alignment with
shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors
may receive an equity
incentive award in the
form of options, share
appreciation rights,
restricted shares / units or
performance shares / units
or such other form
permitted in the EIP.

New Non-Executive
Directors receive an initial
equity incentive award
upon appointment or
election. In addition, Non-
Executive Directors receive
annual equity incentive
awards at the time of the
annual meeting.

There is no maximum
number of equity incentive
awards that may be
awarded to individuals
each year.

Not performance related.
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Non-Executive Directors

Purpose and link to

Operation Maximum opportunity Performance metrics
strategy

The initial equity award
normally vests over three
years. The annual equity
awards normally vest over
12 months.

The size of the equity
incentive awards is
determined by the full
Board of Directors, upon
recommendation of the
Committee.

When reviewing award
levels, account is taken of
market movements in
equity incentive awards,
Board committee
responsibilities, ongoing
time commitments and
the general economic
environment.

Non-Executive Directors’ terms of engagement

Each of the non-executive directors is engaged under a non-executive director appointment letter. The terms of
appointment for a non-executive director would be in accordance with the Remuneration Policy for non-executive
directors as set out in the policy table. Newly appointed non-executive directors would normally receive an initial
award of market value options, restricted stock units or similar securities on the date of election or appointment,
which will vest based on time only on a monthly basis over a three-year period from the date of grant. The amount
of such award is currently 25,000 ADS’, representing an equal number of ordinary shares; however, the Committee
may decide to grant a higher or lower amount as appropriate.

In any event, each appointment is terminable by either party on not less than 30 days’ written notice. Our Board is
classified, meaning that each of our Directors is designated to one of three classes and is elected to serve a three-
year term. Non-executive Directors are only entitled to fees accrued to the date of termination. The dates of
appointment of each of the non-executive Directors serving at 31 December 2019 are summarised in the table
below.
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Non-Executive Directors Date of contract or date of appointment

Joe Anderson, Ph.D. 15 June 2018
Linda Bain 15 June 2018
John Berriman 15 June 2018
Cynthia Butitta 15 June 2018
Kapil Dhingra, M.D. 15 June 2018

14 June 2018

Martin Murphy, Ph.D.

Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office
during normal business hours and will be available for inspection at the AGM.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with Part 3 of The Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013. The Annual Report
on Remuneration and the Annual Statement by the Chairman of the Committee will be put to a single advisory
shareholder vote at the AGM on 18 June 2020.

Compensation Committee
The current members of the Committee, who are all independent, are John Berriman (Chair), Cynthia M. Butitta and
Dr Martin Murphy.

Members of management, including the Chairman and CEO, and the Company Secretary, are invited to attend
meetings where appropriate. The Company Secretary acts as the secretary to the Committee. No Director or
employee is involved in any decisions and are not present for any discussions regarding their own remuneration.
No conflicts of interest have arisen during the period and none of the members of the Committee has any personal
financial interest in the matters discussed, other than as shareholders. The fees of the non-executive Directors are
approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Committee.

Meetings attendance (between 1 October 2018 and 31 December 2019)

Attendance
John Berriman 7 of 7
Cynthia M. Butitta 70of7
Martin Murphy, Ph.D. 70of7

Independent advisors

Wholly independent advice on director remuneration is received from the executive compensation practice of Aon
plc. Aon is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and is a signatory to its Code of Conduct. Following
a rigorous selection process, the Committee appointed Aon as its independent remuneration consultant, as
contemplated by the Committee charter. Aon advises the Committee on all aspects of director and senior executive
remuneration. During the period covered by this Directors’ Remuneration Report, Aon has advised the Committee
on the Company’s equity incentive program. During this period, fees charged by Aon for advice provided to the
Committee through 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately £150,000 (excluding VAT).

Activity in the period

The Committee’s principal function is to support the Company's strategy by ensuring that those individuals
responsible for delivering the strategy are appropriately incentivised and rewarded through the operation of the
Remuneration Policy. In determining the Remuneration Policy, and in constructing the remuneration arrangements
for directors, executive directors and senior employees, the Board, advised by the Committee, aims to provide
remuneration packages that are competitive and designed to attract, retain and motivate such individuals of the
highest calibre.

The Committee is responsible for and considered during the period:

e evaluating the efficacy of the Company’s Remuneration Policy and strategy;

e reviewing and determining remuneration to be paid to the Company’s executive directors, including setting
the Remuneration Policy;

e reviewing and making recommendations to the Board regarding remuneration for non-executive directors,
including the approval of the Non-Executive Director Compensation Policy;

e establishing the design and performance targets of all share incentive plans;

e assessing the appropriateness and subsequent achievement of the performance targets related incentive
plans;
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e preparing any report on executive remuneration required by the rules and regulations of the US SEC,
NASDAQ and as required under English law;

e reviewing, evaluating, and approving employment agreements, service contracts, severance agreements,
change-of-control protections, corporate performance goals and objectives, and other compensatory
arrangements of the executive officers and other senior management and adjusting remuneration, as
appropriate;

e evaluating and approving remuneration plans and programs and establishing equity remuneration policies;

e reviewing remuneration practices and trends to assess the adequacy and competitiveness of the executive
remuneration programs as compared to industry peers, and determining the appropriate levels and types
of remuneration to be paid;

e approving any loans by the Company to employees;

e reviewing and approving remuneration arrangements for any executive officer involving any subsidiary,
special purpose or similar entity, with consideration of the potential for conflicts of interest;

e reviewing the Company’s practices and policies of employee remuneration as they relate to risk
management and risk-taking incentives; and

e reviewing the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The Committee is formally constituted and operates on written terms of reference, which are available on the
Company's website, https://www.autolus.com/investor-relations/corporate-governance/documents-charters
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Single total figure of Directors’ remuneration — 15-month period ended 31 December 2019 (audited)

The total remuneration of the individual Directors who served during the 15-month period is shown below, along
with the comparative period ended 30 September 2018. Total remuneration is the sum of emoluments plus
company pension contributions.

Base salary Total
/fees Taxable Pension Bonus LTIP! Other remuneration
£ thousands Period Benefits
Executive Directors
Christian Itin, Ph.D. 2019 £487.5 - £2.0 £191.3 - £65.6 £746.5
2018 £309.0 - £4.6 £123.6 - - £437.2
Matthias Alder? 2018 £79.0 - - £24.6 - - £103.6
Non-Executive
Directors
Joe Anderson, Ph.D. 2019 £48.8 - - - - - £48.8
2018 £25.1 - - - - - £25.1
Linda Bain 2019 £55.5 - - - - - £55.5
2018 £10.5 = o o o o £10.5
John Berriman 2019 £63.8 - - - - £63.8
2018 £33.0% - - - - £33.0
Cynthia M. Butitta 2019 £50.6 - - - - - £50.6
2018 £10.2 = = = = = £10.2
Kapil Dhingra, M.D. 2019 £45.0 - - - - - £45.0
2018 £44.0* - - - - - £44.0
Martin Murphy, Ph.D. 2019 £43.1 - - - - - £43.1
2018 £22.1 = = = = - £22.1
Total 2019 £794.3 - £2.0 £191.3 - £65.6 £1,053.3
2018 £532.9 - £4.6 £148.2 - - £685.7

1 There were no performance obligations linked to the equity-based awards. The value of equity-based awards in the table is based on the market
value of underlying shares at the date of grant, less the applicable exercise price, which is nil because the exercise price is equal to the market
value of the underlying shares at the date of grant.

2 Mr. Alder was appointed as a director of Autolus Therapeutics Limited from incorporation on February 2, 2018 to June 15, 2018, the date of our
corporate reorganisation to Autolus Therapeutics plc. Mr. Alder is our Senior Vice President, Chief Business Officer and Company Secretary. Mr.
Alder’s remuneration is calculated and paid in US Dollars. For purposes of this table, Mr. Alder’s remuneration has been translated into pounds
sterling at the noon buying rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the last business day of our fiscal year ended 30 September 2018, of
£1.00 = $1.3053.

3 Includes fees in the amount of £22,500 paid to Mr. Berriman for services rendered to us prior to our initial public offering.

4Includes consulting fees in the amount of $46,000 that were accrued to Dr Dhingra for services rendered to us in 2014 - 2018.
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2019 Annual bonus (audited)

In 2019, the CEQ’s annual bonus was based entirely on corporate objectives. The outcomes were as follows:

Achievement
Objectives and Targets Achievement eV
Percentage
Corporate and Financial: Raising operating capital and systems readiness Target 25%
Partial, includi
Clinical Development: Progress of ongoing clinical studies artial, Inclucing 15%
stretch target

Treatment Delivery: Qualification of manufacturing for clinical supply; Partial, including 15%
establishment of vector supply stretch target ’
Pipeline: Trial initiation and candidate selection for next generation products Not achieved 0%
Investor & Public Awareness: Publications in peer reviewed journals At stretch target 7.5%

TOTAL 62.5%

The overall bonus outcome of 62.5% of target (out of a maximum of 150% including stretch target) resulted in a total
bonus pay out for the CEO of 32% of salary for the period between 1 October 2018 and 31 December 2019 (being
62.5% of his target bonus). In addition, in December 2019 the Committee awarded Dr Itin a special discretionary
bonus equal to 10% of his base salary in recognition of the successful transition of ownership in a large block of the
Company’s ADS’. These bonuses were paid in January 2020.

Long-term incentive plan
Awards vesting based on performance ending in the 15 months ended 31 December 2019 (audited)

There were no long-term incentive awards capable of vesting in relation to performance in the year.

Awards granted in the year
The CEO received awards of options during the 15-month period as set out below, each vesting based on continued
employment only. These awards vest 25% after one year, and in 36 equal monthly instalments thereafter.

Face value
Executive Form of Date of Number of | Exercise | at date of Fair value at
Director award grant awards price grant date of grant | Expiry date
Christian Itin, Fair 18 320,000 $30.29 $9,692,800 $6,204,736 18
Ph.D. market December December
value 2018 2028
options
Christian Itin, Fair 12 300,000 $13.00 $3,900,000 $2,599,778 12
Ph.D. market December December
value 2019 2029
options

Non-Executive Directors also received the following option awards during the 15-month period, each vesting based
on continued engagement only. These awards vest fully after one year, in 12 equal monthly instalments.
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Non-Executive Form of Date of LI Exercise ROUEIL Fair value at .
X of X at date of Expiry date
Director award grant price date of grant
awards grant

Joe Anderson, Fair market 28 25,000 $30.24 $756,000 $473,000 28 March

Ph.D. value March 2029
options 2019

Linda Bain Fair market 28 25,000 $30.24 $756,000 $473,000 28 March
value March 2029
options 2019

John Berriman Fair market 28 25,000 $30.24 $756,000 $473,000 28 March
value March 2029
options 2019

Cynthia M. Butitta | Fair market 28 25,000 $30.24 $756,000 $473,000 28 March
value March 2029
options 2019

Kapil Dhingra, Fair market 28 25,000 $30.24 $756,000 $473,000 28 March

M.D. value March 2029
options 2019

Martin Murphy, Fair market 28 25,000 $30.24 $756,000 $473,000 28 March

Ph.D. value March 2029
options 2019

The exercise price of all these options was the market value of our ADS’ at the date of grant.

Payments to former Directors and for loss of office (audited)
No payments were made to former directors of the Company or in relation to loss of office during the year.

External directorships

The CEO currently serves as a non-executive director for Kymab Ltd., a privately held biopharmaceutical company.

Statement of Directors’ shareholding and share interests (audited)

The share interests of each Director as at 31 December 2019 (together with interests held by his or her connected
persons) are set out in the table below. As a direct link between executive remuneration and the interests of
shareholders, the Committee has implemented shareholding guidelines for executive directors. The guidelines
require that executive directors build up and maintain an interest in the ordinary shares of the Company that is 200%

of their salary within five years from appointment.
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Shareholdings for Directors who have held office as of 31 December 2019 are set out in the table below, including
as a percentage of salary or fees.

Ordinary shares Options
Unvested Unvested
Beneficially owned Jnvested without Unvested with without with Current
ordinary shares as at  performance performance Vested but performance performance  shareholding Shareholding

31 December 2019 conditions conditions unexercised  conditions conditions (% of salary) -equirement met?
Executive Directors
Christian Itin, Ph.D. 2019 1,206,448 185,543 - 140,439 611,429 - 3502% Yes
Non-Executive Directors
Joe Anderson, Ph.D. 2019 3,388,617! - - 18,749 6,251 - n/a n/a
Linda Bain 2019 30,522 - - 30,522 25,875 - n/a n/a
John Berriman 2019 162,274 11,185 - 25,943 14,755 - n/a n/a
Cynthia Butitta 2019 39,353 - - 39,353 32,742 - n/a n/a
Kapil Dhingra, M.D. 2019 99,480 11,185 - 25,943 14,755 - n/a n/a
Martin Murphy, Ph.D. 2019 14,610,847° - - 18,749 6,251 - n/a n/a

1 The information shown is based, in part, upon disclosures filed on a Schedule 13D on July 7, 2018 by Arix Bioscience plc and Arix Bioscience Holdings Limited. Dr Anderson was
the chief executive officer of Arix Bioscience plc, the parent company of Arix Bioscience Holdings Limited. The number reported consists of (i) 18,749 ordinary shares underlying
options that are vested and exercisable as of 31 December 2019, and (ii) the following securities held by Arix Bioscience Holdings Limited: 2,736,535 ordinary shares and 633,333
ADS'. Investment and voting decisions with respect to these securities are made by Arix Bioscience Holdings Limited acting upon the recommendation of an investment

committee. The address for Arix Bioscience Holdings Limited is 20 Berkeley Square, London, W1J 6EQ, United Kingdom.

2 The information shown is based, in part, upon disclosures filed on a Schedule 13G/A on February 11, 2020 by Syncona Portfolio Limited. Dr Murphy is the chief executive officer
of Syncona Investment Management Limited. The number reported consists of (i) 18,749 ordinary shares underlying options that are vested and exercisable as of 31 December

2019, and (ii) the following securities held by Syncona Portfolio Limited: 12,180,333 ordinary shares and 3,775,401 ADS’. Syncona Portfolio Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary
of Syncona Holdings Limited, which, in turn, is a wholly controlled subsidiary of Syncona Limited, a publicly listed company. Each of Syncona Holdings Limited and
Syncona Limited may be deemed to have voting and dispositive power over the securities held by Syncona Portfolio Limited. Investment and voting decisions with respect
to these securities are made by Syncona Portfolio Limited acting upon the recommendation of an investment committee of Syncona Investment Management Limited, also a
subsidiary of Syncona Holdings Limited. The address for Syncona Portfolio Limited is Arnold House, St Julian's Avenue, St Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 3RD, Channel Islands. Dr
Murphy disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities referred to in clause (ii) above except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in such securities.
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Performance graph

The chart below shows the Company’s Total Shareholder Return performance compared with that of the NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index ("NBI") over the period from 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2019. The NBI has been chosen
as an appropriate comparator as it comprises similar companies to Autolus from the pharmaceuticals and
biotechnology sectors. TSR is defined as the return on investment obtained from holding a company’s shares over
a period. It includes dividends paid, the change in the capital value of the shares and any other payments made to
or by shareholders within the period.

180
160
140
120
100
80
60
40

20

> O 5 © © © © O O .9
YW WY WY WYy
\,\%Q \,\q’g N,\"’Q \,\,\9 \/\,@ \,\%Q '\,\"’Q N,\’LQ '\,\q’g

WA W QT QT A Y o)

AUTL XNBI

Aligning pay with performance
The total remuneration figure for the CEO since 1 October 2018 is shown in the table below, along with the value of
bonuses paid, and LTIP vesting, as a percentage of the maximum opportunity.

Period ended

CEO 2019
Total remuneration (£000) £746.5
Actual bonus (% of the maximum) 60%
LTIP vesting (% of the maximum) N/AL

(1) No performance-based long-term incentive awards were eligible to vest over the period. The CEO received awards of market-value options
in late 2018 and throughout 2019 which are eligible to vest in tranches starting from 1 year from grant date and onwards, however these are
subject to continued employment.

Percentage change in remuneration of the CEO

For the 15 months ended 31 December 2019, the base salary of the CEO was increased by 26.2% to GBP £390,000.
In addition, he was granted options at fair market value to acquire 620,000 ADS’. These options vest over a four-year
period, as follows: 25% after one year, and in 36 equal monthly instalments thereafter.
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Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below illustrates the Company’s expenditure on pay, in comparison to distributions to shareholders by
way of dividend payments.

12 months to 15 months to
30 September 2018 31 December 2019 % change
Distributions to shareholders £0 £0 0%
Total employee pay expenditure £15.7m £56.9m 262%

Statement of Implementation of Remuneration Policy in 2020

Annual base salary
For the 2020 financial year, the CEOQ’s salary is being increased by 3% as a cost-of-living adjustment.

Base salary 2019 Base salary 2020
(effective from 1 Jan 2020)

Executive Directors
Christian Itin, Ph.D. £390,000 £401,700

Benefits and pension
In April 2019, the CEO opted out of the pension contribution scheme. While the CEO has opted out of the scheme,
he remains eligible for 5% contribution under the terms of his contract.

Bonus

The 2020 annual bonus target opportunity for the CEO is 60% of his base salary. The executive director remuneration
policy would allow the Committee to provide the CEO with the opportunity to receive 200% of the target bonus
upon achievement of specified stretch targets. However, no stretch targets have been specified for the 2020 financial
year. Bonuses will be paid entirely in cash and will be based entirely on the achievement of corporate financial,
operational and strategic objectives.

Specific targets are commercially sensitive and therefore are not disclosed in advance. However, a general
description of the targets and performance against them will be disclosed in next year's Annual Report and Accounts.

Long-term incentive plan
In 15-month period ended 31 December 2019, the Committee granted an award of 620,000 market value options to
the CEO, which will vest 25% after one year and in 36 equal monthly instalments thereafter. Vesting of these awards

will be based on time only, subject to continued employment.

The Committee may consider other vehicles for the CEO under the EIP at a future date where appropriate.
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Non-Executive Directors’ fees
Non-Executive Directors will receive the following annual retainers for the 2020 financial year, which will be paid in

cash:

Base fee:

Board member £30,000
Additional fees:

Lead Independent Director / Chair! £12,000
Audit Committee Chair £12,000
Audit Committee member £6,000
Compensation Committee Chair £9,000
Compensation Committee member £4,500
Nomination & Corporate Governance Committee Chair £6,000
Nomination & Corporate Governance Committee member £3,000
Research & Development Committee Chair £12,000

1The CEO does not receive an additional fee for his role as Chairman in addition to his CEO salary.

An annual award of 12,500 fair market value stock options will be made to non-executive directors on the date of
the AGM. The Committee acknowledges that awards of stock options to non-executive directors is not in line with
UK practice. However, given the Company’s NASDAQ listing, the Committee believes it is necessary to attract and
retain the highest quality directors from the United States, UK and global markets. Non-executive directors will not
be eligible to participate in any performance-based incentive plans.

Each non-executive director will also be entitled to reimbursement of reasonable expenses.

On behalf of the Board,

DocuSigned by:

24

1B93B86969B2403...
John Berriman

Chair of the Compensation Committee

14 May 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Autolus Therapeutics plc
Opinion
In our opinion:

e Autolus Therapeutics plc’s group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2019 and of the group’s loss for the period then ended;

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union;

e the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Autolus Therapeutics plc which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019 Balance sheet as at 31 December 2019

Consolidated income statement for the 15 months ended 31 | Statement of changes in equity for the 15

December 2019 months ended 31 December 2019
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then Related notes 1 to 10 to the financial
ended statements including a summary of

significant accounting policies

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the period
then ended

Related notes 1 to 23 to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of the group and parent company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK,
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the I1SAs (UK) require us to report

to you where:

e the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

e the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast

significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are

authorised for issue.

Overview of our audit approach

Key audit e Risk of improper contract accounting resulting from inaccurate application of
matters accounting principles and completeness of R&D accruals.
e Risk of incorrect valuation due to discount rates used by management in the
calculation of the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets for transition accounting.
Audit scope e  We performed an audit of the complete financial information of the group,
covering 100% of group Operating costs and 100% of Total assets.
Materiality e  Overall group materiality of £1.79m which represents 2% of annualised operating

costs.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the
greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of
the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Risk of improper contract
accounting resulting from
inaccurate application of
accounting principles and
completeness of R&D accruals.

Refer to the Accounting Policies
(page 55); and Note 14 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements
(page 71).

During the period, the Company
entered into several new and
amended contracts. There is a risk
of improper management
accounting treatment for these
agreements.

Our principal audit procedures
included:

e We have reviewed
management’s contract
register and made
selections of significant new
and amended contracts for
testing

o We have reviewed the
signed agreements and
assessed management’s
accounting and position
papers for the agreements.

e We have selected a sample
of R&D expenses for
occurrence testing, with
amounts and other details
agreed back to supporting
documentation.

o We tested the completeness
of the expenses and
accruals recorded by testing
subsequent cash
disbursements and tracing
them to invoices or accruals
noting the applicable period
using a lower testing
threshold.

e We assessed the adequacy
of related disclosures in the
Group’s financial
statements.

We have concluded that the
accounting treatment and the
related disclosures are
appropriate.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations communicated
to the Audit Committee

Risk of incorrect valuation of
right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities due to the use of
incorrect incremental borrowing
rate on adoption of IFRS 16.

Refer to the Accounting Policies
(pages 56 to 57, and 61 to 63); and
Note 20 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (pages 78 to
79.)

The IFRS 16 leases standard is
effective for periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2019, but the
Company has chosen to early
adopt for the current 15-month
period (i.e. effective date of
October 1, 2018).

At the commencement date of the
lease, the Group recognises lease
liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. In
calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily
determinable. There is a risk of
errors in both the rate used in this
and in the calculation of the
liability.

Our principal audit procedures
included:

e We have reviewed
management’s technical
accounting paper, including
the proposed transition
approach.

e We have performed
substantive procedures to
test the completeness of the
population of new and
modified leases.

e We have recalculated the
adjustments for IFRS
purposes.

o With the assistance of the
EY Treasury team, we
assessed the validity of the
incremental borrowing rate
used by management in the
calculation of the lease
liabilities.

e We assessed the adequacy
of related disclosures in the
Group’s financial
statements.

We have concluded that the
adoption of the new IFRS 16
standard and the related

disclosures are appropriate.

In the prior year, our auditor’s report included a key audit matter in relation to the risk of misstatement in the

share-based payment expense. This was primarily concerned with the valuation of shares in the period prior to the

Company’s initial public offering (IPO). Given that the Company has since become listed, with share price
information publicly available, this risk is no longer considered relevant.

Our prior year auditor’s report also contained a key audit matter for the risk of error in accounting for the group

reorganisation completed during the year ended 30 September 2018. In the current period, this risk is not

applicable.

Emphasis of matter — Disclosure relating to the effects of COVID-19

We draw attention to Note 2 and Note 23 of the financial statements, which describe the economic and

operational disruption that the company may face as a result of COVID-19 pandemic. Any disruptions that do occur
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have the potential to impact supply chains, personnel for work, access to offices and laboratories, and progress
with clinical trials. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

An overview of the scope of our audit

Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine
our audit scope for each entity within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the group, changes in
the business environment and other factors such as local statutory reporting requirements when assessing the
level of work to be performed at each entity.

We performed audit procedures accounting for 100% (2018: 100%) of the Group’s operating costs and 100% (2018:
100%) of the Group’s Total assets. All audit procedures were undertaken by the central UK audit team.

Involvement with component teams
All audit work performed was undertaken by the Group audit team.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified
misstatements on the audit and in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for
determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £1.79m (2018: £0.78 m), which is 2% (2018: 2%) of annualised
operating costs given that the statutory accounts are for a 15-month period. We believe that operating costs
provides us with an appropriate basis upon which to set materiality, since the Group is in the development stage of
its life cycle and is investing in research and development, with no operating income to date.

We determined materiality for the Parent Company to be £2.28m (2018: £1.71m), which is 0.5% (2018: 0.5%) of
Total Assets. Materiality for the Parent Company is higher than for Group, due to the underlying basis on which it is
calculated. The Parent Company’s purpose is to raise funds to finance the Group’s operations, and therefore we
believe Equity is the most suitable basis on which to calculate materiality.

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds
materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our
judgement was that performance materiality was 50% (2018: 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £0.90m
(2018: £0.39m). We have set performance materiality at this percentage due to the rate of change in the business
and existence of audit differences in the previous year.

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of

£0.09m (2018: £0.04m), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that,
in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
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We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above
and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 3 to 41, other than
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e theinformation given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial period for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are
not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 15, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

47



In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

r{mf 2 ';é;_.,j) .”_Qa

David Hales (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Reading

15 May 2020

Notes:

1. The maintenance and integrity of the Autolus Therapeutics plc web site is the responsibility of the
directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they
were initially presented on the web site.

2. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019

Other operating income

Administrative expenses

Research & development expenses
Impairment of leasehold improvements

Operating Loss

Finance income

Finance expense

Loss before taxation

Tax

Loss for the year

Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share

Weighted average ordinary shares

Period Ended
2019

Note £'000

2,598
(41,295)
(90,977)

(3,184)

6 (132,858)

Year ended
2018

£'000

1,045
(16,845)
(24,638)

7,034
(1,705)

(40,438)

(127,529)

4,125
(13)

10 14,054

(113,475)

(36,326)

5 (2.63)
43,066

There was no other comprehensive income recognised in the year.

The notes on pages 53 to 81 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

All the activities of the Group are classed as continuing.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 10,673 9,295
Property, plant & equipment 12 20,417 9,219
Right-of-use assets 20 16,757 -
Deferred tax asset 309 -
48,156 18,514

Current assets
Other receivables 13 30,035 9,846
Cash and cash equivalents 19 159,263 189,296

189,298 199,142
Total assets 237,454 217,656
Non - current liabilities
Lease liability — Non-Current 20 (17,856) -

(17,856) -
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 (16,928) (12,517)
Lease liability — Current 20 (1,883) -
Net current assets 170,487 186,625
Net assets 200,787 205,139
Equity
Share capital 1 1
Deferred shares 88 88
Share premium account 200,518 117,485
Share based payment reserve 35,743 9,653
Merger Reserve (85,924) (85,924)
Retained earnings 50,361 163,836
Equity attributable to owners of the company 200,787 205,139

The notes on pages 53 to 81 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 May 2020. They
were signed on its behalf by

DocuSigned by:

ff L VAR

-

893C3ITFTD8F4 13

Christian Itin
Director

Date: 14 May 2020

Registered Office Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, London W12 7RZ, United Kingdom
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019

Loss for the year

Adjustments for:

Income tax credit

Depreciation of Property, plant & equipment
Amortisation of Right-of-use assets
Amortization of Intangibles

Finance income

Finance charge

Share based payment charge

Interest charged on Lease liabilities

Interest on Lease liabilities

Impairment of the GRID asset

Impairment of lease asset

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

(Increase) in receivables
Increase in payables
Cash used in operations

Income taxes received
Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Purchase of plant, property & equipment
Purchase of intangibles

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital
Issuance cost

Reduction in principal of Lease liability

Net cash from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The notes on pages 53 to 81 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Period Ended Year Ended
2019 2018
£000 £000
(113,475) (31,114)
(14,054) (5,212)
3,874 1,105
2,891 -
36 -
(7,034) (4,124)
166 12
26,090 5,027
1,537
(1,537) -
3,184 -
604 -
(97,718) (34,306)
(4,999) (3,231)
4,537 8,632
(98,180) (28,905)
- 3,058
(98,180) (25,847)
2,456 1,126
(18,255) (7,271)
(1,384) (1,500)
(17,183) (7,645)
83,147 128,703
(114) (11,218)
(482) -
82,551 117,485
(32,812) 83,993
189,296 102,319
2,779 2,984
159,263 189,296




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019

£'000

Balance at 30 September 2017

Loss for the year

Share for share exchange — remove old
Share for share exchange — new
Capital reduction

Share capital

IPO proceeds

Issuance costs

Share based payment expense

Balance at 30 September 2018

Loss for the year

Issuance of Ordinary shares
IPO proceeds

Issuance costs

Share based payment expense

Balance at 31 December 2019

Share Share Premium Deferred Merger Share Based Retained Total
Capital Account Shares Reserve Payment Reserve Earnings
£ £ £ £ £ £ £
1 136,308 4,626 (27,195) 113,741
(31,114) (31,114)
(1) (136,308) - - - - (136,309)
222,144 - 88 (85,924) - - 136,308
(222,145) - - - - 222,145 -
1 - - - - - 1
- 128,703 - - - - 128,703
- (11,218) - - - - (11,218)
- - - - 5,027 - 5,027
1 117,485 88 (85,924) 9,653 163,836 205,139
_ _ - - - (113,475) (113,475)
- 83,147 - - - - 83,147
- (114) - - - - (114)
- - - - 26,090 - 26,090
1 200,518 88 (85,924) 35,743 50,361 200,787

The notes on pages 53 to 81 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019

1. General overview
Autolus Therapeutics plcis a public company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of England and Wales.
The registered office is Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, London W12 7RZ, United Kingdom.

The consolidated financial statement of Autolus Therapeutics plc and the entities controlled by the Company (its
subsidiaries, collectively ‘Autolus’ or the ‘Group’) for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019 was approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 14 May 2020.

Autolus is a biopharmaceutical company developing next generation programmed T cell therapies for the
treatment of cancer. Using our broad suite of proprietary and modular T cell programming technologies, we are
engineering precisely targeted, controlled and highly active T cell therapies that are designed to better recognise
cancer cells, break down their defence mechanisms and eliminate these cells.

2. Basis of preparation
On the basis that the ‘Group’ was created via a corporate reorganisation carried out in multiple steps in June 2018,
including the creation of a new parent (the ‘Company’) the transaction is considered to be outside the scope of
IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and has been accounted for as a group reorganisation, whereby the carrying value
of the assets and liabilities of the combining entities are including at previous IFRS carrying values. The results and
cash flows of all the Group’s entities have been consolidated as if the transactions that gave rise to the formation
of the Group took place on 1 October 2016.

On 25 April 2019, the Company changed its accounting reference date from 30 September to 31 December,
thereby extending the reporting period by 3 months. Due to this change in financial year end during the period,
this these consolidated financial statements, which are the first following this change, covers a 15-month period
beginning on 1 October 2018 and ending on 31 December 2019.

The consolidated financial statements for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019 have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting
Standard Board (‘IASB’) and adopted by the European Union.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The presentation and
functional currency are the British Pound Sterling (£) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000),
except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. The
comparative information in the consolidated financial statements is as at and for the 12-month period ended 30
September 2018, due to the change in the financial year end as discussed above.

Going concern

At 31 December 2019 the Company has cash reserves of £159.3 (2018: £189.3m). The Directors have prepared
budgets and forecasts assessing the required resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Based on the progress to date of research undertaken, the additional capital raise of net £57.5 million in
January 2020, the funds in hand and the level of expenditure committed to our planned R&D programme, the
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Directors continue to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. We have assessed the planned
expenditure and expect our available cash to extend into the beginning of 2022.

Further, the Directors have conducted a full assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on the going concern status of
the Company. As the Company is pre-revenue the economic impact of the pandemic does not have an effect on
the cash inflow or the cash reserves of the Company. It also does not negatively impact the cash outflows as the
majority of the cost base is fixed cost and the cash burn fairly consistent on a month to month basis.

Further details regarding the risks to the Company can be found in the Strategic Report (including the Finance
Review and Principal risks and mitigations relating to Covid19) and also in Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as
at and for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

e Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee)

e  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

e The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

e The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
e  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
e The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group. When
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including any goodwill), liabilities,
non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Significant accounting policies
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The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

Revenue from contracts with customers
As the Company is in the research and development phase, there have been no sales and therefore no revenue
from contracts with customers. Revenue will be recognised, once sales commence, in line with IFRS rules.

Research & Development Costs

Research expenditure is written off to the profit and loss account in the period in which it is incurred. Research
and development expenses consist of costs incurred in performing research and development

activities, including salaries, share-based compensation and benefits, depreciation expense, external costs of
outside vendors engaged to conduct clinical development activities, clinical trials, costs to manufacture clinical
trial materials and certain tax credits associated with research and development activities.

Development expenditure is written off in the same period unless the directors are satisfied as to the technical,
commercial and financial viability of individual projects. In this situation, the expenditure is capitalised and
amortised over the period from which the Company is expected to benefit.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

As part of the process of preparing consolidated financial statements, the Company is required to estimate
accruals for research and development expenses. This process involves reviewing and identifying services which
have been performed by third parties on the Company’s behalf and determining the value of these services. In
addition, the Company makes estimates of costs incurred to date but not yet invoiced, in relation to external
Clinical Research Organizations and clinical site costs. The Company analyses the progress of clinical trials,
including levels of patient enrolment, invoices received, and contracted costs when evaluating the adequacy of
the accrued liabilities for research and development. The Company makes judgments and estimates in
determining the accrued balance in any accounting period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers cash and cash equivalents to include cash at banks with a maturity of less than three
months, which is subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Restricted Cash

The Company entered into a lease that requires a letter of credit supported by £0.5 million deposit held by the
Company's bank for the duration of the lease and a credit card arrangement that requires a security deposit of
£0.1 million. The Company includes the restricted cash balance in cash and cash equivalents, and when reconciling
beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the Company's consolidated statements of cash
flows.

Property plant and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. As at 31 December 2019 and 30 September 2018, the
Company’s property and equipment consisted of office equipment, lab equipment, furniture and fixtures, and
leasehold improvements with the following economic useful lives:

Office equipment - 3 years

Laboratory equipment - 5vyears

Prodigy machines - 10 years

Furniture and fixtures - 5 years

Leasehold improvements - Over the shorter of term of the lease or economic useful life
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Assets under construction consist of costs incurred with leasehold improvements and, once placed into service,
will be depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the economic useful life of the asset.

Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of, and the related accumulated depreciation, are removed
from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the consolidated income statement.

Repairs and maintenance expenditures, which are not considered improvements and do not extend the economic
useful life of property and equipment, are expensed as incurred.

The Company routinely evaluates the residual values, useful lives and methods attributed to its assets. During
the second quarter of 2019, the Company determined that the useful lives of certain lab equipment should be
increased from five to ten years based on the expectation of usability. The company accounted for this change in
estimate prospectively from April 2019. This change in estimated useful life resulted in a reduction of
depreciation expense of £0.2 million.

Leases
Due to the adoption of IFRS 16 in the current year, the lease policy for leases presented as at and for the period
ended 30 September 2018 was the following:

The controlling department reviews all new supplier contracts to capture any embedded leases and also concludes
on the accounting treatment of all large leases. As per IFRIC 4 under IAS 17, determining whether an arrangement
is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether:

e Fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets
e The arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Although a specific asset may be explicitly identified in an arrangement, it is not the subject of a lease if fulfiiment
of the arrangement is not dependent on the use of the specified asset. An arrangement conveys the right to use
the asset if the arrangement conveys to the purchaser (lessee) the right to control the use of the underlying asset.
Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term, even if the payments are
not made on such a basis. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operating lease are similarly
spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease policy for leases presented after 1 October 2018, the date of adoption of IFRS 16, is the following:

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises Right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of Right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
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If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The Right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office and lab equipment
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Internally
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related
expenditure is reflected in the profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the economic useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Any changes that are expected
in the useful life of these assets are considered to modify the amortisation period or method and are treated as
changes in accounting estimates.

Where a finite useful life of the acquired asset cannot be determined, or the intangible asset is not yet available
for use, the assets are not amortised, but instead tested each year end for impairment either individually or by
allocating the assets to the cash-generating units to which they relate. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable.

The Group’s intangible assets consist of separately acquired licences and software. Amortisation commences for
separately acquired licences when the product candidates underpinned by the intellectual property rights become
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available for commercial use. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the remaining
useful life of the intellectual property or estimated sales life of the product candidates. No amortisation has been
charged to date for the Group’s purchased licences, as the product candidates underpinned by the intellectual
property rights are not yet available for commercial use.

The Group’s software is recorded at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of 3 years.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e. the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the statement of profit or loss.

Patents and Trademarks

Patents, licences and trademarks are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-lined
basis over their estimated economic useful lives. Due to the early stage of the programmes the patents and
trademarks, including patent application costs have been expensed to research and development.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated at less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation reserve.

Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when the group becomes
party to the contractual provisions of an instrument.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCl), and fair value through profit and loss. The classification of financial
assets at initial recognition depends on the financial assets contractual cash flow characteristics. The Group does
not currently have any financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss or assets classified at fair
value through OCI.
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Financial assets at amortized cost are financial assets held within a business model aimed at holding the assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows. The dates for these cash flows comprise solely payments of principle and
interest. Assets measured at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. For receivables the value on transaction date is deemed to be equal to fair value. The short-
term nature of the Group’s receivables, which are solely research and development tax credit receivable and grant
income receivable, are collected within 12 months, are short term in nature, do not accrue any interest
contractually, and do not subject the Group to credit risk.

Interest income recognised in the consolidated Income Statement, has been recognised as received from financial
institutions which hold the Group’s cash deposits.

Financial assets of the Group that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents.
The Group does not hold any debt securities, loans or trade receivables.

Expected credit losses under IFRS 9 have not been recognised. This is due to the fact that the receivables of the
Group consist of cash flows receivable from government institutions. These receivables which are financial assets
measured at amortised cost have a low risk of default and a strong capacity to meet the expected cash flows.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Group
has transferred rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has transferred either all the risks and rewards of
the asset associated with the asset or control of the asset.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an

approximation of the original effective interest rate.

As stated in the financial instruments policy above the Group’s financial assets do not include any debt instruments
or trade receivables, and all cash held is held with banks on short term deposit only with reputable banking
institutions, therefore the Group has not recognised any ECLs over our financial assets in the 15 months ended 31
December 2019.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Foreign Currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated into sterling using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling using the exchange rate at the date of the

transaction. Exchange gains are recognised in Finance Income and exchange losses are recognised in Finance
Expense in the consolidated income statement.
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Employee benefits

Autolus has a defined contribution pension plan for all employees. Certain employees are entitled to participate
in other benefits which include healthcare insurance and bonus schemes. Costs of these benefits are recognised
when incurred.

Grant income
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the
conditions of the grants and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Company
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Grant income is
recognised gross in the income statement as other operating income.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, and include R&D tax credits receivable under the HM Revenue and Customs (“HMRC")
small or medium enterprise (“SME”) scheme, which provides additional taxation relief for qualifying expenditure
on R&D activities, and allows for the surrender of tax losses in exchange for a cash payment from HMRC.

Income tax credit

The Company benefits from the U.K. research and development tax credit regime under both the small and
medium sized enterprise, or SME, scheme and by claiming a Research and Development Expenditure Credit
(“RDEC”) in respect of grant funded projects. Under the SME regime, a portion of the Company’s losses can be
surrendered for a cash rebate of up to 33.35 % of eligible expenditures. Such credits are accounted for within the
tax provision in the year in which the expenditures were incurred.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the year when the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period.

Share based payments

The Company recognises compensation expense for equity awards based on the grant date fair value of the
award. The Company recognises share-based compensation expense for awards granted to employees that have
a graded vesting schedule based on a service condition only on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period for each separately vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in substance, multiple awards (the
“graded-vesting attribution method”), based on the estimated grant date fair value for each separately vesting
tranche. For equity awards with a graded vesting schedule and a combination of service and performance
conditions, the Company recognises share-based compensation expense using a graded-vesting attribution
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method over the requisite service period when the achievement of a performance-based milestone is probable,
based on the relative satisfaction of the performance condition as of the reporting date. For share-based awards
granted to consultants and non-employees, compensation expense is recognised using the graded-vesting
attribution method over the period during which services are rendered by such consultants and non-employees
until completed. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to completion of the service, the fair value
of these awards is remeasured using the then-current fair value of the Company’s ordinary shares. The Company
accounts for forfeitures as they occur. Forfeitures to date have been infrequent and immaterial.

The fair value of each share option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. See Note 3 for the Company’s assumptions used in connection with option grants made during the periods
covered by the consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the IPO, the Company’s valuations of ordinary shares were prepared using a market approach, based on
precedent transactions in the Company’s ordinary shares, to estimate the Company’s total equity value using
the option-pricing method (“OPM”), which used a combination of market approaches and an income approach
to estimate the Company’s enterprise value.

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Group applied IFRS 15, IFRS 9, and IFRS 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as
a result of adoption of these new accounting standards are described below.

IFRS 15

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations and it applies,
with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with its customers. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognised at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The group has applied IFRS 15, however, since the Company is does not have
any contracts with customers at this stage of development, the application of the new standard had no impact
on the financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments: classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 in full without restating comparatives with an initial date of application of 1 January
2018. Management has determined that the impact on the Group in relation to the application of this policy is
not material.

The new policies adopted as part of the application of the new standard can be found in the pages above in Note
2 under the subheading Financial Instruments.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,

SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet.

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 does not
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have an impact for leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 October 2018, which is an early adoption of the standard allowed for Companies that have
already adopted IFRS 15. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at 1 October 2018. Instead,
the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at 1 October 2018 increase/(decrease) is, as follows:

Assets £'000
Right-of-use assets 5,046
Prepaids (175)
Liabilities

Lease liabilities 4,997
Deferred rent (126)
Total adjustment on Profit & Loss

Profit and loss -

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant, machinery, vehicles and other equipment. Before the
adoption of IFRS 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as either a finance
lease or an operating lease. Refer to Note 2 Leases for the accounting policy beginning 1 October 2018. The
standard provides specific transition requirements and practical expedients, which have been applied by the

Group.

>

Leases previously classified as finance leases:

The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts of recognised assets and liabilities at the date of
initial application for leases previously classified as finance leases (i.e., the Right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities equal the lease assets and liabilities recognised under IAS 17). The requirements of IFRS 16
were applied to these leases from 1 October 2018.

Leases previously accounted for as operating leases:

The Group recognised Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as
operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Right-of-use assets
for most leases were recognised based on the carrying amount as if the standard had always been
applied, apart from the use of incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. In some
leases, the Right-of-use assets were recognised based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognised. Lease liabilities
were recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

The Group also applied the available practical expedients wherein it:

>
>
>

Used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application
Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 months of the
date of initial application

Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the Right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application

Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or
terminate the lease
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Based on the above, as at 1 October 2018:

» Right-of-use assets of £5,046,246 were recognised and presented separately in the consolidated balance
sheet. All leases from prior years were classified as operating therefore no entries for reclassification
have been made.

» Additional lease liabilities of £4,997,080 were recognised.

» Prepayments of £175,303 and trade and Deferred Rent of £126,136 related to previous operating leases
were derecognised.

The lease liabilities as at 1 October 2018 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of
30 September 2018, as follows:

Assets £000
Operating lease commitments as at 30 September 2018 5,455
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate 6.6%
Discounted operating lease commitments at 1 October 2018 5,005
Less:

Commitments relating to short-term leases (8)
Commitments related to leases of low value -
Add:

Lease payments relating to renewal periods not included in the operating -
lease commitments at 30 September 2018
Lease liabilities as at 1 October 2018 4,997

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant, machinery and other equipment used in its operations.
Leases of plant and machinery generally have lease terms between 7 and 15 years, while other equipment
generally have lease terms between more than 1 year to 5 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are
secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets.

There is one contract which requires the group to assert the break clause either to terminate the lease or to
allow it to sub lease the plant to a 3" Party. This is discussed further in Note 20 in relation to the GRID project.

The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office
equipment with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition
exemptions for these leases.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation and uncertainty

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Group reorganisation

The Company is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales. On 15 June 2018,
the Company completed the first step of a corporate reorganisation, pursuant to which the shareholders of
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Autolus Limited, a private company originally incorporated under the laws of England and Wales in July 2014 as
NewlncCo 1311 Limited which subsequently changed its name to Autolus Limited in August 2014, exchanged each
of the different classes of shares held by them in Autolus Limited for the same number and class of newly issued
ordinary shares of Autolus Therapeutics Limited. As a result, Autolus Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary
of Autolus Therapeutics Limited, a holding company incorporated in February 2018 with nominal assets and
liabilities, which has not conducted any operations prior to the share exchange and other actions incidental to the
exchange and its incorporation.

The transaction is considered to be outside the scope of IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and has been accounted
for as a group reorganisation, whereby the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of the combining entities are
included at previous IFRS carrying values.

Share based payments

See note 18 for the Company’s assumptions used in connection with option grants made during the periods
covered by these financial statements. Assumptions used in the option pricing model which have the greatest
impact on the fair value include the following:

» Expected volatility: The Company lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information for its
ADS’. Therefore, the Company estimates the expected share volatility based on the historical volatility of
publicly traded peer companies and expects to continue to do so until such time as it has adequate historical
data regarding the volatility of its own traded share price.

> Expected term. The expected term of the Company’s share options has been determined utilising the
“simplified” method for awards that qualify as “plain-vanilla” options.

» Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve
in effect at the time of grant of the award for time periods that are approximately equal to the expected term
of the award.

» Expected dividend. Expected dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that the Company has never paid cash
dividends on ordinary shares and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

» Fair value of ordinary shares. Options granted after the Company’s IPO are issued at the fair market value of
the Company’s ADS at the date the grant is approved by the Board.

Prior to the IPO the Company’s valuations of ordinary shares were prepared using a market approach, based on
precedent transactions in the Company’s ordinary shares, to estimate the Company’s total equity value using the
option-pricing method (“OPM”), which used a combination of market approaches and an income approach to
estimate the Company’s enterprise value.

The OPM derives an equity value such that the value indicated is consistent with the investment price, and it
provides an allocation of this equity value to each class of the Company’s securities. The OPM treats the various
classes of shares as call options on the total equity value of a company, with exercise prices based on the value
thresholds at which the allocation among the various holders of a company’s securities changes. Under this
method, each class of shares has value only if the funds available for distribution to shareholders exceed the
value of the share liquidation preferences of the class or classes of shares with senior preferences at the time of
the liquidity event. Key inputs and assumptions used in the OPM calculation which have the greatest impact on
fair value include the following:

» Expected volatility: The Company applied unlevered and re-levered equity volatility of publicly traded
peer companies.

> Expected dividend. Expected dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that the Company has never paid
cash dividends on ordinary shares and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future.
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> Expected term. The expected term of the option or the estimated time until a liquidation event.
» Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield
curve for the period commensurate with the expected of the exit event.

When considering the fair value of options granted in the period prior to the IPO, management considered
probability-weighted scenarios based on the relative likelihoods of completing the IPO and remaining a privately
held company. In the IPO scenarios, the fair value was calculated by dividing the total estimated equity value by
the number of fully diluted ordinary shares outstanding, and then discounting the implied per-share value at a
rate intended to approximate the Company's cost of equity between share option grant date and the expected
IPO date. The stay-private scenario utilised an OPM "Backsolve" calculation to estimate our equity value implied
by the purchase price of the series A preference shares in September 2017. In March and May 2018, we issued
share option grants to employees that applied a 50% and 80% probability weighting of an IPO, respectively, to
the fair value of the underlying ordinary share utilised in the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Research and development tax credit

The Company’s research and development tax claim is complex and requires management to make significant
assumptions in building the methodology for the claim, interpreting research and development tax legislation to
the Company’s specific circumstances, and agreeing the basis of the Company’s tax computations with HM
Revenue & Customes.

Segmental reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in either providing related products or
services which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Chief Executive
Officer reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined there is one operating segment based on these reports.

Below is the split of non-current assets by geographical region:

Description of asset United Kingdom United States of America
(£’000) (£'000)

Intangible assets 10,673 -

Property, plant & equipment 18,306 2,111

Right-of-use assets 17,215 1,079

Deferred tax asset - 309

Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share is determined by dividing net loss by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For all periods presented, the historical preferred A shares and
outstanding but unvested restricted shares and share options have been excluded from the calculation, because
their effects would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted average shares outstanding used to calculate both
basic and diluted loss per share are the same for all periods presented.

The number of Autolus Limited ordinary shares in the comparative periods have been converted into the

equivalent number of Autolus Therapeutics plc shares to reflect the corporate reorganisation on June 22, 2018.
Please see note 16 for further information.
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£'000 31 December 30 September

2019 2018
Unvested restricted incentive shares 1,524 815
Incentive share options 9,675 2,066
Total 11,198 2,881

6. Operating loss

For the period ended  For the period ended

31 December 30 September

£°000 2019 2018

Employee benefits expense 31,122 10,676
Depreciation 3,910 1,105
Consultants 13,718 5,544
Operating lease expense - 768
Lease expenses 8,718 -
Other expenses 15,976 6,748
Share based payment 26,090 5,027
Clinical trials and expenses 29,663 10,299
IPO expenses 636 1,316
Insurance 1,914 -
Lease impairment 604 -
Impairment of Leasehold Improvements 3,184 -
Grant income (2,481) (1,045)
Other income (196) -
Total operating loss 132,858 40,438

Other expenses include legal and professional, recruitment fees, facility maintenance, IP fees and audit fees.
7. Auditor’s remuneration

Fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP and their associates for the audit of the Group’s annual accounts were £263,000
(2018: £256,000).

During the period the Group obtained the following services from the auditor and its associates:

31 December 30 September

2019 2018
Audit of Group accounts 263 256
Audit of subsidiary accounts 80 70
Audit-related assurance services 185 291
Total 528 617
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8.

9.

Employees and Directors

The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group and Company

during the year was:

31 December 2019 30 September 2018
By Activity
Office and management 47 26
Research and development 241 103
Total 288 129

Employee benefit expense

For the period ended

For the year ended

31 December 30 September
2019 2018

£000
Included in research & development expenses:
Salaries 19,697 5,792
Social security costs 1,928 732
Pension contributions 865 269
Share based payment 14,358 2,315
Other benefits 467 110
Included in administrative expenses:
Salaries 7,009 3,181
Social security costs 505 332
Pension contributions 216 87
Share based payment 11,732 2,711
Other benefits 435 174
Total employee benefits expense 57,212 15,703

Other benefits included medical insurance and childcare vouchers.

The Group contributes to defined contribution pension schemes for its Executive Directors and employees.
Contributions of £1.1m (2018: £0.4m) had been paid or were payable to the funds at the year end.

The details of Directors of who received emoluments from the Group and Company are shown in the table

below:
31 December

2019 30 September
£'000 2018
Salaries and fees 794 533
Pension contributions 2 5
Bonus 191 332
Other Benefits 66 -
Total 1,053 870
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Further details of the Directors’ remuneration and Directors’ options are contained in the Directors’

Remuneration Report.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Key management includes Directors (Executive and Non-Executive) and Executive Officers, and the Executive

Management team. The compensation paid or payable to key management is set out below.

For the period ended

For the year ended

£'000 31 December 2019 30 September 2018
Short-term benefits 5,065 3,046
Post-employment benefits 137 64
IFRS 2 Share based payment charge 16,653 3,174
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 21,855 6,284

The number of directors for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution schemes

amounted to 1 (2018 - 2).

The number of the Company’s ordinary shares issued to Directors during the year are Nil. The number of share

options granted to the directors during the year are 1,011,756 (2018: 310,829).

10. Tax
Corporation tax 31 December 30 September
£'000 2019 2018
Current year (14,210) (5,421)
Withholding tax 42 21
Adjustments in respect of prior years 434 (10)
Overseas tax (320) 197
Total (14,054) (5,212)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the income statement as follows:

Period ended Year ended

31 December 30 September
£000 2019 2018
Loss before tax on continuing operations (127,306) (36,327)
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19 % (24,188) (6,902)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable
profit 4,163 652
R&D tax credits (15,490) (5,421)
Depreciation in advance of capital allowances not recognised 344 315
Other deferred tax assets not recognised 2,520 582
Losses not utilised 17,989 5,496
Adjustments in respect of prior years 434 (10)
Withholding tax 42 21
Impact of overseas tax rate 132 54
Tax credit for the year (14,054) (5,212)
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At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses, after accounting for tax credits receivable, of
£77,521,291 (2018: £26,839,057) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in either year in respect of these losses or any other deferred tax assets arising from temporary
differences, as it is not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available. These losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

11. Intangible assets

w Software Total
£000 Licences -
Cost or valuation
At September 2017 7,295 - 7,295
Additions 2,000 55 2,055
At September 2018 9,295 55 9,350
Additions 1,185 199 1,384
Disposals - - -
At December 2019 10,480 254 10,734
Accumulated amortisation
At September 2017 - - -
Charge for the year - 25 25
At September 2018 - 25 25
Charge for the year - 36 36
Impairment - - -
At December 2019 - 61 61
Carrying amount
At September 2018 9,295 30 9,325
At December 2019 10,480 193 10,673

In November 2019, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement (the “License”) with Noile-lmmune
Biotech Inc. ("Noile"). The Company will have the right to develop CAR T cell therapies incorporating Noile’s PRIME
(proliferation-inducing and migration-enhancing) technology secreting both interleukin-7 (IL-7) and CC motif ligand
19 (CCL19). The PRIME technology is designed to improve proliferation and trafficking into solid tumours of both
engineered CAR T cells as well as the patient’s own T cells.

The Company paid an upfront fee and may be obligated to make additional payments to Noile under the License
Agreement upon the achievement of development milestones.

No amortisation has been charged to date on licences, as the product candidates underpinned by the intellectual
property rights are not yet available for commercial use.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Office Laboratory % Leasehold Assets Under Total
Equipment Equipment Fi)a s Improvements Construction

£000 rixtures
Cost or valuation
At September 2017 709 3,091 386 - - 4,186
Additions 84 4,933 69 59 1,881 7,026
Disposals (12) ) ) ) ) (12)
At September 2018 781 8,024 455 59 1,881 11,200
Additions 885 5,708 526 6,149 4,964 18,232
Disposals ) B _ _ - -
At December 2019 1,666 13,732 981 6,208 6,845 29,432
Accumulated depreciation
At September 2017 174 655 53 ) ) 882
Charge for the year 207 842 53 3 ) 1,105
Disposals

P (6) - - - - (6)
At September 2018 375 1,497 106 3 - 1,981
Charge for the year 475 2,538 193 644 3,850
Disposals _ _ _ _ - -
Impairment _ _ _ _ 3184 3184
At December 2019 850 4,035 299 647 3,184 9,015
Carrying amount
At September 2018 406 6,527 349 56 1,881 9,219
At December 2019 816 9,697 682 5,561 3,661 20,417

The depreciation expenses of £3,850 (2018: £1,102) have been recognised as £1,365 (2018: £260)
administrative expense and £2,539 (2018: £845) as Research and Development expenses. The impairment of

fixed assets relates to leasehold improvements for the Grid project which was being held as assets under

construction as part of a project to build a manufacturing site in the United Kingdom. The impairment was the

full value of the leasehold improvement as the Company chose to discontinue the fit-out of the facility in

December 2019.
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13.

Other receivables

31 December

2019 30 September
£'000 2018
Interest Accrued 310 44
Prepayments 5,009 2,945
Grant Income Accrued 412 473
VAT Receivable 1,454 976
R&D Claim Receivable 20,963 5,315
Lease deposit 1,676 93
Deferred IPO expenses 211 -
Total 30,035 9,846
14. Trade and other payables
31 December 30 September
£'000 2019 2018
Trade creditors and accruals 16,928 12,517
Total 16,928 12,517
15. Nature and purpose of each reserve in equity

Share premium — is the difference between the par value of the Company’s shares and the total amount of
consideration the Company received for shares issued.

Merger reserve — this represents the excess of the cost of investment arising on the group reorganisation over

the value of the share capital and share premium of Autolus Limited.

Share based payment reserves — The Group grants incentive shares and share options to employees, and as
disclosed in note 17 the Group has two share incentive programmes. This reserve reflects the cumulative

expense recorded in relation to these awards.
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16. Share capital

Authorised and Issued Share Capital as of 31 December 2019

Cc
Ordinary Deferred B Deferred Deferred
A Shares B Shares C Shares Shares shares Shares shares Total
No. No. No. No. No. No. No.
At September 2017 24,490,705 3,375,196 2,062,415 34,425 29,962,741
Part C Companies Act
share cancellation (24,490,705) (3,375,096) (2,062,415) (29,928,216)
Share Capital
Reorganisation (100) 29,999,123 88,893,548 1 118,892,572
Issue of Ordinary Shares
atIPO 10,147,059 10,147,059
At 30 September 2018 40,146,182 34,425 88,893,548 1 129,074,156
Issue of Ordinary Shares 4,8368,24 203
At 31 December 2019 44,983,006 34,425 88,893,548 1 129,074,359

As at 31 December 2019, we were authorised to issue up to 200,000,000 ordinary shares or rights over ordinary
shares, of which the following shares were issued and outstanding:

(i)

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

44,983,006 ordinary shares, with a nominal value of $0.000042 per share,

34,425 deferred shares, with a nominal value of £0.00001 per share,
88,893,548 B deferred shares, with a nominal value of £0.00099 per share and
1 C deferred share, with a nominal value of £0.000008.

Each issued share has been fully paid.

The following summarises the rights of holders of our ordinary shares:

e each holder of our ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per ordinary share on all matters to be voted
on by shareholders generally;

e the holders of the ordinary shares shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend, speak and vote at our

general meetings; and

e holders of our ordinary shares are entitled to receive such dividends as are recommended by our
directors and declared by our shareholders.

e Deferred Shares - The 34,425 deferred shares, aggregate nominal value less than $1.00, existed in Autolus
Limited and were re-created in Autolus Therapeutics plc as part of the share exchange to place Autolus
Therapeutics as the ultimate parent entity. The Company was required to replicate the shares to ensure
the existing share has the correct nominal value to ensure stamp duty mirroring relief is available on the

subsequent share for share exchange. These deferred shares have no voting rights.
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o Deferred B Shares - The deferred shares were the product of the reorganisation of the series A preferred
shares and ordinary B shares into ordinary shares. The nominal residual value was utilised by
management as the required £50,000 of share capital to re-register Autolus Therapeutics Limited as
Autolus Therapeutics plc. The resulting 88,893,548 deferred shares, aggregate nominal value of
$118,000, is presented as a separate class of equity on the balance sheet and statement of shareholder’s
equity. These deferred B shares have no voting rights.

e Deferred C Share - The deferred share, nominal value less than $1.00, was created when the shares in
Autolus were redenominated from GBP to USD as part of the capital reduction to deal with rounding
issues that would otherwise have unbalanced the company’s nominal share capital. This deferred C share
has no voting rights.

Share transactions during the period ended 30 September 2018

On 18 June 2018, the Company completed the first step of a corporate reorganisation, pursuant to which the
shareholders of Autolus Limited exchanged their A, B, and C shares for the same number and class of newly issued
shares of Autolus Therapeutics Limited. Following the share exchange, holders of options over shares in Autolus
Limited agreed to exchange their existing options for new options granted by Autolus Therapeutics Limited over
shares in Autolus Therapeutics Limited (now called Autolus Therapeutics plc).

Autolus Therapeutics Ltd reduced its capital pursuant to part 17 of the Companies Act by reducing the nominal
value of its A Preference and B ordinary shares from £2.50 per share to £0.001 per share. The resulting reduction
of £222,144,976 in share capital corresponded to an increase in realised retained earnings of £222,144,976.

Subsequently, A Preference shares and B ordinary shares, each of nominal value of £0.001, were then split into
one ordinary share of nominal value £0.00001 and one B deferred share of nominal value £°00099. Each C ordinary
share of nominal value £0.00001 was converted into an ordinary share of nominal value £0.00001. All ordinary
shares of £0.00001 were further split into 200 ordinary shares of nominal value £0.00000005 and then 637 of such
shares consolidated to create single ordinary shares of £0.00003185 nominal value. These shares were then
redenominated as Ordinary shares of $0.000042 nominal value.

The Company completed its initial public offering ("IPO") of ADS’. In the IPO, the Company sold an aggregate of
10,147,059 ADS’ representing the same number of ordinary shares, including 1,323,529 ADS’ pursuant to the
underwriters’ option to purchase additional ADS’, at a public offering price of $17.00 per ADS. Net proceeds were
approximately £117.5 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses
paid by the Company.

Share transactions during the period ended 31 December 2019

On 15 April 2019, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 4,830,000 ADS’ representing
4,830,000 ordinary shares, at a public offering price of $24.00 per ADS, which includes an additional 630,000 ADS’
issued upon the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional ADS’. Aggregate net proceeds
to the Company, after underwriting discounts were £83.1 million.
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17.

Share based payment

Employee Incentive Plans

In February 2017, the Company’s board of directors adopted the 2017 Share Option Plan, or the 2017 Plan. The
2017 Plan was set to expire on February 21, 2027. The 2017 Plan provided for the grant of potentially tax-favoured
Enterprise Management Incentives, or EMI, options to the Company's U.K. employees and for the grant of options
to its U.S. employees. All awards are equity settled.

InJune 2018, as part of the Company's reorganisation and IPO, the Company’s board of directors and shareholders
approved the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2018 Plan. The initial maximum number of ordinary shares that
may be issued under the 2018 Plan was 3,281,622. This number consists of 3,025,548 new ordinary shares and
256,074 ordinary shares that would have otherwise remained available for future grants under the 2017 Plan. The
number of ordinary shares reserved for issuance under the 2018 Plan will automatically increase on October 1st
of each year, for a period of not more than ten years, commencing on October 1, 2018 and ending on (and
including) October 1, 2027, by an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 4% of the total number of ordinary shares
outstanding on September 30th of the same calendar year or (ii) such fewer number of ordinary shares as the
board of directors may designate prior to the applicable October 1st date. Shares issued under the 2018 Plan may
be authorised but unissued shares, shares purchased on the open market, treasury shares or ADS’. No more than
14,000,000 shares may be issued under the 2018 Plan upon the exercise of incentive share options.

Options granted under the 2018 Plan and 2017 Plan, as well as restricted shares granted as employee incentives,
typically vest over a four-year service period with 25% of the award vesting on the first anniversary of the
commencement date and the balance vesting monthly over the remaining three years, unless the award contains
specific performance vesting provisions. For equity awards issued that have both a performance vesting condition
and a services condition, once the performance criteria is achieved, the awards are then subject to a four-year
service vesting with 25% of the award vesting on the first anniversary of the performance condition being achieved
and the balance vesting monthly over the remaining three years. Options granted under the 2018 Plan and 2017
Plan generally expire 10 years from the date of grant. For certain senior members of management and directors,
the board of directors has approved an alternative vesting schedule.

Share Option Valuation

The assumptions (see Note 3.3) used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of the
share options granted to employees and directors during the period ended 31 December 2019 and the year
ended 30 September 2018 were as follows:

31 December 30 September
2019 2018
Expected option life (years) 5.27 t0 6.08 6.08
Risk-free interest rate 1.39% to 3.09% 2.61% to 3.00%
Expected volatility 69.52% to 76.22% 68.15% to 72.99%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%
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Share Options

The table below summarises the activity in the current and previous years.

Weighted-

Weighted Average

Average Remaining
Number of Exercise  Contractual Aggregate
Options Price Term Intrinsic Value
£ (Years) £
Outstanding as of September 30, 2017 570,309 0.39 9.73 1,551
Granted 1,513,218 10.21 — —
Exercised — — — —
Cancelled or forfeited (18,046) 3.82 — —
Outstanding as of 30 September 2018 2,065,481 7.56 9.35 33,054
Exercisable as of 30 September 2018 166,262 0.4 8.73 3,847
Vested and expected to vest as of 30 September 2018 2,065,481 7.56 9.35 33,054
Granted 4,089,885 16.98 — —
Exercised (11,724) 3.09 — —
Cancelled or forfeited (207,403) 15.04 — —
Outstanding as of 31 December 2019 5,936,239 13.35 9.02 8,949
Exercisable as of 31 December 2019 1,466,625 12.32 8.36 4,616
Vested and expected to vest as of 31 December 2019 5,936,239 13.35 9.02 8,949

The aggregate intrinsic value of share options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the
share options and the fair value of the Company’s restricted ordinary shares for those share options that had
exercise prices lower than the fair value of the Company’s restricted ordinary shares.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of share options granted during the 15-month period ended 31
December 2019 was £15.16, and years ended 30 September 2018 and 2017 was £6.55 and £3.10 per share,
respectively, none of which were vested.

The Company granted 4,089,885 (2018: 1,513,218) share options during the 15-month period ended 31 December
2019. There were no performance-based share options granted during the period ended 31 December 2019 and
the year ended 30 September 2018.

The Company recorded share-based compensation expense related to share options to certain consultants, who

are not employees, of £137,706 for the period ended 31 December 2019 and £76,610 for the year ended 30
September 2018.
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Restricted Ordinary Shares

The assumptions used in the OPM to determine the fair value of the ordinary shares for the following dates are
as follows:

April 26, September 25, March31, May31,

2017 2017 2018 2018
Expected term 1.2 1.8 1.8

years 0.8 years years years
Risk-free interest rate 1.0% 1.3% 2.1% 2.1%
Expected volatility 76.6% 71.0% 71% 71%
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

A summary of the changes in the Company’s restricted ordinary shares during the period ended 31 December
2019 and the year ended 30 September 2018 are as follows and reflect the conversion of ordinary shares in the
current and previous years.

Weighted average

Number of grant date
restricted fair value
shares £
Unvested and outstanding at September 30, 2017 1,358,317 3.22
Granted
Vested (534,906) 3.03
Canceled or forfeited (7,779) 2.82
Unvested and outstanding at 30 September 2018 815,632 3.19
Granted _
Vested (495,988) 4.05
Canceled or forfeited (4,900) 4.47
Unvested and outstanding at 31 December 2019 314,744 5.39

During the period ended 31 December 2019 company did not grant any performance based restricted ordinary
shares. During the period ended 31 December 2019 200,534 restricted ordinary shares were vested related to
performance-based awards. For the years ended 30 September 2018 and 2017, 159,490 and 24,896 restricted
ordinary shares were vested related to performance-based awards, (respectively). The remainder of the restricted
ordinary shares and all forfeited restricted ordinary shares related to awards with only service-based vesting
conditions. There were no restricted shares granted during the periods ended 31 December 2019 and 30
September 2018. The 2017 performance-based restricted shares were scheduled to begin vesting upon the
Company’s achievement of specified clinical development milestones. The Company achieved the milestones
related to the 2017 performance-based restricted shares during the year ended September 30, 2017 and recorded
share-based compensation expense of £0.5 million, £0.7 million and £0.6 million related to the vesting of those
incentive share awards for the period ended 31 December 2019 and the years ended 30 September 2018 and
2017, respectively.
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18.

Restricted Stock Units

A restricted stock unit (“RSU”) represents the right to receive one of the Company’s ADS’ upon vesting of the RSU.
The fair value of each RSU is based on the closing price of the Company’s ADS’ on the date of grant. The Company
grants RSUs with service conditions that vest over 3-year service period with 50% of the award vesting one-and-
half years from commencement date and the remaining 50% of the award vesting at the end of the third year.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company granted 500,000 RSUs under the 2018 Plan. The following
is a summary of RSU activity for the 2018 Plan for the period ended 31 December 2019 and year ended 30
September 2018, respectively:

Number of Weighted average
Restricted Units grant date
fair value
£

Unvested and outstanding at 30 September 2018
Granted 500,000 9.11
Vested
Canceled or Forfeited
Unvested and outstanding at 31 December 2019 500,000 9.11

As of 31 December 2019, there was £4.4 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested RSUs,
which are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3 years.

Share based Compensation

The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of £26 million and £5 million during the period ended
31 December 2019 and the year ended 30 September 2018, respectively, related to both restricted shares and
share options-based awards. As of 31 December 2019, there was £30.4 million and for 30 September 2018, there
was £9.7 million of unrecognised compensation cost related to outstanding but unvested restricted shares and
share options, which amounts are expected to be recognised over weighted-average period of 3.3 years.

Share-based compensation expense recorded as research and development and general and administrative
expenses is as follows (in thousands):

2019 2018
Research and development 14,358 2,312
General and administrative 11,732 2,715
Total share-based compensation £ 26,090 £ 5,027

In February 2017, the Company modified the terms of all outstanding share options and restricted share awards
to adjust the vesting of the awards in the event of an exit event or IPO. As modified, the options and share awards
do not convert to deferred shares and will continue vesting because of the June 2018 IPO. The incremental share-
based compensation expense due to the modification was nominal.
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19. Cash and cash equivalents

£000 31 Decer;l(l;:;‘ 30 Septer;::;
Cash and bank balances 149,129 179,245
Fixed short-term deposit 10,134 10,051
Total 159,263 189,296

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits. The carrying amount of these assets is
approximately equal to their fair value.

20. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Below are the carrying amounts of Right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period:

£000 Plant and Other Total
Machinery Equipment

As at 1% October 2018 5,046 - 5,046
Additions 16,550 102 16,652
Modification to lease term (1,446) - (1,446)
Impairment of ROU Asset (604) - (604)
Amortisation (2,853) (38) (2,891)
As At 31 December 2019 16,693 64 16,757

Below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and movements during the period:

£000

As at 1 October 2018 4,997
Additions 18,207
Interest paid (1,537)
Repayments of the principal (482)
Modification to lease term (1,446)
As At 31 December 2019 19,739
Current 1,883
Non — Current 17,856

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Total
Amortisation expense of Right-of-use assets 2,981
Interest expense on Lease liabilities 1,537
Expense relating to short-term leases 320
Total amount recognised in Profit or Loss 4,838
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21.

The group had total cash outflows for leases of £2.0m in 2019. The group had non-cash reductions to the Lease
liabilities and Right-of-use asset of £1.4m due to the decision by the Company to discontinue of the use of a
manufacturing facility in the United Kingdom. As the lease for this facility included an option for early termination
both the asset and the liability have been reduced to take this early termination option into account.

Financial instruments

The Company’s principal financial instruments are restricted to cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to fund the Company’s operations. The Company has other financial instruments
such as trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its’ operations.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and foreign currency
risk.

£000
31 December 30 September
2019 2018
Financial Assets
Cash and bank balances 159,263 189,296
Receivables 28,498 9,846
Financial Liabilities
Trade payables 16,298 12,517

The carrying amount of these financial assets and liabilities approximates their fair value.

Credit risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. The
Company places cash and cash equivalents in established financial institutions. The Company has no significant
off-balance-sheet risk or concentration of credit risk, such as foreign exchange contracts, options contracts, or
other foreign hedging arrangements.

Liquidity risk

Since our inception, we have not generated any product revenue and have incurred operating losses and
negative cash flows from our operations. We expect to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the
foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates through preclinical and clinical development, seek
regulatory approval and pursue commercialisation of any approved product candidates. We expect that our
research and development and general and administrative costs will increase in connection with our planned
research activities. As a result, we will need additional capital to fund our operations until we can generate
significant revenue from product sales. We do not currently have any approved products and have never
generated any revenue from product sales or otherwise. We have funded our operations to date primarily with
proceeds from government grants and sales of our preferred and ordinary shares. We currently have no ongoing
material financing commitments, such as lines of credit or guarantees, that are expected to affect our liquidity
over the next five years, other than our lease obligations and supplier purchase commitments.

Foreign currency risk

Our functional currency and that of our subsidiaries is the pound sterling and our reporting currency is the U.K is
pound Sterling. The Group holds USD currency. Any fluctuations in currency exchange rates between the U.S.
dollar and the pound sterling could materially and adversely affect our business. There may be instances in
which costs and revenue will not be matched with respect to currency denomination. Currently, we do not have
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any exchange rate hedging arrangements in place. Unrealised foreign exchange gains recognised in the income
statement amounts to £4.4 million (2018: £2.9 million).

Additionally, although we are based in the United Kingdom, we source research and development,
manufacturing, consulting and other services from the United States and other countries. Further, potential
future revenue may be derived from the United States, countries within the euro zone, and various other
countries around the world. As a result, our business and the price of our ADS’ may be affected by fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates not only between the pound sterling and the U.S. dollar, but also the euro and other
currencies, which may have a significant impact on our results of operations and cash flows from period to
period. As a result, to the extent we continue our expansion on a global basis, we expect that increasing portions
of our revenue, cost of revenue, assets and liabilities will be subject to fluctuations in currency valuations. We
may experience economic loss and a negative impact on earnings or net assets solely because of currency
exchange rate fluctuation.

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the Group sensitivity to a percentage change in Pounds Sterling against these
currencies. The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in US Dollar amount held in
US bank account at the reporting date has been determined based on a 5% change taking place.

USD 5%
31 December 2019
£000
Weakening — 5% 1,487
Strengthening — 5% 1,487

22. Related party transactions

A related party is a person or an entity that is related to the reporting entity:

e A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person has
control, joint control, or significant influence over the entity or is a member of its key management
personnel.

e An entity is related to a reporting entity if, among other circumstances, it is a parent, subsidiary, fellow
subsidiary, associate, or joint venture of the reporting entity, or it is controlled, jointly controlled, or
significantly influenced or managed by a person who is a related party.

The following is a description of related party transactions we have entered into since 1 October 2018 with our
directors, members of our senior management and holders of more than 5% of our outstanding voting securities
and their affiliates, whom we refer to as our related persons, in which the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and
that are material to us, other than the compensation arrangements.

Participation in April 2019 Public Offering

In our April 2019 public offering, Syncona Portfolio Limited and Arix Bioscience Holdings Limited purchased
1,000,000 ADSs and 208,333 ADSs, respectively. This purchase was made through the underwriters at the offering
price.
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23. Events after balance sheet date

On 27 January 2020, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 7,250,000 ADS’
representing 7,250,000 ordinary shares, at a public offering price of $11.00 per ADS. Aggregate net proceeds to
the Company, after underwriting discounts, were £57.5 million.

On 27 February 2020, the Company terminated its sublease for 27,502 square feet of office space in Rockville,
Maryland and concurrently entered into a direct lease with the building owner for the same premises. The lease
is non-cancellable and is scheduled to terminate in March 2025.

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, which causes coronavirus disease 2019 or COVID-
19, surfaced in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread across the world to almost every country, including
the United Kingdom, the United States and many other European countries. Our company headquarters is located
in London, our U.S. headquarters is located in the Baltimore—Washington metropolitan area, and our CROs and
CMOs are located in the United States, the United Kingdom, and European Union. In March 2020, the World Health
Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The U.S. government also has imposed travel
restrictions on travel between the United States, United Kingdom and certain other countries.

In response to the spread of COVID-19 as well as public health directives and orders, we have implemented work-
from-home policies to support the community efforts to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 and protect
employees, complying with guidance from government authorities in the countries within which we operate. We
have implemented a number of measures to ensure employee safety and business continuity, including limiting
access to our laboratory and manufacturing facilities to only those individuals required to execute their job
responsibilities and restricted the number of staff working concurrently in any given laboratory.

Business travel has been suspended, and online and teleconference technology is used to meet virtually rather
than in person. We have taken measures to secure our research and development project activities while work
in laboratories continues, and laboratories and facilities have been organized to reduce risk of COVID-19
transmission.

We are currently conducting clinical trials in the United States and United Kingdom. Timely enrolment in our
clinical trials is dependent upon capacity at our clinical trial sites, some of which are currently adversely affected
by COVID-19. Due to the uneven geographic impact of the pandemic, these localized disruptions are difficult to
predict. Shutdowns or other restrictions related to COVID-19 or other infectious diseases could impact personnel
at third-party manufacturing facilities, which, in turn, could impact the availability or the cost of materials and
may disrupt our supply chain. Additionally, many of our clinical trials involve immunocompromised patients who
are at higher risk for COVID-19 and who are therefore more likely to avoid hospitals or other high-risk areas.

The effects of the governmental restrictions and guidelines, and the measures we have implemented to comply
with them, may negatively impact productivity, disrupt our business and delay our clinical programs and timelines
(for example, our timelines for AUTO1 and AUTO3). The magnitude of these potential disruptions will depend, in
part, on the length and severity of the restrictions and other limitations on our ability to conduct our business in
the ordinary course. At this time, there is no impact on the financial statements, including critical judgements and
accounting estimates included in these financial statements.
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Parent Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Note £ 000 £000
Non-current assets
Investments 6 454,804 345,681
Total Assets 454,804 345,681
Net assets 454,804 345,681
Equity
Share capital 1 1
Deferred Shares 88 88
Share Premium 200,518 117,485
Share based payment reserve 32,052 5,962
Retained earnings 8 222,145 222,145

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 454,804 345,681

The parent company has adopted the exemption of presenting the profit and loss account as permitted by section
408 of the Companies Act 2006. There were no transactions impacting the income statement for the 15-month period
ended 31 December 2019.

The notes on pages 84 to 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 May 2020. They
were signed on its behalf by

DocuSigned by:

L /]

-

Christian Itin
Director

Date: 14 May 2020

Registered Office Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, London W12 7RZ, United Kingdom
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019

Share Sha.re Share Based Retained
Capital Premium Reserves Earnings Total
P Account &

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Shares issued on Company formation - - - - -
Share capital for share exchange - new 222,234 - - - 222,234
Capital reduction (222, 145) - - 222,145 -
Share capital - - - - -
IPO proceeds - 128,703 - - 128,703
Issuance cost - (11,218) - - (11,218)
Share based expenses - - 5,962 - 5,962
Balance at 30*" September 2018 89 117,485 5,962 222, 145 345,681
Retained Earnings
Share capital - - - - -
IPO proceeds - 83,147 - - 83,147
Issuance cost (114) (114)
Share based payment expense _ - 26,090 - 26,090
Balance at 31 December 2019 89 200,518 32,052 222,145 454,804

The notes on pages 84 to 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements
for the 15 months ended 31 December 2019

1. General overview
Autolus Therapeutics plc is a company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales with a registration
number of 1185179. The address of the registered company is Forest House, 58 Wood Lane, London W12
7RZ, United Kingdom. The nature of the Company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the
Strategic Report. The financial statements are presented in GBP.

Autolus is a biopharmaceutical company developing next generation programmed T cell therapies for the
treatment of cancer. Using our broad suite of proprietary and modular T cell programming technologies, we
are engineering precisely targeted, controlled and highly active T cell therapies that are designed to better
recognise cancer cells, break down their defence mechanisms and eliminate these cells.

2. Basis of preparation

Corporate Reorganisation

Pursuant to the terms of a corporate reorganisation, the shareholders of Autolus Limited exchanged each of
the shares held by them in Autolus Limited for the same number and class of newly issued shares of Autolus
Therapeutics Limited and, as a result, Autolus Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of Autolus
Therapeutics Limited. On June 18, 2018, Autolus Therapeutics Limited re-registered as a public limited
company and was renamed Autolus Therapeutics plc. We reorganised our share capital and completed a
capital reduction. On June 22, 2018, our outstanding preferred and ordinary shares were converted into a
single class of ordinary shares and various classes of deferred shares, and we completed our initial public
offering of American Depositary Shares (“ADS’”), each representing one of our ordinary shares, on the
Nasdaq Global Select Market. The group reorganisation had the following effect on the financial statements
of the Company:

e Recorded a cost on investment in Autolus Limited with a corresponding amount recorded in share
capital for the shares issued.

e Through the capital reduction, reduced the share capital of the Company by £222,144,976 with a
corresponding increase in retained earnings.

e Through the share reorganisation, the creation of ordinary shares capital of £954 and £88,005 deferred
shares.

e Through the IPO issued ordinary shares of £323 and recorded a share premium of £117,485,073.

e Made a capital contribution through passing the funds raised on the IPO to Autolus Holdings (UK) Ltd
with a corresponding increase to the cost of investment.

Autolus Therapeutics plc was incorporated in February 2018, with an accounting reference date of 30
September 2018. On 25 April 2019 the Company filed to extend the financial period from 30 September
2019 through to 31 December 2019. The period covered in these reports are from are the 15-month period
ended 31 December 2019. The comparative period presented is that of the date of inception to the 30"
September 2018 (four and a half months).

The presentation and functional currency are the British Pound Sterling (£).
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Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102) and in accordance with
applicable accounting standards.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies
adopted are set out below.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 102:

e The requirements of Section 4 Statement of Financial Position paragraph 4.12(a)(iv).

e The requirements of Section 7 Statement of Cash Flows and Section 3 Financial Statement
Presentation paragraph 3.17(d).

e The requirements of Section 11 paragraphs 11.39 to 11.48A and Section 12 paragraphs 12.26 to
12.29 providing the equivalent disclosures required by this FRS are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated.

e The requirements of Section 26 Share-based Payment paragraphs 26.18(b), 26.19 to 26.21 and
26.23, provided that for a qualifying entity that is: (i) a subsidiary, the share-based payment
arrangement concerns equity instruments of another group entity; (ii) an ultimate parent, the
share-based payment arrangement concerns its own equity instruments and its separate financial
statements are presented alongside the consolidated financial statements of the group; and, in
both cases, provided that the equivalent disclosures required by this FRS are included in the
consolidated financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated.

e The requirement of Section 33 Related Party Disclosures paragraph 33.7.

Additional accounting policies for the separate financial statements of the Company are set out below:

Going Concern

At 31 December 2019 the Company has cash reserves of £159.3 (2018: £189.3m). The Directors have
prepared budgets and forecasts assessing the required resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Based on the progress to date of research undertaken, the additional capital raise of
net £57.5 million in January 2020, the funds in hand and the level of expenditure committed to our planned
R&D programme, the Directors continue to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis. We
have assessed the planned expenditure and expect our available cash to extend until late 2021, during which
time the Company will seek to raise further funds to continue with our research programmes.

As noted in the consolidated financial statements in Note 2, the Directors have conducted a full assessment
of the impact of COVID-19 on the going concern status of the Company and have found that it does not
negatively impact the cash inflows or cash outflows of the Company due to the fact the Company is not yet
revenue producing and has a fixed cost base.

Further details regarding the risks to the Company can be found in the Group Strategic Report (including the
Finance Review and Principal risks and mitigations relating to Covid19) and also in Note 23 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Investment in Subsidiaries

The investment in the subsidiary arose on the reorganisation of the Group. The investment is recorded at
cost. The cost is based on the directors estimated fair value of Autolus Ltd having regard to the valuations
that were available prior to the IPO.
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The Group subsidiaries include:

Ordinary

Principal Country of | % equity | % equity Shares Nominal
Name activities Incorporation interest interest Issued value Total
Autolus Holdings ) United 100 100 1000 f1 £1,000
(UK) Limited Holding Kingdom

Company
Autolus Limited . United 100 100 100 £0.001 £0.10

Pharmaceutical .

Kingdom

research and

development
Autolus Inc Pharmaceutical USA 100 100 100,000 | $0.0001 $10

research and
development

Autolus Gmbh . Germany 100 100 25,000 €1 | €25,000
Pharmaceutical

research and
development

The registered office of Autolus Therapeutics plc, Autolus Holdings (UK) Limited and Autolus Limited are
located at Forest House 58 Wood Lane White City London W12 7RZ. Autolus Inc. is located at 805 King Farm
Blvd, Suite 550, Rockville, MD 20850, USA. Autolus GmbH is located at Luise-Ullrich-StraRe 20, c/o Design
Offices Arnulfpark, 80636 Miinchen.

Employee benefits

All employee benefits are recognised within the subsidiary companies where they are paid. The Company
has no employees, any work carried out by employees of the subsidiaries or the parent for services are
recharged through the intercompany account as required.

Auditor’s remuneration
Fees payable to Ernst & Young and their associates for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts were

£12,500 (2018: £12,500).

Employees
The are no employees in the company. The directors are employed by other group companies.

Investments in subsidiaries

£000
Arising on group reorganisation 222,234
Capital contribution 117,485
Share based payments 5,962
At 30 September 2018 345,681
Capital contribution 83,033
Share based payments 26,090
At 31 December 2019 454,804
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10.

The capital contribution of £83 million was pushed down from the Parent to Autolus Limited. This is the net
proceeds from the share issuance from the capital raise in April 2019.

The share-based payment cost of £26 million was pushed down from Autolus Therapeutics plc to Autolus
Limited, as a capital injection in the Company’s Balance Sheet.

The Company tested the investment assets for impairment in December 2019 and concluded that the
investments were not impaired. The analysis noted that the investment is a fully owned subsidiary holding
company whose subsidiaries are engaged in research and development activities. These companies have
been achieving milestones related to these activities. Furthermore, the follow-on capital raise of the
Company that took place on 27 January 2020 increased its value and further allows enhancement of the
research in which the subsidiaries are engaged.

Share capital
Disclosed as part of note 16 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Retained profit

£000
Balance at 30 September 2018 222,145
Net result for the year -
Balance at 31 December 2019 222,145

Related party transactions
Disclosed as part of note 22 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Events after balance sheet date
Disclosed as part of note 23 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
All references in this Annual Report on Form 20-F, or Annual Report, to “Autolus,” the “company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Autolus Therapeutics plc and its consolidated
subsidiaries, except where the context otherwise requires.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statement data as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for the year ended December 31, 2019, the three months ended December 31, 2018, and the years
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 have been derived from our consolidated financial statements, as presented elsewhere in this Annual Report, which have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP, as issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB.

All references in this Annual Report to “$” are to U.S. dollars and all references to “£” are to pounds sterling. Solely for the convenience of the reader, unless otherwise indicated,
all pounds sterling amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 have been translated into U.S. dollars on the last business day of our fiscal year ended December 31,
2019, using the exchange rate of £1.00 = $1.3268. These translations should not be considered representations that any such amounts have been, could have been or could be
converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other exchange rate as at that or any other date.



CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. The forward-looking statements are contained principally
in Part I, Item 4.B “Business Overview,” Part I, Item 3.D. “Risk Factors,” and Part I, Item 5. “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects,” but are also contained elsewhere in
this Annual Report. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the words “may,” “might,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,”
“objective,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue” and “ongoing,” or the negative of these terms, or other comparable terminology intended to
identify statements about the future. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from the information expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report and, while we believe we have a reasonable basis for each forward-
looking statement contained this Annual Report, we caution you that these statements are based on a combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our expectations
of the future, about which we cannot be certain. Forward-looking statements include statements about:

» »

« the development of our product candidates, including statements regarding the timing of initiation, completion and the outcome of clinical studies or trials and related
preparatory work, the period during which the results of the trials will become available and our research and development programs;

*  our ability to advance our product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials;

* our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates in the indications for which we plan to develop them, and any related restrictions,
limitations or warnings in the label of an approved drug or therapy;

*  our ability to license additional intellectual property relating to our product candidates from third parties and to comply with our existing license agreement;
*  our plans to research, develop, manufacture and commercialize our product candidates;
* the timing of our regulatory filings for our product candidates, along with regulatory developments in the United States, European Union and other foreign countries;

« the size and growth potential of the markets for our product candidates, if approved, and the rate and degree of market acceptance of our product candidates, including
reimbursement that may be received from payors;

*  our ability to raise additional capital;

*  our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;

*  our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection;

«  our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;

*  our ability to contract with third-party suppliers and manufacturers and their ability to perform adequately;

« the scalability and commercial viability of our manufacturing methods and processes;

«  the success of competing therapies that are or may become available;

*  whether we are classified as a PFIC for current and future periods; and

*  our estimates regarding future expenses, revenues and needs for additional financing and the accuracy thereof.
You should refer to Item 3.D. "Risk Factors" for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our
forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot assure you that the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report will prove to be accurate. Furthermore, if

our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not
regard these



statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame, or at all. We undertake no obligation
to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. You should, therefore, not rely on
these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Annual Report.



PART I

Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable.

Not applicable.

Item 3. Key Information.
A. Selected financial data.

We have historically conducted our business through Autolus Limited and, therefore, our historical consolidated financial statements previously presented the results of
operations of Autolus Limited. Following the completion of our initial public offering, or IPO, of American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, in June 2018, our consolidated financial
statements present the consolidated results of operations of Autolus Therapeutics plc. The consolidated statements of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2019, the
three months ended December 31, 2018, and the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the
years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The selected
consolidated statements of operations data for the year ended September 30, 2016 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of September 30, 2016 is derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report.

The following tables set forth our selected consolidated financial and other data for the year ended December 31, 2019, the three months ended December 31, 2018, and
the years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except share and per share data). The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report and “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects” of this Annual Report. Our historical results for any prior period are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any future period. We prepare our
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP as issued by the FASB.

Our functional currency is the pound sterling. However, for financial reporting purposes, our financial statements, which are prepared using the functional currency, have
been translated into U.S. dollars. Our assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date, our revenue and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates and shareholders’ equity is translated based on historical exchange rates. Translation adjustments are not included in determining net income (loss) but are included
in foreign exchange translation adjustment to other comprehensive income (loss), a component of shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency transactions in currencies different from the functional currency are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in other income (expense), net in the statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).



Three Months

Year Ended Ended December
December 31, 31, Year Ended September 30,
2019 2018 2018 2017 2016
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss Data:

Grant income 2,908 $ 296 $ 1,407 $ 1,693 $ 1,212
Operating expenses:

Research and development (105,418) (17,713) (36,150) (16,012) (10,436)

General and administrative (39,452) (7,593) (22,790) (9,099) (5,152)
Total operating expenses, net (146,064) (25,010) (57,533) (23,418) (14,376)
Other income (expense):

Interest income 2,542 660 1,532 84 75

Other income (expense) 4,514 1,097 3,970 (46) (26)
Total other income, net 7,056 1,757 5,502 38 49
Net loss before income tax (139,008) (23,253) $ (52,031) (23,380) (14,327)

Income tax benefit 15,159 2,605 7,280 3,653 1,777
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (123,849) (20,648) $ (44,751) $ (19,727)  $ (12,550)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign exchange translation adjustment 6,797 (5,568) (6,071) 802 (2,942)
Total comprehensive loss (117,052) (26,216) (50,822) $ (18,925) $ (15,492)
Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share (2.88) $ 052) $ (1.42) $ (143) $ (1.26)

As of December 31, As of September 30,
2019 2018 2018 2017 2016
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash $ 210,643 $ 217,450 % 247,089 $ 137,070 $ 28,059

Working capital® 224,272 211,890 242,139 137,449 28,191

Net Assets 254,839 232,642 255,465 142,601 30,687

Total assets 303,533 254,210 273,205 148,662 34,180

Ordinary shares 2 2 2 1 —

Additional paid-in-capital 500,560 361,311 255,465 142,601 30,687

Ordinary Shares 44,983,006 40,145,617 40,146,182 29,962,742 13,921,544

(Wwe define working capital as current assets less current liabilities.

B. Capitalization and indebtedness.

Not applicable.

C. Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds.

Not applicable.



D. Risk factors.

An investment in our ADSs involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, and all other information appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes hereto, before making an investment decision regarding our securities. The occurrence of any of the
events or developments described below could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need For Capital

We have incurred significant losses in every year since our inception. We expect to continue to incur losses over the next several years and may never achieve or maintain
profitability.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history and we have incurred significant net losses since our inception in 2014. We have
incurred losses of $123.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, and $44.8 million and $19.7 million for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of
December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $237.2 million. We have funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from the sale of our equity securities.

We have no products approved for commercial sale, have not generated any product revenue, and are devoting substantially all of our financial resources and efforts to
research and development of our programmed T cell product candidates as well as to building out our manufacturing infrastructure, T cell programming technologies and
management team. Investment in biopharmaceutical product development is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital expenditures and significant risk that
any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate effect or an acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory approval and become commercially viable.

We expect that it will take at least several years until any of our product candidates receive marketing approval and are commercialized, and we may never be successful
in obtaining marketing approval and commercializing product candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable
future. These net losses will adversely impact our shareholders’ equity and net assets and may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. We anticipate that our
expenses will increase substantially as we:

«  continue our ongoing and planned research and development of our current programmed T cell product candidates for the treatment of hematological cancers and solid
tumors;

« initiate preclinical studies and clinical trials for any additional product candidates that we may pursue in the future, including our planned development of additional T cell
therapies for the treatment of hematological cancers and solid tumors;

«  seek to discover and develop additional product candidates and further expand our clinical product pipeline;
»  seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

«  continue to scale up internal and external manufacturing capacity with the aim of securing sufficient quantities to meet our capacity requirements for clinical trials and
potential commercialization;

« establish sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidate for which we may obtain regulatory approval;

*  make required milestone and royalty payments to UCL Business plc, or UCLB, the technology-transfer company of University College London, or UCL, or other third
parties, under license agreements pursuant to which we were granted some of our intellectual property rights;

* develop, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
e acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;
*  hire additional clinical, quality control and manufacturing personnel;

* add clinical, operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and planned future
commercialization efforts;

«  expand our operations in the United States, Europe and other geographies; and

* incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses associated with operating as a public company.
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To become and remain profitable, we must succeed in developing and eventually commercializing products that generate significant revenue. This will require us to be
successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining regulatory approval, manufacturing,
marketing and selling any products for which we may obtain regulatory approval, as well as discovering and developing additional product candidates. We may never succeed in
these activities and, even if we do, may never generate revenues that are significant enough to achieve profitability.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development, manufacturing, delivery and commercialization of complex autologous cell therapies,
we are unable to accurately predict the timing or amount of expenses or when, or if, we will be able to achieve profitability. If we are required by regulatory authorities to perform
studies in addition to those currently expected, or if there are any delays in the initiation and completion of our clinical trials or the development of any of our product candidates,
our expenses could increase and profitability could be further delayed.

Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would
depress the value of our ADSs and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts or continue our operations. A
decline in the value of our ADSs could also cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. As an organization, we have not demonstrated an ability to successfully complete
late-stage clinical trials, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture our product candidates at commercial scale or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, conduct sales and
marketing activities necessary for successful commercialization, or obtain reimbursement in the countries of sale. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties,
complications, and delays in achieving our business objectives. Our very short history as an operating company makes any assessment of our future success or viability subject to
significant uncertainty. If we do not address these risks successfully or are unable to transition at some point from a company with a research and development focus to a company
capable of supporting commercial activities, then our business will suffer.

We will need additional funding to complete the development of our product candidates, which may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

‘We will require substantial additional funding to meet our financial needs and to pursue our business objectives. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be
forced to delay, reduce or altogether cease our product development programs or commercialization efforts.

Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to fund the operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements associated with the research and
development of our product candidates. These programs are described in greater detail under the heading “Our Pipeline” in the section titled “Business Overview” of this Annual
Report. Our current funding will not be sufficient for us to fund any of our programmed T cell product candidates through regulatory approval, and we will need to raise additional
capital to complete the development and commercialization of our programmed T cell product candidates, and in connection with our continuing operations and other planned
activities. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

«  the progress, results and costs of laboratory testing, manufacturing, and preclinical and clinical development of our current and future product candidates;

+ the timing and amounts of any milestone or royalty payments we may be required to make under current or future license agreements;

« the costs of leasing, building out, equipping, and operating the facilities necessary to research, develop, manufacture and commercialize our product candidates, as well as
to support our continuing operations;

« the costs of hiring additional clinical, quality control and manufacturing personnel;
« the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

«  the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including product manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution, for any of our product candidates for which
we receive marketing approval;
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« the revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates for which we receive marketing approval;

« the costs and timing of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending any intellectual
property-related claims; and

« the costs of operating as a public company.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to
complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain regulatory approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product candidates, if
approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our product revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of product candidates that we do not expect to be commercially available
for several years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have
sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to
relinquish some rights to our technologies or our product candidates on terms that are not favorable to us. Any additional capital raising efforts may divert our management from
their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our current and future product candidates, if approved. If we are unable to raise
capital when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay, reduce or altogether cease our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts.

Risks Related to the Development of Our Product Candidates

We are early in our development efforts. All of our product candidates are in clinical development or in preclinical development. If we are unable to advance our product
candidates through clinical development, obtain regulatory approval and ultimately commercialize our product candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so, our
business will be materially harmed.

We have established clinical proof-of-concept for only one of our product candidates. There is no assurance that our current or any other future clinical trials of our product
candidates will be successful or will generate positive clinical data and we may not receive marketing approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or other
regulatory agencies, including the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, for any of our product candidates. Except for AUTO3, we have not submitted an Investigational New
Drug Application, or IND, with the FDA for our current clinical-stage product candidates, which must be in effect before commencing clinical trials in the United States. There can
be no assurance that the FDA will permit any IND to go into effect in a timely manner or at all. Trials in the United States must be conducted pursuant to an active IND.

Biopharmaceutical development is a long, expensive and uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at any stage of any of our clinical trials. Failure to obtain
regulatory approval for our product candidates will prevent us from commercializing and marketing our product candidates. The success in the development of our programmed T
cell product candidates will depend on many factors, including:

« completing preclinical studies and receiving regulatory approvals or clearance for conducting clinical trials for our preclinical-stage programs;

«  obtaining positive results in our clinical trials demonstrating efficacy, safety, and durability of effect of our product candidates;

*  receiving approvals for commercialization of our product candidates from regulatory authorities;

«  manufacturing our product candidates at an acceptable cost; and

*  maintaining and growing an organization of scientists, medical professionals and business people who can develop and commercialize our products and technology.

Many of these factors are beyond our control, including the time needed to adequately complete clinical testing and the regulatory submission process. It is possible that
none of our product candidates will ever obtain regulatory approval, even if we expend substantial time and resources seeking such approval. If we do not achieve one or more of

these factors in a timely manner or at all, or any other factors impacting the successful development of biopharmaceutical products, we could experience significant delays or an
inability to successfully develop our product candidates, which would materially harm our business.
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Our proprietary, next-generation T cell programming technologies, our modular approach for engineering T cells and our manufacturing platform for our programmed T cell
product candidates, represent emerging approaches to cancer treatment that face significant challenges and hurdles.

We have concentrated our research and development efforts on our T cell technology platform using our expertise in tumor biology and cell programming, and our future
success is highly dependent on the successful development and manufacture of our programmed T cell product candidates. We do not currently have any approved or
commercialized products. One of our most advanced product candidates employs a dual-targeting mechanism. By targeting two separate antigens on the cancer cell surface, we
believe this product candidate has the potential to improve durability of treatment response and reduce the frequency of cancer relapse as compared to other currently available
single-targeting T cell therapies. Our product candidate for the treatment of T-cell lymphoma employs a novel approach to killing malignant T cells that aims to preserve
approximately half of the normal, healthy T cells. Some of our product candidates include a “safety switch” that is designed to allow for the elimination of the engineered T cells if
a patient experiences severe adverse side effects from the treatment. However, this “safety switch” technology has not been used to date in our clinical studies, and we do not know
whether it would have the intended effect if used. Additionally, as with other targeted therapies, off-tumor or off-target activity could delay development or require us to re-
engineer or abandon a particular product candidate. Because programmed T cell therapies represent a relatively new field of cellular immunotherapy and cancer treatment
generally, developing and commercializing our product candidates subjects us to a number of risks and challenges, including:

*  obtaining regulatory approval for our product candidates, as the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities have limited experience with programmed T cell therapies
for cancer;

«  sourcing clinical and, if approved, commercial supplies of the materials used to manufacture our product candidates;
* developing programming modules with the desired properties, while avoiding adverse reactions;

¢ creating viral vectors capable of delivering multiple programming modules;

* developing a reliable and consistent vector and cell manufacturing process;

« establishing manufacturing capacity suitable for the manufacture of our product candidates in line with expanding enrollment in our clinical studies and our projected
commercial requirements;

« achieving cost efficiencies in the scale-up of our manufacturing capacity;
« developing protocols for the safe administration of our product candidates;

*  educating medical personnel regarding our programmed T cell therapies and the potential side effect profile of each of our product candidates, such as potential adverse
side effects related to cytokine release syndrome;

« establishing integrated solutions in collaboration with specialty treatment centers in order to reduce the burdens and complex logistics commonly associated with the
administration of T cell therapies;

« establishing sales and marketing capabilities to successfully launch and commercialize our product candidates if and when we obtain any required regulatory approvals,
and risks associated with gaining market acceptance of a novel therapy if we receive approval; and

*  obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for our novel and personalized therapies in connection with commercialization of any approved
product candidates.

We may not be able to successfully develop our programmed T cell product candidates or our T cell programming technologies in a manner that will yield products that are
safe and effective, scalable or profitable.

Additionally, because our technology involves the genetic modification of patient cells ex vivo, we are subject to additional regulatory challenges and risks, including

regulatory requirements governing genetically modified organisms that have changed frequently and will likely continue to change in the future, and that may limit or delay our
ability to import our product candidates into certain countries for use in clinical trials or for commercial sale even if we receive applicable marketing approvals.
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Moreover, public perception and awareness of T cell therapy safety issues may adversely influence the willingness of subjects to participate in clinical trials of our product
candidates, or if approved, of physicians to prescribe our products. Physicians, hospitals and third-party payors often are slow to adopt new products, technologies and treatment
practices that require additional upfront costs and training. Treatment centers may not be willing or able to devote the personnel and establish other infrastructure required for the
administration of programmed T cell therapies. Physicians may not be willing to undergo training to adopt this novel and personalized therapy, may decide the therapy is too
complex to adopt without appropriate training and may choose not to administer the therapy. Based on these and other factors, hospitals and payors may decide that the benefits of
this new therapy do not or will not outweigh its costs.

Our future success is highly dependent on the regulatory approval of our current clinical-stage programmed T cell product candidates and our preclinical programs. All of
our product candidates will require significant clinical or preclinical testing before we can seek regulatory approval for and launch a product commercially.

We do not have any products that have gained regulatory approval. Our business is substantially dependent on our ability to obtain regulatory approval for, and, if
approved, to successfully commercialize our programmed T cell product candidates. We cannot commercialize product candidates in the United States without first obtaining
regulatory approval for the product from the FDA; similarly, we cannot commercialize product candidates in countries outside of the United States without obtaining regulatory
approval from comparable regulatory authorities in relevant jurisdictions, such as the EMA in Europe. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any
product candidate for a particular indication, we must demonstrate with substantial evidence gathered in preclinical and clinical studies, that the product candidate is safe and
effective for that indication and that the manufacturing facilities, processes and controls are adequate with respect to such product candidate. To date, we have had only limited
interaction with both the FDA and the EMA regarding our product candidates. Prior to seeking approval for any of our product candidates, we will need to confer with the FDA,
the EMA and other regulatory authorities regarding the design of our clinical trials and the type and amount of clinical data necessary to seek and gain approval for our product
candidates.

The time required to obtain approval by the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities is unpredictable but typically takes many years following the commencement
of preclinical studies and clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. In addition, approval policies,
regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among
jurisdictions. It is possible that none of our existing product candidates or any future product candidates will ever obtain regulatory approval.

Our product candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval from the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities for many reasons, including:

« disagreement with the design, protocol or conduct of our clinical trials;

«  failure to demonstrate that a product candidate is safe and effective for its proposed indication;

« failure of clinical trials to meet the level of statistical significance required for approval;

¢ failure to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

+  disagreement with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials;

« insufficiency of data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates to support the submission and filing of a Biologics License Application, or BLA, or other
submission or to obtain regulatory approval;

« failure to obtain approval of the manufacturing processes or our facilities;
«  changes in the approval policies or regulations that render our preclinical and clinical data insufficient for approval; or
¢ lack of adequate funding to complete a clinical trial in a manner that is satisfactory to the applicable regulatory authority.
The FDA, the EMA or a comparable regulatory authority may require more information, including additional preclinical or clinical data to support approval, including data

that would require us to perform additional clinical trials or modify our manufacturing processes, which may delay or prevent approval and our commercialization plans, or we
may decide to abandon the development
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program. If we change our manufacturing processes, we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials or other studies, which also could delay or prevent approval of our
product candidates. If we were to obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer indications than we request (including failing to
approve the most commercially promising indications), may limit indications, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials or other
post-marketing commitments, or may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization
of that product candidate.

Depending on results we observe in our clinical trials, our development strategy may include the pursuit of expedited approvals from the FDA or the EMA, such as through
the accelerated approval pathway, and we may seek to achieve breakthrough therapy designation or regenerative medicine advanced therapy, or RMAT, designation from the FDA
or the PRIority MEdicines, or PRIME, designation from the EMA. Our product candidates may not qualify for such designations, and the clinical data obtained from trials of our
product candidates may not be sufficient to qualify for any expedited approval program.

Even if a product candidate were to successfully obtain approval from the FDA, the EMA or other comparable regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions, any approval
might contain significant limitations related to use restrictions for specified age groups, warnings, precautions or contraindications, or may be subject to burdensome post-approval
study or risk management requirements. If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval for one of our product candidates in one or more jurisdictions, or any approval contains
significant limitations, we may not be able to obtain sufficient funding to continue the development of that product or generate revenues attributable to that product candidate.
Also, any regulatory approval of our current or future product candidates, once obtained, may be withdrawn. See the risk factor titled “—Even if we complete the necessary
preclinical studies and clinical trials, the regulatory approval process is expensive, time-consuming and uncertain and may prevent us from obtaining approvals for the
commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. As a result, we cannot predict when or if, and in which territories, we will obtain marketing approval to commercialize
a product candidate.”

We may not be successful in our efforts to build a pipeline of product candidates.

A key element of our strategy is to use our expertise in tumor biology and cell programming and our proprietary and modular T cell programming technologies to develop
what we believe are safer and more effective T cell therapies. Our initial focus is on the development of a pipeline of product candidates for the treatment of hematological cancers
and the progression of these product candidates through clinical development. We also intend to develop follow-on, or next-generation, product candidates with additional elements
of programming built into the programmed T cell product candidate to offer enhanced characteristics as compared to the earlier product generation, such as pharmacological
control or insensitivity to checkpoint inhibition. However, we may not be able to develop product candidates that are safe and effective, or which compare favorably with our
existing product candidates. Even if we are successful in continuing to build our pipeline and developing next-generation product candidates or expanding into solid tumor
indications, the potential product candidates that we identify may not be suitable for clinical development, including as a result of lack of safety, lack of tolerability, lack of anti-
tumor activity, or other characteristics that indicate that they are unlikely to be products that will receive marketing approval, achieve market acceptance or obtain reimbursements
from third-party payors. If we do not successfully develop and commercialize product candidates or collaborate with others to do so, we will not be able to obtain product revenue
in future periods, which could significantly harm our financial position and adversely affect the trading price of our ADSs.

Our preclinical programs may experience delays or may never advance to clinical trials, which would adversely affect our ability to obtain regulatory approvals or to
commercialize these programs on a timely basis or at all, which would have an adverse effect on our business.

AUTO5, AUTO7, AUTOS8 and all of our next generation product candidates are still in the preclinical development stage. The risk of failure of preclinical programs is
high. Before we can commence clinical trials for a product candidate, we must complete extensive preclinical testing and studies to obtain regulatory clearance to initiate human
clinical trials, including based on INDs in the United States and clinical trial applications, or CTAs, in Europe. We cannot be certain of the timely completion or outcome of our
preclinical testing and studies and cannot predict if the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities will accept our proposed clinical programs or if the outcome of our
preclinical testing and studies will ultimately support the further development of our programs. As a result, we cannot be sure that we will be able to submit INDs or similar
applications for our preclinical programs on the timelines we expect, if at all, and we cannot be sure that submission of INDs or similar applications will result in the FDA, the
EMA or other regulatory authorities allowing clinical trials to begin.
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Clinical trials are difficult to design and implement, involve uncertain outcomes and may not be successful.

Human clinical trials are difficult to design and implement, in part because they are subject to rigorous regulatory requirements. The design of a clinical trial can determine
whether its results will support approval of a product, and flaws in the design of a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced. As an
organization, we have limited experience designing clinical trials and may be unable to design and execute a clinical trial to support regulatory approval. There is a high failure rate
for biologic products proceeding through clinical trials, which may be higher for our product candidates because they are based on new technology and engineered on a patient-by-
patient basis. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials even after achieving promising
results in preclinical testing and earlier-stage clinical trials. Data obtained from preclinical and clinical activities are subject to varying interpretations, which may delay, limit or
prevent regulatory approval. In addition, we may experience regulatory delays or rejections as a result of many factors, including changes in regulatory policy during the period of
our product candidate development. Any such delays could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Success in preclinical studies or clinical trials may not be indicative of results in future clinical trials.

Results from preclinical studies are not necessarily predictive of future clinical trial results, and interim results of a clinical trial are not necessarily indicative of final
results. For example, we have treated only a small number of patients in all of our ongoing clinical trials. For that reason, we do not know whether these candidates will be
effective for the intended indications or safe in humans. Our product candidates may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy in clinical development despite positive results in
preclinical studies or having successfully advanced through initial clinical trials. This failure to establish sufficient efficacy and safety could cause us to abandon clinical
development of our product candidates.

We depend on enrollment of patients in our clinical trials for our product candidates. If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical
development activities could be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials of our product candidates is critical to our success. We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment in
our clinical trials for a variety of reasons. The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on our ability to enroll a
sufficient number of patients who remain in the study until its conclusion. The enrollment of patients depends on many factors, including:

« the patient eligibility criteria defined in the protocol;
«  the number of patients with the disease or condition being studied;
¢ the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate in the trial;

+ clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs
that may be approved for the indications we are investigating or drugs that may be used off-label for these indications;

« the size and nature of the patient population required for analysis of the trial’s primary endpoints;

« the proximity of patients to study sites;

« the design of the clinical trial;

«  our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

«  competing clinical trials for similar therapies or other new therapeutics not involving T cell-based immunotherapy;
*  our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and

« the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will drop out of the clinical trials before completion of their treatment.

In particular, some of our clinical trials will look to enroll patients with characteristics which are found in a very small population. For example, our clinical trial for
AUTO4 seeks to enroll patients with peripheral T-cell lymphoma, a rare and heterogeneous form of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, or NHL. Other companies are conducting clinical
trials with their redirected T cell therapies in multiple myeloma, pediatric relapsed or refractory acute B lymphocytic leukemia, or pediatric ALL, and relapsed or refractory diffuse
large B-cell lymphoma, or DLBCL, and seek to enroll patients in their studies that may otherwise be eligible for our clinical trials, which could lead to slow recruitment and delays
in our clinical programs. In addition, since the number of qualified clinical investigators is limited, we expect to conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites

that some of our competitors use, which could further reduce the number of patients who are available for our clinical trials in these clinical trial sites. Moreover, because our
product
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candidates represent a departure from more commonly used methods for cancer treatment, potential study participants and their doctors may be inclined to use conventional
therapies, such as chemotherapy and antibody therapy, rather than participate in our clinical trials.

Delays in patient enrollment may result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion of these
clinical trials and adversely affect our ability to advance the development of our product candidates. In addition, many of the factors that may lead to a delay in the commencement
or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

The market opportunities for certain of our product candidates may be limited to those patients who are ineligible for or have failed prior treatments and may be small, and
our projections regarding the size of the addressable market may be incorrect.

Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized as first line, second line or third line, and the FDA often approves new therapies initially only for third line use. When blood
cancers are detected, they are treated with the first line of therapy with the intention of curing the cancer. This generally consists of chemotherapy, radiation, antibody drugs, tumor-
targeted small molecules, or a combination of these. In addition, sometimes a bone marrow transplantation can be added to the first line therapy after the combination
chemotherapy is given. If the patient’s cancer relapses, then they are given a second line or third line therapy, which can consist of more chemotherapy, radiation, antibody drugs,
tumor-targeted small molecules, or a combination of these, or a bone marrow transplant. Generally, the higher the line of therapy, the lower the chance of a cure. With third or
higher line, the goal of the therapy in the treatment of lymphoma and myeloma is to control the growth of the tumor and extend the life of the patient, as a cure is unlikely to
happen. Patients are generally referred to clinical trials in these situations.

We are initially developing AUTOL1 as second line therapy for patients with ALL who are considered at high risk for relapse and as third line therapy for other patients with
ALL, AUTO3 as a third line therapy for DLBCL and AUTO4 as a second line therapy for TRBC1-positive T-cell lymphoma patients. If AUTO3 is approved as a third line therapy,
we would expect to initiate a trial to potentially position it to an earlier line of therapy. Similarly, a clinical trial with AUTO4 may be initiated to position it as a consolidation
therapy after first line chemotherapy in T-cell lymphoma, but there is no guarantee that any of our product candidates, even if approved, would be approved for an earlier line of
therapy. In addition, we may have to conduct additional large randomized clinical trials prior to gaining approval for the earlier line of therapy.

Our projections of both the number of people who have the cancers we are targeting, as well as the size of the patient population subset of people with these cancers in a
position to receive first, second, third and fourth line therapy and who have the potential to benefit from treatment with our product candidates, are based on our beliefs and
estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including scientific literature, surveys of clinics, patient foundations, or market research and may prove to
be incorrect. Further, new studies may change the estimated incidence or prevalence of these cancers. The number of patients may turn out to be fewer than expected. Additionally,
the potentially addressable patient population for our product candidates may be limited or may not be amenable to treatment with our product candidates. For instance, in our
clinical trial for AUTO4, we are initially targeting a small patient population that suffers from peripheral T-cell lymphoma, a rare and heterogeneous form of NHL. Even if we
obtain significant market share for our product candidates, because the potential target populations are small, we may never achieve significant revenues without obtaining
regulatory approval for additional indications or as part of earlier lines of therapy.

Adbverse side effects or other safety risks associated with our product candidates could delay or preclude approval, cause us to suspend or discontinue clinical trials, cause us to
abandon product candidates, limit the commercial profile of an approved label, or result in significant negative consequences following any potential marketing approval.

In clinical trials conducted by other companies involving CAR T cells, the most prominent acute toxicities included symptoms thought to be associated with cytokine
release syndrome, or CRS, such as fever, low blood pressure and kidney dysfunction. Some patients also experienced toxicity of the central nervous system, or neurotoxicity, such
as confusion, tremor, cranial nerve dysfunction, seizures and speech impairment. Adverse events with the worst grades and attributed to CAR T cells were severe and life
threatening in some patients. The life threatening events were related to kidney dysfunction and neurotoxicity. Severe and life threatening toxicities occurred mostly in the first two
weeks after cell infusion and generally resolved within three weeks, but several patients died in clinical trials involving CAR T cells developed by other companies and academic
institutions. In initial clinical trials of AUTO1, we have observed Grade 1 and Grade 2 CRS, as well as one case of Grade 3 CRS. In the CARPALL trial of AUTO1, 13 of 25
patients experienced Grade 4 cytopenias persisting beyond 28 days. Grade 3 or higher neutropenias were common in the ALLCAR study, with five of 16 patients reporting such
neutropenias prior to treatment with AUTO1 and eight of 14 patients reporting neutropenias 28 days after treatment with AUTO1, with most resolving by within two or three
months after treatment.

We have also observed severe neurotoxicity in the trials, with one patient on the CARPALL trial experiencing Grade 4 neurotoxicity, which was deemed more consistent

with fludarabine than CAR-associated neurotoxicity and three patients experiencing Grade 3 neurotoxicity that resolved swiftly with steroids, two within 24 hours and one within
72 hours. In addition, in the AMELIA
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trial of AUTO3, one patient treated in the low dose cohort had Grade 3 encephalopathy which was considered likely related to prior intrathecal methotrexate. There can be no
assurance that patients in ongoing or future trials of AUTO1, AUTO3 or any of our other product candidates will not experience more severe CRS, unacceptable levels of
neurotoxicity or other serious adverse events.

Our clinical trials include cancer patients who are very sick and whose health is deteriorating, and we expect that additional clinical trials of our other product candidates
will include similar patients with deteriorating health. It is possible that some of these patients may experience similar adverse side effects as were observed in clinical trials
conducted by other companies and academic institutions involving CAR T cells, and that additional patients may die during our clinical trials for various reasons, including as a
result of receiving our product candidates, because the patient’s disease is too advanced, or because the patient experiences medical problems that may not be related to our product
candidate. Even if the deaths are not related to our product candidate, the deaths could affect perceptions regarding the safety of our product candidate.

Patient deaths and severe side effects caused by our product candidates, or by products or product candidates of other companies that are thought to have similarities with
our therapeutic candidates, could result in the delay, suspension, clinical hold or termination of clinical trials by us, the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities for a number
of reasons. If we elect or are required to delay, suspend or terminate any clinical trial of any product candidates that we develop, the commercial prospects of such product
candidates will be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates would be delayed or eliminated. Serious adverse events observed in
clinical trials could hinder or prevent market acceptance of the product candidate at issue. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations significantly.

If the clinical trials of any of our product candidates fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA or other comparable regulatory
authorities, or do not otherwise produce favorable results, we may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the
development and commercialization of our product candidates.

We may not commercialize, market, promote or sell any product candidate without obtaining marketing approval from the FDA, the EMA or other comparable regulatory
authority, and we may never receive such approvals. It is impossible to predict accurately when or if any of our product candidates will prove effective or safe in humans and will
receive regulatory approval. Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate
through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical testing and clinical trials that our product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target indication. Clinical
testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome. A failure of one or more clinical trials can occur at any
stage of testing.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events prior to, during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or
commercialize any of our product candidates, including:

« the FDA, the EMA or other comparable regulatory authority may disagree as to the number, design or implementation of our clinical trials, or may not interpret the results
from clinical trials as we do;

«  regulators or institutional review boards may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site;

*  we may not reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly
among different clinical trial sites;

¢ clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results;
* we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

* the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we
anticipate, participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate or we may fail to recruit suitable patients to participate in a trial;

«  our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all;

«  regulators may issue a clinical hold, or regulators or institutional review boards may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various
reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;
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+ the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;
« the FDA, the EMA or other comparable regulatory authorities may fail to approve our manufacturing processes or facilities;
« the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be insufficient or inadequate;

«  our product candidates may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, particularly given their novel, first-in-human application, such as cytokine-
induced toxicity and T cell aplasia, causing us or our investigators, regulators or institutional review boards to suspend or terminate the clinical trials; and

« the approval policies or regulations of the FDA, the EMA or other comparable regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data
insufficient for approval.

To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory for the FDA, the EMA or regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdiction to approve our BLA,
Marketing Approval Application, or MAA, or other comparable application, the commercialization of our product candidates may be significantly delayed, or we may be required
to expend significant additional resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct additional trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates.

We may not be able to successfully create our own manufacturing infrastructure for supply of our requirements of programmed T cell product candidates for use in clinical
trials and for commercial sale.

Our manufacturing and commercialization strategy is based on establishing a fully integrated vein-to-vein product delivery cycle. Over time, we expect to establish regional
manufacturing hubs to service major markets to meet projected needs for commercial sale quantities. However, we do not currently own any facility that may be used as our
clinical-scale manufacturing and processing facility and we currently use facilities and equipment at the Cell and Gene Therapy Catapult and King’s College London for vector and
cell manufacturing.

We are establishing our viral vector and cell manufacturing capacity by taking occupancy of manufacturing suites at the Cell and Gene Therapy Catapult manufacturing
center in Stevenage, United Kingdom. The Cell and Gene Therapy Catapult manufacturing center provides shared infrastructure to collaborators working in segregated
manufacturing suites. We have little to no control over the actions of other collaborators and their actions could inadvertently damage or delay our ability to manufacture our
product candidates. In addition, we rely on the use of vector manufacturing suites at King’s College London, where our employees currently perform or supervise viral vector
manufacturing for our product candidates. Our long-term plan is to establish additional manufacturing sites in the United States and in Europe as needed. The implementation of
this plan is subject to many risks. For example, the establishment of a cell-therapy manufacturing facility is a complex endeavor requiring knowledgeable individuals. Creating an
internal manufacturing infrastructure will rely upon finding personnel with an appropriate background and training to staff and operate the facility. Should we be unable to find
these individuals, we may need to rely on external contractors or train additional personnel to fill the needed roles. There are a small number of individuals with experience in cell
therapy and the competition for these individuals is high.

We expect that the establishment of our own commercial cell manufacturing facilities will provide us with enhanced control of product supply for both clinical trials and the
commercial market, enable the more rapid implementation of process changes, and allow for better long-term cost margins. However, we have no experience as a company in
designing and operating a commercial manufacturing facility and may never be successful in developing our own manufacturing facility or capability. We may establish additional
manufacturing sites as we expand our commercial footprint to multiple geographies, which may lead to regulatory delays or prove costly. Even if we are successful, our
manufacturing operations could be affected by cost-overruns, unexpected delays, equipment failures, labor shortages, natural disasters, power failures and numerous other factors,
or we may not be successful in establishing sufficient capacity to produce our product candidates in sufficient quantities to meet the requirements for the potential launch or to meet
potential future demand, all of which could prevent us from realizing the intended benefits of our manufacturing strategy and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may not be successful in achieving cost of goods at commercial scale that provide for an attractive margin.

We believe that our current, fully enclosed manufacturing processes are fit for commercial scale and we anticipate they will enable commercial supply at an economical
cost. However, we have not yet established manufacturing capacity at commercial scale and may underestimate the cost and time required to do so, or overestimate cost reductions
from economies of scale that can be realized
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with our manufacturing processes. We may ultimately be unable to manage the cost of goods for our product candidates to levels that will allow for a margin in line with our
expectations and return on investment if and when those product candidates are commercialized.

Our product candidates are biologics and the manufacture of our product candidates is complex and we may encounter difficulties in production, particularly with respect to
process development or scaling-out of our manufacturing capabilities. If we encounter such difficulties, our ability to provide supply of our product candidates for clinical
trials or our products for patients, if approved, could be delayed or stopped.

We have developed a process for manufacturing programmed T cells in a fully enclosed system designed to minimize the risk of contamination, and we have improved the
viral transduction process to help eliminate processing inconsistencies. We believe that our current processes are suitable for commercialization. While we have established a
process which we believe is scalable for commercial production, each manufacturing process must be validated through the performance of process validation runs to guarantee
that the facility, personnel, equipment, and process work as designed. We have not yet manufactured or processed our product candidates on a commercial scale and may not be
able to do so for any of our product candidates.

We, like other manufacturers of biologic products, may encounter difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up or out, validating the production process, and assuring
high reliability of the manufacturing process. These problems include delays or break-downs in logistics and shipping, difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control,
and product testing, operator error, lack of availability of qualified personnel, as well as failure to comply with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations.

Furthermore, if microbial, viral or other contaminations are discovered in our supply of product candidates or in the manufacturing facilities, such manufacturing facilities
may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination. We cannot assure you that any of these or other issues relating to the
manufacture of our product candidates will not occur in the future. Any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of clinical trials,
increase the costs associated with maintaining clinical trial programs and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to begin new clinical trials at additional expense or
terminate clinical trials completely.

The manufacture and delivery of programmed T cell therapies to patients involves complex, integrated processes, including harvesting T cells from patients, programming
the T cells ex vivo, multiplying the T cells to obtain the desired dose, and ultimately infusing the T cells back into a patient’s body. As a result of the complexities, the cost to
manufacture biologics in general, and our programmed T cell product candidates in particular, is generally higher than traditional small molecule chemical compounds, and the
manufacturing process is less reliable and is more difficult and costly to reproduce. In addition, our manufacturing process will be susceptible to product loss or failure due to
logistical issues associated with the collection of white blood cells from the patient, shipping such patient material to the manufacturing site, storing and processing such patient
material, shipping the patient material with the programmed T cells back to the patient, and infusing the patient with the final product. Other manufacturing issues include the
differences in patient starting materials, inconsistency in cell growth, variability in product characteristics, interruptions in the manufacturing process, equipment or reagent failure,
improper installation or operation of equipment, and vendor or operator error. Even minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes could result in reduced production
yields, product defects, and other supply disruptions. For example, in clinical trials of AUTO1 conducted by UCL using a manufacturing process that differs from our semi-
automated manufacturing process, UCL experienced product failures for three patients enrolled in the CARPALL trial and produced only a partial dose for one patient in the
ALLCARI109 trial. If we lose, destroy or otherwise impair the patient materials at any point in the vein-to-vein supply chain, the manufacturing process for that patient will need to
be restarted and the resulting delay may adversely affect that patient’s outcome due to the risk of disease progression. In addition, because our product candidates are manufactured
for each particular patient, we will be required to maintain a chain of identity with respect to materials as they move from the patient to the manufacturing facility, through the
manufacturing process, and back to the patient. Maintaining such a chain of identity is difficult and complex, and failure to do so could result in adverse patient outcomes, loss of
product, or regulatory action including withdrawal of our products from the market. Further, as product candidates are developed through preclinical to late stage clinical trials
towards approval and commercialization, it is common that various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing methods, are altered along the way in an effort to
optimize processes and results. Such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives, and any of these changes could cause our product candidates to
perform differently and affect the results of planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials.

Our manufacturing facilities also require commissioning and validation activities to demonstrate that they operate as designed, and are subject to government inspections by
the FDA, the EMA and other comparable regulatory authorities. If we are unable to reliably produce products to specifications acceptable to the regulatory authorities, we may not
obtain or maintain the approvals we need to manufacture our products. Further, our facilities may fail to pass government inspections prior to or after the commercial launch of our
product candidates, which would cause significant delays and additional costs required to remediate any deficiencies identified by the regulatory authorities. Any of these
challenges could delay completion of clinical trials, require bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our
product candidate, impair
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commercialization efforts, increase our cost of goods, and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Prior treatments can alter the cancer and negatively impact chances for achieving clinical activity with our programmed T cells.

Patients with hematological cancers receive highly toxic lympho-depleting chemotherapy as their initial treatments. These therapies can impact the viability of the T cells
collected from the patient and can contribute to highly variable responses to programmed T cell therapies. Patients could also have received prior therapies that target the same
target antigen on the cancer cells as our intended programmed T cell product candidate and thereby lead to a selection of cancer cells with low or no expression of the target. As a
result, our programmed T cell product candidates may not recognize the cancer cell and may fail to achieve clinical activity. Both of our most advanced product candidates,
AUTO1 and AUTO3, may face this challenge. For example, ALL patients could have received blinatumomab or Kymriah, or a CD19 ADC, or a CD22 targeting CAR T, or CD22
ADC, like inotuzomab, or similar products or product candidates prior to receiving AUTO1; and DLBCL patients could have received Yescarta, Kymriah, JCAR-17, inotuzomab,
CD22-targeting CAR or blinatumomab, or similar products or product candidates prior to receiving AUTO3. If any of our product candidates do not achieve a sufficient level of
clinical activity, we may discontinue the development of that product candidate, which could have an adverse effect on the value of our ADSs.

We may expend our resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or
have a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and management resources, we focus on research programs and product candidates that we identify for specific indications. As a result,
we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation
decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development
programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target
market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in
which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate.

We plan to seek, but may fail to obtain “breakthrough therapy” designation or “regenerative medicine advanced therapy” (RMAT) designation from the FDA and “PRIME”
designation from the EMA, and may pursue accelerated approval for some or all of our programmed T cell product candidates, which may prolong the regulatory approval
process for our product candidates.

In 2012, the FDA established a breakthrough therapy designation which is intended to expedite the development and review of product candidates that treat serious or life-
threatening diseases when “preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically
significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development.” The designation of a product candidate as a breakthrough therapy provides
potential benefits that include more frequent meetings with FDA to discuss the development plan for the product candidate and ensure collection of appropriate data needed to
support approval; more frequent written correspondence from the FDA about such things as the design of the proposed clinical trials and use of biomarkers; guidance on an
efficient drug development program, beginning as early as Phase 1; organizational commitment involving senior managers; and eligibility for rolling review and priority review.
The frequency of communication from the FDA is intended to allow for questions and issues to be resolved quickly, which often leads to earlier drug approval and access by
patients.

RMAT was introduced as a new designation under the 21st Century Cures Act for the development and review of certain regenerative medicine therapies. To receive RMAT
designation, a regenerative medicine product candidate must be intended to treat, modify, reverse, or cure a serious or life-threatening disease or condition with preliminary clinical
evidence indicating that the drug has the potential to address unmet medical need. RMAT designation does not require evidence to indicate that the drug may offer a substantial
improvement over available therapies, as breakthrough designation requires. In November 2017, the FDA released draft guidance that clarified that gene therapies, including
genetically modified cells, that lead to a durable modification of cells or tissues, may meet the definition of a regenerative medicine therapy for RMAT designation. Similar to
breakthrough designation, an RMAT product candidate receives: intensive guidance on an efficient drug development program; intensive involvement of senior managers and
experienced staff on a proactive, collaborative and cross-disciplinary review; and a rolling review. Regenerative medicine therapies that qualify for RMAT designation may also
qualify for other FDA expedited programs, if they meet the criteria for such programs.

Similarly, the EMA has established the PRIME scheme to expedite the development and review of product candidates that show a potential to address to a significant extent
an unmet medical need, based on early clinical data.

We intend to seek breakthrough therapy designation, RMAT designation or PRIME designation for some or all of our programmed T cell product candidates that may
qualify. There is no assurance that we will obtain breakthrough therapy designation
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or RMAT designation, or that we will obtain access to PRIME for any of our product candidates. Breakthrough therapy designation and PRIME eligibility do not change the
standards for product approval, and there is no assurance that such designation or eligibility will result in expedited review or approval. Additionally, breakthrough therapy
designation and access to PRIME can each be revoked if the criteria for eligibility cease to be met as clinical data emerges.

We may also seek accelerated approval for certain of our product candidates. Under the FDA’s fast track and accelerated approval programs, the FDA may approve a drug
or biologic for a serious or life-threatening illness that provides meaningful therapeutic benefit to patients over existing treatments based upon a surrogate endpoint that is
reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an
effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative
treatments. For drugs granted accelerated approval, post-marketing confirmatory trials have been required to describe the anticipated effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or
other clinical benefit. These confirmatory trials must be completed with due diligence. Moreover, the FDA may withdraw approval of our indication approved under the
accelerated approval pathway if, for example:

« the trial or trials required to verify the predicted clinical benefit of our product candidates fail to verify such benefit or do not demonstrate sufficient clinical benefit to
justify the risks associated with the drug;

« other evidence demonstrates that our product candidates are not shown to be safe or effective under the conditions of use;
«  we fail to conduct any required post-approval trial of our product candidates with due diligence; or

* we disseminate false or misleading promotional materials relating to the relevant product candidate.

Risks Related to our Business Operations
As a company based outside of the United States, our business is subject to economic, political, requlatory and other risks associated with international operations.

Our business is subject to risks associated with conducting business outside of the United States, as our company is based in the United Kingdom and conducts operations
internationally. Many of our suppliers and clinical trial relationships are located outside the United States. Accordingly, our future results could be harmed by a variety of factors,
including:

«  economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular non-U.S. economies and markets;

« differing and changing regulatory requirements for product approvals;

«  differing jurisdictions could present different issues for securing, maintaining or obtaining freedom to operate in such jurisdictions;
«  potentially reduced protection for intellectual property rights;

« difficulties in compliance with different, complex and changing laws, regulations and court systems of multiple jurisdictions and compliance with a wide variety of
foreign laws, treaties and regulations;

«  changes in non-U.S. regulations and customs, tariffs and trade barriers;

«  changes in non-U.S. currency exchange rates of the pound sterling, U.S. dollar, euro and currency controls;

«  changes in a specific country’s or region’s political or economic environment, including the implications of the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Union;
« trade protection measures, import or export licensing requirements or other restrictive actions by governments;

»  differing reimbursement regimes and price controls in certain non-U.S. markets;

*  negative consequences from changes in tax laws;

« compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad, including, for example, the variable tax treatment in different
jurisdictions of options granted under our share option schemes or equity incentive plans;

«  workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;
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« litigation or administrative actions resulting from claims against us by current or former employees or consultants individually or as part of class actions, including claims
of wrongful terminations, discrimination, misclassification or other violations of labor law or other alleged conduct;

« difficulties associated with staffing and managing international operations, including differing labor relations;
«  production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

« business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war and terrorism, natural disasters--including earthquakes, typhoons, floods and fires--or health
epidemics, such as the recent outbreak of the Coronavirus first identified in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China.

Exchange rate fluctuations may materially affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Our functional currency and that of our subsidiaries is the pound sterling and our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. Given that our functional currency and that of our
subsidiaries is the pound sterling, but our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, fluctuations in currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the pound sterling could
materially and adversely affect our business. There may be instances in which costs and revenue will not be matched with respect to currency denomination. Currently, we do not
have any exchange rate hedging arrangements in place.

Additionally, although we are based in the United Kingdom, we source research and development, manufacturing, consulting and other services from the United States and
other countries. Further, potential future revenue may be derived from the United States, countries within the euro zone, and various other countries around the world. As a result,
our business and the price of our ADSs may be affected by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates not only between the pound sterling and the U.S. dollar, but also the euro and
other currencies, which may have a significant impact on our results of operations and cash flows from period to period. As a result, to the extent we continue our expansion on a
global basis, we expect that increasing portions of our revenue, cost of revenue, assets and liabilities will be subject to fluctuations in currency valuations. We may experience
economic loss and a negative impact on earnings or net assets solely as a result of currency exchange rate fluctuations.

We will need to grow the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

As of December 31, 2019, we had 292 employees, 290 of whom are full-time. As our development and commercialization plans and strategies develop, and as we further
develop as a public company, we expect to need additional managerial, operational, financial and other personnel, including personnel to support our product development and
planned future commercialization efforts. Future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including:

¢ identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;
*  managing our internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical, FDA and EMA review processes for our product candidates; and
«  improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.
There are a small number of individuals with experience in cell therapy and the competition for these individuals is high. Our future financial performance and our ability

to commercialize our product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may also have to divert a
disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities.

If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees, we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and
commercialize our product candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our research, development and commercialization goals.

In addition to expanding our organization, we are increasing the size of our facilities and building out our development and manufacturing capabilities, which requires

significant capital expenditures. If these capital expenditures are higher than expected, it may adversely affect our financial condition and capital resources. In addition, if the
increase in the size of our facilities is delayed, it may limit our ability to rapidly expand the size of our organization in order to meet our corporate goals.
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Our future success depends on our ability to retain key members of senior management and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biopharmaceutical industry depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly qualified management, research and
development, clinical, financial and business development personnel. We are highly dependent on our management, scientific and medical personnel, including Dr. Christian Itin,
our Chief Executive Officer and Dr. Martin Pulé, our scientific founder, Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer. Each member of our senior management may terminate
their employment with us at any time. We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our employees.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and clinical personnel and, if we progress the development of any of our product candidates, commercialization, manufacturing
and sales and marketing personnel, will be critical to our success. The loss of the services of members of our senior management or other key employees could impede the
achievement of our research, development and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business strategy. Furthermore, replacing
members of our senior management and key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with
the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully develop, gain regulatory approval of and commercialize our product candidates. Our success also depends on our
ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled junior, mid-level and senior managers, as well as junior, mid-level and senior scientific and medical personnel.
Competition to hire from this limited candidate pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on acceptable terms given the
competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel
from universities and research institutions. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their
availability to us. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high-quality personnel, our ability to pursue our growth strategy will be limited.

If we engage in future acquisitions or strategic collaborations, this may increase our capital requirements, dilute our shareholders, cause us to incur debt or assume
contingent liabilities and subject us to other risks.

From time to time, we may evaluate various acquisitions and strategic collaborations, including licensing or acquiring complementary products, intellectual property rights,
technologies or businesses, as we may deem appropriate to carry out our business plan. Any potential acquisition or strategic collaboration may entail numerous risks, including:

* increased operating expenses and cash requirements;

« the assumption of additional indebtedness or contingent liabilities;

« assimilation of operations, intellectual property and products of an acquired company, including difficulties associated with integrating new personnel;
« the diversion of our management’s attention from our existing programs and initiatives in pursuing such a strategic partnership, merger or acquisition;
« retention of key employees, the loss of key personnel and uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships;

« risks and uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction, including the prospects of that party and their existing products or product candidates and
regulatory approvals; and

«  our inability to generate revenue from acquired technology sufficient to meet our objectives in undertaking the acquisition or even to offset the associated acquisition and
maintenance costs.

Additionally, if we undertake acquisitions, we may issue dilutive securities, assume or incur debt obligations, incur large one-time expenses and acquire intangible assets
that could result in significant future amortization expenses. Moreover, we may not be able to locate suitable acquisition opportunities and this inability could impair our ability to
grow or obtain access to technology or products that may be important to the development of our business.

Our internal computer systems, or those of our future collaborators or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a significant
disruption of our product development programs and our ability to operate our business effectively.

Our internal computer systems and those of our current and any future collaborators and other contractors or consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses,

unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. While we have not experienced any significant system failure, accident or
security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a disruption of our development programs and our business
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operations, whether due to a loss of our trade secrets or other proprietary information or other similar disruptions. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or
future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or
security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability, our
competitive position could be harmed and the further development and commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed.

Additionally, the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data (including data concerning health and/or genetic data) regarding individuals in the
European Union, or otherwise carried out in the context of any establishment in the European Union, is subject to the provisions of the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or
the GDPR, which became effective and enforceable across all then-current member states of the European Union on May 25, 2018. In the United Kingdom, the Data Protection
Act 2018 complements the GDPR. Following the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union on January 31, 2020, pursuant to the transitional arrangements agreed
between the United Kingdom and European Union, the GDPR will continue to have effect in United Kingdom law, until December 31, 2020, in the same fashion as was the case
prior to that withdrawal as if the United Kingdom remained a member state of the European Union for such purposes. Following December 31, 2020, it is likely that the data
protection obligations of the GDPR will continue to apply in substantially unvaried form and fashion, for at least the short term thereafter, in relation to relevant processing
activities carried out in the context of establishments, and/or relating to data subjects, in the United Kingdom. For this reason, in this limited context and pending variation to the
anticipated position described above, references to the GDPR and the European Union should be construed so as to include equivalent reference to the Data Protection Act 2018
and the United Kingdom (where the context permits and requires).

The GDPR enhances data protection obligations for both processors and controllers of personal data, including by materially expanding the definition of what is expressly
noted to constitute personal data, requiring additional disclosures about how personal data is used, imposing limitations on retention of personal data, creating mandatory data
breach notification requirements in certain circumstances, and establishing onerous obligations on processors who process personal data simply on behalf of others, imposing
conditions in relation to the processing of special categories of personal data, and enhancing obligations to ensure the security and confidentiality of personal data. The GDPR also
imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the European Economic Area, or EEA, to so-called third countries that are not subject to an ‘adequacy decision’
(including the United States and the United Kingdom after December 31, 2020 (unless an adequacy decision is reached before such date)). The GDPR has an extended territorial
scope that extends to include any business, regardless of whether or not it is established in the European Union that processes personal data in relation to the offering of goods or
services to individuals in the European Union and/or the monitoring of their behavior in the European Union. This expansion means that current and future clinical trial activities
carried out in EU member states would need to be conducted subject to and in accordance with applicable provisions of the GDPR (and local implementing, and/or supplementary,
data protection and privacy legislation in relevant member states (for the purposes of this paragraph, “Local Implementing Legislation”)).

The GDPR and such Local Implementing Legislation impose special conditions in respect of the processing of “special categories of personal data”, which includes data
concerning a data subject’s health and/or their genetic data. The GDPR has greatly expanded the nature and scope of the rights granted to individuals in respect of their personal
data, including granting such individuals (in certain specified circumstances) the opportunity to object to the processing of their personal data, and the right to request deletion of
personal data. Failure to comply with the requirements of the GDPR permits data protection authorities to impose large penalties, including fines of up to €20 million or 4% of an
undertaking’s total global annual turnover for the preceding financial year, whichever is greater.

In addition to administrative fines, a wide variety of other potential enforcement powers are available to competent authorities in respect of potential and suspected
violations of the GDPR, including extensive audit and inspection rights, and powers to order temporary or permanent bans on all or some processing of personal data carried out by
noncompliant actors. The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial
remedies, and obtain compensation for damages (whether material or non-material in nature) resulting from violations of the GDPR. Achieving and maintaining compliance with
the GDPR and Local Implementing Legislation from time-to-time will be a rigorous and time-intensive process that may increase our cost of doing business or require us to change
our business practices. While we have taken steps to comply with the GDPR, and applicable Local Implementing Legislation, including by seeking to establish appropriate lawful
bases for our various processing activities, endeavoring to ensure (where necessary) that we benefit from an exemption to the general prohibition on the processing of ‘special
categories of personal data’, reviewing our security procedures and entering into data processing agreements with relevant contractors, service providers, and business partners, we
cannot assure you that our efforts to achieve and remain in compliance have been and/or will continue to be fully successful. Accordingly, there is a risk that we may be subject to
data protection-related audits by our contractual partners, audits and investigations by applicable supervisory authorities, administrative fines and penalties, other enforcement
action (such as prohibitions on processing), litigation, and/or reputational harm in connection with our processing of personal data that is subject to the territorial scope of the
GDPR.

25



Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.

Our operations, and those of our vendors and suppliers, could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, hurricanes,
typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or man-made disasters or business interruptions, for which we are predominantly self-insured.
The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. We currently rely on third-
party suppliers to produce and process our product candidates on a patient-by-patient basis. Our ability to obtain clinical supplies of our product candidates could be disrupted if
the operations of these suppliers are affected by a man-made or natural disaster or other business interruption.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We are dependent on licensed intellectual property, and if we were to fail to comply with our obligations under our existing and any future intellectual property licenses with
third parties, we could lose license rights that are important to our business and we may not be able to continue developing or commercializing our product candidates, if
approved.

We are party to an exclusive intellectual property license agreement with UCL Business plc, or UCLB, the technology-transfer company of University College London, or
UCL, which is important to our business and under which we in-license patent rights related to 25 patent families and other intellectual property related to our business. We expect
to enter into additional license agreements in the future. Our existing license agreement with UCLB imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will impose, various due
diligence, milestone payment, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. Any uncured, material breach under the UCLB license agreement could result in our loss of rights to
practice the patent rights and other intellectual property licensed to us, and could compromise our development and commercialization efforts for our current or any future product
candidates.

Licensing of intellectual property is of critical importance to our business and involves complex legal, business and scientific issues. For example, under our license
agreement with UCLB, our exclusive license under certain of the patent rights is subject to specified exclusions. Our right to enforce any patents that may issue from such patent
rights similarly excludes enforcing them in such excluded fields, and obligates us to coordinate our enforcement efforts with a licensee, if any, with rights in that excluded field. If
a third party-licensee has the right to enforce those patents in their field, it could put a patent that may issue from this family at risk of being invalidated or construed narrowly, in
which case we would no longer have the benefit of the patents for our own exclusivity. Disputes may arise between us and our licensors regarding intellectual property subject to a
license agreement, including disputes regarding:

« the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues;
¢ whether and the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement;

*  ourrights to third parties;

« our diligence obligations with respect to the use of the licensed technology in relation to our development and commercialization of our product candidates, and what
activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

* the ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us;
*  ourright to transfer or assign the license; and
« the effects of termination.
If disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangement on acceptable terms, we may be

unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates. See the section of this Annual Report titled “Business Overview - Our License Agreement with
UCL Business plc” for a more detailed description of our license agreement with UCLB, as well as our rights and obligations under the agreement.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to conduct the preclinical and clinical trials for our product candidates, and those third parties may not perform
satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials or failing to comply with applicable regulatory requirements.
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We depend and will continue to depend upon independent investigators and collaborators, such as universities, medical institutions, and strategic partners to conduct our
preclinical and clinical trials. Agreements with such third parties might terminate for a variety of reasons, including a failure to perform by the third parties. If we need to enter into
alternative arrangements, our product development activities would be delayed.

Our reliance on these third parties for research and development activities will reduce our control over these activities but will not relieve us of our responsibilities. For
example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial.
Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with regulatory standards, commonly referred to as good laboratory practices, or GLP, and good clinical practices, or GCP, for
conducting, recording and reporting the results of preclinical and clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and
confidentiality of trial participants are protected. Similar regulatory requirements apply outside the United States, including the International Council for Harmonisation of
Technical Requirements for the Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use, or ICH. We are also required to register certain ongoing clinical trials and post the results of
certain completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database, ClinicalTrials.gov, within specified timeframes. Failure to do so by us or third parties can result in FDA
refusal to approve applications based on the clinical data, enforcement actions, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.

Furthermore, these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not successfully carry out
their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or
may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product
candidates.

In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive cash or equity compensation
in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or the FDA concludes that the financial
relationship may have affected the interpretation of the trial, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical
trial itself may be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection by the FDA. Any such delay or rejection could prevent us from commercializing our clinical-stage
product candidates or any future product candidates.

Cell-based therapies rely on the availability of reagents, specialized equipment, and other specialty materials, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.
For some of these reagents, equipment, and materials, we rely or may rely on sole source vendors or a limited number of vendors, which could impair our ability to
manufacture and supply our products.

Manufacturing our product candidates will require many reagents, which are substances used in our manufacturing processes to bring about chemical or biological
reactions, and other specialty materials and equipment, some of which are manufactured or supplied by small companies with limited resources and experience to support
commercial biologics production. We currently depend on a limited number of vendors for access to facilities and supply of certain materials and equipment used in the
manufacture of our product candidates. For example, we currently use facilities and equipment at the Cell and Gene Therapy Catapult and King’s College London for vector and
cell manufacturing. In addition, we purchase equipment and reagents critical for the manufacture of our product candidates from Miltenyi Biotec GmbH and other suppliers on a
purchase order basis. Some of our suppliers may not have the capacity to support commercial products manufactured under cGMP by biopharmaceutical firms or may otherwise
be ill-equipped to support our needs. We also do not have supply contracts with many of these suppliers, and may not be able to obtain supply contracts with them on acceptable
terms or at all. Accordingly, we may not be able to obtain key materials and equipment to support clinical or commercial manufacturing.

For some of these reagents, equipment, and materials, we rely and may in the future rely on sole source vendors or a limited number of vendors. An inability to continue to
source product from any of these suppliers, which could be due to regulatory actions or requirements affecting the supplier, adverse financial or other strategic developments
experienced by a supplier, labor disputes or shortages, unexpected demands, or quality issues, could adversely affect our ability to satisfy demand for our product candidates, which
could adversely and materially affect our product sales and operating results or our ability to conduct clinical trials, either of which could significantly harm our business.

As we continue to develop and scale our manufacturing process, we may need to obtain rights to and supplies of certain materials and equipment to be used as part of that

process. We may not be able to obtain rights to such materials on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and if we are unable to alter our process in a commercially viable
manner to avoid the use of such materials or find a suitable substitute, it would have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters

Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the regulatory approval process is expensive, time-consuming and uncertain and may prevent us from
obtaining approvals for the commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. As a result, we cannot predict when or if, and in which territories, we will obtain
marketing approval to commercialize a product candidate.

Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their design, research, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy,
quality control, recordkeeping, labeling, packaging, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, distribution, import, export, and reporting of safety and other post-market
information, are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA, the EMA and other comparable regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. Failure to obtain marketing approval
for a product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the product candidate. We have not received approval to market any of our product candidates from regulatory
authorities in any jurisdiction. We have only limited experience in filing and supporting the applications necessary to gain marketing approvals and may rely on third-party contract
research organizations, or CROs, to assist us in this process. Securing marketing approval requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting
information to regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Securing marketing approval also requires the
submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the regulatory authorities. Our product candidates may not be
effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may preclude our obtaining
marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, the accompanying label may limit its approved use, which
could limit sales of the product.

The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is expensive and may take many years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary
substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. Securing marketing approval requires the submission
of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy.
Securing marketing approval also requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the regulatory
authorities. The FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities may determine that our product candidates are not safe and effective, only moderately effective or have undesirable
or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use.

In addition, we are developing a proprietary diagnostic test for use with our AUTO4 and AUTO5 product candidates. This test will require separate regulatory approval in
addition to the regulatory approval of AUTO4 and AUTODS, respectively. Failure to obtain marketing approval for the diagnostic test could prevent us from commercializing either
AUTO4 or AUTOS unless another similar diagnostic test for distinguishing TRBC1-positive and TRBC2-positive T-cell lymphomas is commercially available.

In addition, changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in
regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the
approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data is insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. In
addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Any marketing
approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable.

If we experience delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of our product candidates, the commercial prospects for our product candidates may be
harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be impaired.

In order to market and sell our products in the European Union and any other jurisdictions, we must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous and
varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and can involve additional testing. The time required to obtain approval may differ substantially
from that required to obtain approval from the FDA. The regulatory approval process outside the United States generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining approval
from the FDA. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that the product be approved for reimbursement before the product can be approved for sale in
that country. We may not obtain approvals from regulatory authorities outside the United States on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by
regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one regulatory authority outside the United States does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in
other countries or jurisdictions or by the FDA. However, failure to obtain approval in one jurisdiction may impact our ability to obtain approval elsewhere. We may not be able to
file for marketing approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products in any market.
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Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be successful in obtaining regulatory approval of our
product candidates in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory
approval in any other jurisdiction, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others.
For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing,
marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review
periods different from those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials as clinical studies conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by
regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for
sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our products is also subject to approval.

Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could delay
or prevent the introduction of our products in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or to receive applicable
marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed.

The withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” may adversely impact our ability to obtain regulatory approvals of our
product candidates in the European Union, result in restrictions or imposition of taxes and duties for importing our product candidates into the European Union, and may
require us to incur additional expenses in order to develop, manufacture and commercialize our product candidates in the European Union.

Following the result of a referendum in 2016, the United Kingdom left the European Union on January 31, 2020, commonly referred to as Brexit. Pursuant to the formal
withdrawal arrangements agreed between the United Kingdom and the European Union, the United Kingdom will be subject to a transition period until December 31, 2020, or the
Transition Period, during which European Union rules will continue to apply. Negotiations between the United Kingdom and the European Union are expected to continue in
relation to the customs and trading relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union following the expiry of the Transition Period.

Since a significant proportion of the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom applicable to our business and our product candidates is derived from EU directives and
regulations, the withdrawal could materially impact the regulatory regime with respect to the development, manufacture, importation, approval and commercialization of our
product candidates in the United Kingdom or the European Union. Following the Transition Period, the United Kingdom will no longer be covered by the centralized procedures
for obtaining European Union-wide marketing authorization from the EMA and, unless a specific agreement is entered into, a separate process for authorization of drug products,
including our product candidates, will be required in the United Kingdom, the potential process for which is currently unclear. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any
marketing approvals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates in the United Kingdom or the European Union and restrict
our ability to generate revenue and achieve and sustain profitability. In addition, we may be required to pay taxes or duties or be subjected to other hurdles in connection with the
importation of our product candidates into the European Union, or we may incur expenses in establishing a manufacturing facility in the European Union in order to circumvent
such hurdles. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek regulatory approval in the United Kingdom or the European Union for our
product candidates, or incur significant additional expenses to operate our business, which could significantly and materially harm or delay our ability to generate revenues or
achieve profitability of our business. In the near term, there is a risk of disrupted import and export processes due to a lack of administrative processing capacity by the respective
U.K. and EU customs agencies that may delay time-sensitive shipments and may negatively impact our product supply chain. Any further changes in international trade, tariff and
import/export regulations as a result of Brexit or otherwise may impose unexpected duty costs or other non-tariff barriers on us. These developments, or the perception that any of
them could occur, may significantly reduce global trade and, in particular, trade between the impacted nations and the United Kingdom. It is also possible that Brexit may
negatively affect our ability to attract and retain employees, particularly those from the European Union.

Even if we obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates, the terms of approvals and ongoing regulation of our products may limit how we manufacture and market
our products and compliance with such requirements may involve substantial resources, which could materially impair our ability to generate revenue.

Even if marketing approval of a product candidate is granted, an approved product and its manufacturer and marketer are subject to ongoing review and extensive
regulatory requirements for manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, and recordkeeping,
including the potential requirements to implement a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS, program or to conduct costly post-marketing studies or clinical trials and
surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product. We must also comply with requirements concerning advertising and
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promotion for any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Promotional communications with respect to prescription drugs are subject to a variety of
legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the information in the product’s approved labeling. Thus, we will not be able to promote any products we develop for
indications or uses for which they are not approved. In addition, manufacturers of approved products and those manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive
regulatory requirements of the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP and other
comparable regulations and standards, which include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and
documentation and reporting requirements. We or our suppliers could be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA, the EMA, or other regulatory authorities to
monitor and ensure compliance with cGMP.

Accordingly, assuming we receive marketing approval for one or more of our product candidates, we and suppliers will continue to expend time, money and effort in all
areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, product surveillance and quality control. If we are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory
requirements, we could have the marketing approvals for our products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our ability to market any future products could be limited, which
could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability.

Thus, the cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval could be subject to post-marketing restrictions or recall or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject
to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our product candidates, when and if any of them are approved.

The FDA and other federal and state agencies, including the U.S. Department of Justice, or DOJ, closely regulate compliance with all requirements governing prescription
drug products, including requirements pertaining to marketing and promotion of products in accordance with the provisions of the approved labeling and manufacturing of
products in accordance with cGMP requirements. The FDA and DOJ impose stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding off-label use and if we do not
market our products for their approved indications, or if other of our marketing claims are deemed false or misleading, we may be subject to enforcement action. Violations of such
requirements may lead to investigations alleging violations of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and other statutes, including the U.S. federal False Claims Act and
other federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws as well as state consumer protection laws.

Our failure to comply with all regulatory requirements, and later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products, manufacturers or
manufacturing processes, may yield various results, including:

« litigation involving patients taking our products;

« restrictions on such products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;
*  restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

¢ restrictions on product distribution or use;

* requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;

*  warning or untitled letters;

«  withdrawal of the products from the market;

« refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;
«  recall of products;

« fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

¢ suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

«  suspension of any ongoing clinical trials;
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« damage to relationships with any potential collaborators;
« unfavorable press coverage and damage to our reputation;
« refusal to permit the import or export of our products;

¢ product seizure; or

« injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Non-compliance by us or any future collaborator with regulatory requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with requirements related to the
development of products for the pediatric population, can also result in significant financial penalties. Similarly, failure to comply with regulatory requirements regarding the
protection of personal information can also lead to significant penalties and sanctions.

Non-compliance with EU requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with requirements related to the development of products for the pediatric
population, also can result in significant financial penalties. Similarly, failure to comply with the European Union’s requirements regarding the protection of personal information
can also lead to significant penalties and sanctions.

If any of these events occurs, our ability to sell such product may be impaired, and we may incur substantial additional expense to comply with regulatory requirements,
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities,
including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct or failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements. Misconduct by employees and independent
contractors, such as principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners, and vendors, could include failures to comply with regulations of the FDA, the EMA and other
comparable regulatory authorities, to provide accurate information to such regulators, to comply with manufacturing standards we have established, to comply with healthcare
fraud and abuse laws, to report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing and other business arrangements
in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and
regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of business activities, including, but not limited to, research, manufacturing, distribution, pricing, discounting, marketing and
promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee and independent contractor misconduct could also involve the improper
use of individually identifiable information, including, without limitation, information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and
serious harm to our reputation.

In addition, federal procurement laws impose substantial penalties for misconduct in connection with government contracts and require certain contractors to maintain a
code of business ethics and conduct.

It is not always possible to identify and deter employee and independent contractor misconduct, and any precautions we take to detect and prevent improper activities may
not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to
be in compliance with such laws. If any such actions are instituted against us, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil,
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement of profits, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare
programs, National Health Service in the United Kingdom, or other government supported healthcare in other jurisdictions, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished
profits and future earnings, additional reporting or oversight obligations if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-
compliance with the law and curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate.

Our business operations and current and future relationships with healthcare professionals, principal investigators, consultants, customers and third-party payors in the
United States and elsewhere may be subject, directly or indirectly, to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, false claims, physician payment transparency, health
information privacy and security and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to substantial penalties.
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Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors in the United States and elsewhere will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product
candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our current and future arrangements with healthcare professionals, principal investigators, consultants, customers and third-
party payors may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws, including, without limitation, the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the U.S.
federal False Claims Act, that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we sell, market and distribute any product candidates for
which we obtain marketing approval. In addition, we may be subject to physician payment transparency laws and patient privacy and security regulation by the U.S. federal
government and by the states and foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws that may affect our ability to
operate include the following:

+ the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or
recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare
and Medicaid. The term “remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of value. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between
pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other hand. Although there are a number of statutory exceptions
and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution or other regulatory sanctions, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and
practices that involve remuneration that are alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchases or recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify
for an exception or safe harbor. Failure to meet all of the requirements of a particular applicable statutory exception or regulatory safe harbor does not make the conduct
per se illegal under the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute. Instead, the legality of the arrangement will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis based on a cumulative review
of all its facts and circumstances. Several courts have interpreted the statute’s intent requirement to mean that if any one purpose of an arrangement involving
remuneration is to induce referrals of federal healthcare covered business, the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute has been violated;

« U.S. federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the U.S. federal False Claims Act, which can be enforced though civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, and
civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government,
including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to
pay money to the federal government. Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for, among other things, allegedly inflating
drug prices they report to pricing services, which in turn were used by the government to set Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement rates, and for allegedly providing free
product to customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the product. In addition, certain marketing practices, including off-
label promotion, may also violate false claims laws. Further, pharmaceutical manufacturers can be held liable under the U.S. federal False Claims Act even when they do
not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims;

« the U.S. federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises,
any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of whether the payor is public or private, knowingly
and willfully embezzling or stealing from a healthcare benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare offense and knowingly and willfully
falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for,
healthcare benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters;

¢ HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and their respective implementing regulations,
which impose obligations on “covered entities,” including certain healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, as well as their respective “business
associates” that create, receive, maintain or transmit individually identifiable health information for or on behalf of a covered entity, with respect to safeguarding the
privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. Additionally, HITECH also created four new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended
HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or
injunctions in U.S. federal courts to enforce HIPAA and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions;

« the FDCA, which prohibits, among other things, the adulteration or misbranding of drugs, biologics and medical devices;

« the U.S. federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, created under Section 6002 of Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act, or collectively, the ACA, and its implementing regulations, created annual reporting requirements for certain manufacturers of drugs,
devices, biologicals and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain
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exceptions), to annually report to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, information related to certain payments and “transfers of value” provided to
physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by
physicians and their immediate family members. Beginning in 2022, applicable manufacturers also will be required to report information regarding payments and
“transfers of value” provided, or ownership and investment interests held, during the previous year to physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists,
certified nurse anesthetists, and certified nurse-midwives;

« analogous state laws and regulations and foreign laws, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims
involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers; state and foreign laws that require pharmaceutical
companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or
to adopt compliance programs as prescribed by state laws and regulations, or that otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers; state and foreign
laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing
expenditures; state and local laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives; and state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security of
health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating
compliance efforts; and

« similar healthcare laws and regulations in the European Union and other jurisdictions, including reporting requirements detailing interactions with and payments to
healthcare providers and laws governing the privacy and security of certain protected information, such as GDPR, which imposes obligations and restrictions on the
collection and use of personal data relating to individuals located in the European Union (including health data).

Further, the ACA, among other things, amended the intent requirement of the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute and certain criminal statutes governing healthcare fraud.
A person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the ACA provided that
the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the U.S. federal False Claims Act.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of their exceptions and safe harbors, it is possible that our business activities can be subject to challenge under one
or more of such laws. The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform. Federal and state
enforcement bodies have continued their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of significant investigations,
prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry.

Efforts to ensure that our internal operations and future business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve
substantial costs. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant
civil, criminal and administrative penalties, including, without limitation, damages, monetary fines, imprisonment, disgorgement of profits, possible exclusion from participation in
Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting or oversight
obligations if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with the law and curtailment or restructuring of
our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and pursue our strategy. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with
whom we expect to do business, including future collaborators, are found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative
sanctions, including exclusions from participation in government healthcare programs, which could also affect our business.

Our product candidates are subject to government price controls in certain jurisdictions that may affect our revenue.

There has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the United Kingdom, United States, European Union and other jurisdictions of pharmaceutical pricing practices in
light of the rising cost of prescription drugs and biologics. In the United States, such scrutiny has resulted in several recent Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted
federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient
programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for products. At the federal level, the Trump administration’s budget proposal for fiscal year 2020
contains further drug price control measures that could be enacted during the 2020 budget process or in other future legislation, including, for example, measures to permit
Medicare Part D plans to negotiate the price of certain drugs under Medicare Part B, to allow some states to negotiate drug prices under Medicaid, and to eliminate cost sharing for
generic drugs for low-income patients. Additionally, the Trump administration released a “Blueprint” to lower drug prices and reduce out of pocket costs of drugs that contains
additional proposals to increase manufacturer competition, increase the negotiating power of certain federal healthcare programs, incentivize manufacturers to lower the list price
of their products and reduce the out of pocket costs of
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drug products paid by consumers. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has solicited feedback on some of these measures and has implemented others under its
existing authority. For example, in May 2019, CMS issued a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage plans the option to use step therapy for Part B drugs beginning January 1,
2020. This final rule codified CMS’s policy change that was effective January 1, 2019.

Although a number of these, and other measures may require additional authorization to become effective, Congressional leadership and the Trump administration have
each indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control drug costs. At the state level, legislatures have increasingly enacted
legislation and implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts,
restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and
bulk purchasing.

Outside of the United States, particularly in the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing
negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain coverage and reimbursement or pricing
approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available therapies. If
reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed.

Recently enacted and future legislation in the United States and other countries may affect the prices we may obtain for our product candidates and increase the difficulty and
cost for us to commercialize our product candidates.

In the United States and many other countries, rising healthcare costs have been a concern for governments, patients and the health insurance sector, which has resulted in a
number of changes to laws and regulations, and may result in further legislative and regulatory action regarding the healthcare and health insurance systems that could affect our
ability to profitably sell any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. For a detailed discussion of healthcare reform initiatives of importance to the
pharmaceutical industry, see the section titled “Business—Government Regulation and Product Approval—Healthcare Reform Efforts.”

For example, the ACA was enacted in the United States in March 2010 with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and expanding access to
healthcare, and includes measures to change healthcare delivery, increase the number of individuals with insurance, ensure access to certain basic healthcare services, and contain
the rising cost of care. Since January 2017, President Trump has signed two executive orders and other directives designed to delay, circumvent, or loosen certain requirements
mandated by the ACA. Concurrently, Congress has considered legislation that would repeal or repeal and replace all or part of the ACA. While Congress has not passed repeal
legislation, several bills affecting the implementation of certain taxes under the ACA have been signed into law. H.R. 1: An Act to provide for reconciliation pursuant to titles II
and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal year 2018, or the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, includes a provision repealing, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based
shared responsibility payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as
the “individual mandate”. Additionally, the 2020 federal spending package permanently eliminated, effective January 1, 2020, the ACA-mandated “Cadillac” tax on high-cost
employer-sponsored health coverage and medical device tax and, effective January 1, 2021, also eliminates the health insurer tax. Further, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018,
among other things, amended the ACA, effective January 1, 2019, to increase from 50% to 70% the point-of-sale discount that is owed by pharmaceutical manufacturers who
participate in Medicare Part D and to close the coverage 